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Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Million Cities Holdings Limited (the “Company”), |
hereby present the annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2018.

2018 was a remarkable year in the development history of the
Group. We launched 4 development projects during the year
and recorded contracted sales of approximately RMB2.59
billion. After expansion into Tianjin City, the People’s Republic
of China (*PRC”) in 2010, we further expanded our foothold in
property development market in the PRC to Henan province
and launched our debut project in Henan, namely Dragon
Palace Phase 1, in September 2018. On 20 December 2018,
the Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
indicating recognition for the Group’s efforts and achievements
over the past decade in pursuing building quality and providing
affordable residential properties to our customers. The Group
will continue to leverage on the reputation established in the
existing market and explore into other locations with growth
potentials in the PRC, especially in the Greater Bay Area.

Market review

The global economy was facing different challenges created by
Brexit and trade tension between the PRC and the United
States during 2018. After several years of financial tightening in
an attempt to bring the interest rate level back to normal,
global central banks started to send signals to market that,
amid the weakening economy, the plan to withdraw economic
stimulus and increase interest rate may be put on hold. The
European Central Bank indicated that it will continue to keep
interest rates at record lows in 2019. The Federal Reserve of
the United States forecasted that it will put further rate hikes
on hold, and is likely to pause the unwinding of its balance
sheet and stop trimming the US$4 trillion portfolio of assets it
built up a decade ago. The International Monetary Fund revised
its forecast for the world economy, predicting it will grow at the
slowest pace in three years in 2019, which is forecasted to be
at 3.5 percent, beneath the 3.7 percent growth as expected in
October 2018 and the growth rate of 2018.
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In the PRC, the possibility of a deepening tension from the
Sino-American trade war has cast a shadow over its economic
prospect. Although the gross domestic product (“GDP”) growth
for 2018 remained at 6.6 percent, it has shown signs of
gradual slow-down as the GDP growth in the fourth quarter
has dropped to 6.4 percent from 6.5 percent in the previous
quarter. Under such backdrop, the GDP growth target set out
in Premier Li Kegiang’s annual work report to the National
People’s Congress of the PRC was at a range from 6 to 6.5
percent for 2019, which would be the lowest in almost three
decades.

In the PRC property market, new home prices are cooling
down from the government’s determination to stabilise the
property price. New home prices began to cool down in
August 2018, when price in smaller cities lost steam after a
period of torrid gains. According to the data released by the
National Bureau of Statistics of the PRC, across 70 cities
monitored, new home prices moved up by 0.53 percent in
February 2019, the slowest growth since April 2018, which
was down from 0.61 percent in January 2019. The prices of
new homes rose in 57 out of the 70 cities covered, down from
58 in January 2019 and 59 in December 2018. In particular, 35
third-tier cities saw a 0.4 percent increase in new home prices
in January 2019, lower than the 0.6 percent increase in the
month earlier and the 0.7 percent increase registered in the
second-tier cities. In spite of the prevailing market sentiment,
property market was under no less stringent control during
2018. Following the principle guideline laid down by the central
government of the PRC that “housing is for living, not for
speculation”, measures such as restriction on property price,
purchase and mortgage were still in place across the country.
Despite market speculation on the potential loosening of the
current controls in some smaller cities in the coming vyear,
2019 remained a year full of challenges for PRC property
developers.
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Business review

The Group is a property developer primarily focusing on
residential property development in the Greater Bay Area and
other regions in the PRC with growth potential. The Group has
observed sustainable upward trend in the property market of
the PRC due to local economic growth, rising disposable
income and speeding up of the urbanisation process. The
improved infrastructure connectivity among different cities of the
PRC, particularly the continuous expansion of high speed
railway network, will boost the economies of such areas, from
property development, tourism to logistics, which will also
encourage deeper intra-cities integration and bridge the gap in
development levels between the cities. The expeditious
economic development and urbanisation, as well as rising
disposable income, have created strong demand for real estate
investment, which contributes to further property price growth.

In recent years, an increasing number of property developers
have entered into the property development market in the cities
where the Group has gained foothold. This increased
competition faced by the Group. On the other hand, the
central government of the PRC and local governments have
implemented different policies and restrictions to cool down the
overheated property market. These have created challenges to
the property developers in the PRC. Since the Group has (i)
solid local market knowledge and experience in property
development; (ii) a reputable brand name in the local markets;
(iii) strategically owned land bank in Huizhou in the Greater Bay
Area; and (iv) established foothold in locations in the PRC
which it considers to have growth potential, the Directors
believe that the Group will be able to tackle challenges
effectively in the PRC property development industry.
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The development projects of the Group, namely Million Cities
Legend Phase 2 and Crown Grand Court, have commenced
pre-sale in January and May 2018, respectively. Up to 31
December 2018, total gross floor area (“GFA”) of
approximately 109,000 square metres (“sq.m.”) and 24,000
sg.m. were pre-sold (based on GFA of sales consent),
respectively, representing approximately 95.6% and 76.5% of
the total saleable GFA of such development projects
respectively. Million Cities Tycoon Place Phase 4 and Dragon
Palace Phase 1 which was held by an associate company of
the Group, commenced pre-sale in September 2018. Up to 31
December 2018, total GFA of approximately 49,000 sg.m. and
40,000 sg.m. were pre-sold (based on GFA of sales consent),
respectively, representing approximately 99.5% and 79.3% of
the total saleable GFA of such development projects
respectively.
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Future strategies and prospects

The Directors believe that the outlook and development
potential of Huizhou remains attractive as the central
government of the PRC planned to develop the Greater Bay
Area into a world class cluster and transform the PRC from the
“World Factory” to a dynamic hub of innovation and services,
upgrading the Greater Bay Area to the similar economic scale
comparable to San Francisco Bay Area, Greater New York and
Greater Tokyo Area. With the upcoming
improvement in the Greater Bay Area, Huizhou will be the
interchange hub of Ganshen high speed train line and
Guangshen high speed train line by 2021. The opening of
Guangzhou-Shenzhen Hong Kong Express Rail Link in 2018
has shortened the travelling time from Huizhou to Hong Kong
to about 50 minutes. Upon completion of the infrastructure
projects in the Greater Bay Area, cross-city travelling from
Huizhou to other cities in the Greater Bay Area will be limited
to approximately one hour. Within the one-hour living zone, it is
expected that the surrounding cities which share the same
border with Huizhou, including Guangzhou, Dongguan and
Shenzhen, will become the direct catchment area of the real
estate market of Huizhou. At the same time, Huizhou aimed at
developing itself into a hub of innovation and technology and is
positioned to be a high-tech conversion area. The development
of the Tonghu Ecological Intelligent Zone which is expected to
become the “Silicon Valley” in Guangdong is an example.
According to the local government’s plan, it is expected that
the population of Tonghu Ecological Intelligent Zone will reach
approximately 170,000 by the end of 2020, representing an
increase of approximately four times as compared to the same
in 2016, and an increase in GDP at a CAGR of approximately
19.4% from 2017 to 2030. For Huizhou, according to the local
government’s plan, the GDP is expected to increase at a
CAGR of approximately 5.5% from 2017 to 2022, and the
population is expected to increase at a CAGR of
approximately 23.3% from 2017 to 2020.

infrastructure

Million Cities Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2018
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In light of the Greater Bay Area development plan, upcoming
infrastructure improvement, foreseeable population increase and
economic growth, the Group considers that the outlook of the
property market in the Greater Bay Area, including Huizhou, will
be positive. With Huizhou being one of the focused cities of the
Group and the Group’s strong foothold in the city, such
positive outlook of the property market in Huizhou will be
beneficial to our Group and it is expected that there will be
sufficient demand for the Group’s future development projects
in the relevant locations.

While the Greater Bay Area will continue as the Group’s
focused market, the Directors will also explore other regions
with growth potentials to expand the Group’s footprint and
diversify the Group’s geographical existence. With the global
political and financial uncertainty overclouding the domestic
economy, the Group will be cautious when making any land
acquisition decisions. The Group will closely monitor property
related government policies, market sentiment and demand to
promptly respond to market changes with appropriate sales
and development strategies in order to create reasonable
return to the shareholders of the Company.

Acknowledgement
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Valuation gains on investment
properties

Other net income

Selling expenses

Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Profit from operations

Finance costs

Share of profits less losses of
associates

Share of profits less losses of joint
ventures

Profit before taxation

Income tax

Profit for the year

Profit for the year attributable to
equity shareholders of the
Company

Add: listing expenses

Adjusted profit for the year
attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company

2>
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Revenue

The Group’s revenue mainly represented income from sale of
properties and gross rentals from properties earned during the
year, net of sales related taxes and discounts allowed.

Revenue from sale of properties has constituted, and is
expected to continue to constitute, a majority of the Group’s
total revenue.

Property development

(i) Contracted sales
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
launched pre-sale of four projects, namely Million Cities
Legend Phase 2 (&3 % B — Hi), Crown Grand Court (2
5 46), Million Cities Tycoon Place Phase 4 (& 3 2 5 I
H) and Dragon Palace Phase 1 (/& —Hj). Total
contracted sales (based on GFA of sales consent),
including sales of properties by an associate of the
Group, amounted to approximately RMB2,567.9 million,
representing a GFA of approximately 227,300 sg.m. sold.
The Group will continue to focus on the Greater Bay
Area, with diversification to areas in the PRC with
potential growth.

(i) Land bank
As at 31 December 2018, the total GFA of the Group’s
land bank was about 2,100,000 sg.m., out of which
about 105,000 sg.m. GFA was unsold or undelivered
completed properties projects, about 914,000 sg.m. GFA
was under construction and about 1,081,000 sg.m. GFA
was reserved for future development.
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The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s TREY A EBER2018F12 318 % %
properties held for future development by development REBESHFBIEARERAOMEME -

projects as at 31 December 2018:

Ownership
interest as at Estimated
31 December completion
No. Project Location Site area Planned GFA 2018 Type date
120185
e 12A318 1
bt BH e WERER EEER BREELR 85 BRI AE
(sq-m.) (sq-m.) (%)
(FA%) (FAK) (%)
Development projects held for future development
BEAEERNERESR
1. Dragon Palace Phase 2 Zhumadian in Henan Province 106,192.39 89,081.00 30 Residential November 2020
RRE—H AREESE E=x 2020%11A
2. Million Cities International Huizhou 60,977.78 240,558.00 100 Residential and commercial  December 2022
Phases 4 and 5
ERERNARLES EY EEREE 20224124
3. Million Cities Royal Court Huizhou 47,679.00 150,475.00 54,5 Residential and commercial  December 2022
EHEELE £y FERAE% 2020%12A
4. Million Cities Tonghu Centre  Huizhou 55,596.00 378,642.00 50 Commercial January 2025
BHERTL 2 BE 20251
5. Dragon Terrace Phase 2 Huizhou 42,566.00 222,299.00 50 Residential and commercial ~March 2021
NEA—H Yl EERAES 202153A
Sub-total 313,011.17 1,081,055.00
i

Million Cities Tonghu Centre £ ¥ ;& 8 &1 Dragon Terrace A 82 &
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The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s TRE Y A EBER20185F12 8318 1% %
properties under development by development projects as RIEBESHESTUWEMRE
at 31 December 2018:

Ownership
interest as at Estimated
GFA under 31 December completion
No. Project Location Site area development 2018  Type date
#20185
BRA 12A318 1
bt ER wE BEER BEER HAEEZ RH A IAE
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (%)
(FA%) (F5%) (%)
Development projects under development
ERYHERER
6. Milion Cities Tycoon Place Phase 3 Tianjin 46,461.96 91,344.55 55 Residential October 2022
ERER=H R# ia 2022610A
7. Million Cities Tycoon Place Phase 4  Tianjin 28,611.84 72,750.61 55 Residential December 2021
EAEFNE FN-3 &= 2021F12R
8. Milion Cities Legend Phase 3 Huizhou 22,899.45 112,140.00 54.5  Residential and commercial ~ September 2020
ENEE=H 2M EERER 2020594
9. Milion Cities Legend Phase 2 Huizhou 33,084.00 162,315.00 54.5  Residential and commercial  June 2019
BRAE_H £ FEREE 2019564
10. Crown Grand Court Huizhou 43,928.80 74,746.10 100  Residential and commercial ~ September 2019
SRRE £ EEREE 2019594
11. Dragon Terrace Phase 1 Huizhou 52,325.00 149,586.49 50  Residential and commercial ~ March 2021
%ea—H§ 2M FERE% 2021534
12. Legend Plaza Tianjin 39,756.30 9,266.63 55 Commercial August 2021
LEES xE B 2021484
13. Dragon Palace Phase 1 Zhumadian in Henan 115,361.38 241,644.30 30 Residential December 2019
Province
ZRE-5 AREESE % 2019F12A
Sub-total 382,428.73 913,793.68
Wi

Crown Grand Court £ 78 548

2018FF i « BB R AR 13 «K——
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Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
s

The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s

ek oToE)

TREHAEER2018F12A318 2 %

completed development projects as at 31 December TITHERBENME
2018:
Ownership
interest as at
31 December
No. Project Location Site area GFA unsold 2018 Type
20185
REEE 12A31A
EL HE i B BEER [ ERERERZ EA
(sq.m.) (sq.m.) (%)
(FHx) (FHx) (%)
Completed development projects
ERTHEREH
14. Million Cities International Huizhou 50,571.00 28,346.19 100 Residential and commercial
Phases 1 to 3
EREK-Z=4 EM FEhEx
15. Million Cities Legend Phase 1 Huizhou 33,915.55 41,474.73 54.5 Residential and commercial
B4 E—H EM FEhEx
16. Sunshine New Court Huizhou 32,109.70 19,056.45 95.39 Residential and commercial
Phases 1 and 2
GrFi—HR =10 EY FEhEx
17. Million Cities Tycoon Place Tianjin 84,808.30 16,046.46 55  Residential
Phases 1 and 2
EREs—HL_H PN =
Sub-total 201,404.55 104,923.83
Nt
Total 896,844.45 2,099,772.51
@t

Million Cities Tycoon Place & i % 5

Million Cities Legend & ¥k £ FE
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The following table sets out a summary of the Group’s
investment properties and properties held for sale as at

31 December 2018:

TREY AEER2018F12A318 K E
MERFELEMENTE -

No. Address Description and tenure Particulars of occupancy
mer bt BoR & F 1 HRAFE
18. A portion of a composite The property comprises a The property was completed in
development, namely Yuehu Ju, portion of a retail development about November 2005 and is
located at No. 36 Xiajiao East with a total gross floor area of currently available for leasing.
Road, Huicheng District, Huizhou, approximately 1,837.39 square
Guangdong Province, the PRC metres.
The land use rights of the
subject site were granted for a
term expiring on 4 March 2074
for composite residential use.
THEEREBEMNEHETARE ZVWELRERZEMBELD Z W) ¥ B 72005 11 A A 18 %
S ERBEEVREMN—  1,83739FFARANETEEHRE T BRiAIEESE-
o o e
BB T AEDE
& R2074F3R4R fER - 1F
GEEERR-
19. A portion of a commercial The property comprises a The property was completed in

development, namely Port
Vehicle Inspection Yard Office
Building, located at Huifeng 2nd
Road, Huicheng District, Huizhou,
Guangdong Province, the PRC

PREEREBIMNEYERER K
EEIERIER ﬁ%ﬁimﬁﬁi%ﬁ%#ﬂ
NAERN—E 5D

portion of a commercial
development with a total gross
floor area of approximately
443.99 square metres.

The land use rights of the
subject site were granted for a
term expiring on 1 November
2042 for commercial use.
ZMEBERBEEMED
44399 F T KB X B R D

RN T E AEDE
B 2042511 1B f@im - 1E
EEI:EE

2018F F# « BWILERER AR

about September 2006 and is
currently available for retail and
office leasing.

24 % 2 A20064E9 A Bl 18 1%
T BRIAEHZSEERHLAEMR

& -
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anagement Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BERENw & D) 55
No. Address Description and tenure Particulars of occupancy
fman bt BR & F 5 iR
20. A portion of a residential The property comprises a The property was completed in

development, namely Jinbao portion of a residential about January 2007 and is
Venture Home, located at No. 1 development with a total gross currently available for residential
Hechang 5th Road West, floor area of approximately leasing.

Huicheng District, Huizhou, 216.00 square metres.

Guangdong Province, the PRC
The land use rights of the

subject site were granted for a

term expiring on 20 April 2071

for residential use.
TEHERAEBMERENEG AR ZVELBLAEZEMELD Z Y B 200741 A Bl & %
I ETERBEESEAER 216.00F HRKNETERS D - T BATAIHREEHESE -
B & — & o

HEMERE T ERAEDE

& - 207164 H20H @M - 1

FEAE-

e

|
|
[

Dragon Terrace A BE &
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(i) Revenue

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
recorded revenue from sale of properties amounted to
approximately RMB564.1 million, representing a decrease
of approximately RMB405.0 million or 41.8%. The
decrease in revenue was mainly due to a decrease in
overall GFA recognised from approximately 127,000 sg.m.
in 2017 to approximately 53,000 sg.m. in 2018. Revenue
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2018 was
mainly contributed by Sunshine New Court Phase 1,
Million Cities Legend Phase 2, Crown Grand Court and
Million Cities Tycoon Place Phases 1, 2 and 4, while
revenue recognised for the year ended 31 December
2017 was mainly attributable to Million Cities Tycoon
Place Phase 1 and Phase 2.

The operating results for the year are dependent upon the
GFA being recognised and the selling prices of the
Group’s properties. Conditions of the property markets
change from period to period and are affected by the
economic, political and regulatory developments in the
PRC in general, as well as in the cities and regions in
which the Group operates.

Rental income

Gross rental income from investment properties and inventories
decreased from approximately RMB4.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017 to approximately RMB3.7 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018. The decrease in gross
rental income was due to disposal of certain investment
properties and inventories during the year ended 31 December
2018.

Cost of sales

Cost of sales decreased from approximately RMB767.7 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017 to RMB305.0 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB462.7 million or 60.3%. The decrease in
cost of sales was mainly due to the decrease in GFA
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2018.

(i) WA
B Z2018F12A31A L FE A& B
EMEMSRAHAREB41EET
W #) AR 405.08 & T 5041.8% © =
ERANERBEEREEEEHR2017F
#9127,000°F 77 2K J5 Z220184F #753,000F
F oK e B E2018F12A3IBIEFEEWME
BRBMAZTEREREEHE—H - B
LEZH ERRAEBEER— =K
PO ER - & 220174 12A31H EF E®
EERBATEREERET —K_H -

FANKEXRETORNEANEER
BEAEEDEEEB -METHRKAR
MR BEXHEERBUNAEEZE
PREW T RIEEHE  BoaREEMRR

=
A

HEWRA
BREMERTFENHE WA LEHEE2017
FI2AIHLEFEMNNARBIOBEELRE
B E2018F12A3H L FEMNH ARKITE
B 2AREHE2018F12A31BILFEE T
BREMERTFEELE -

HE K&
HERAREZ2017F12A31BEFEHOAR
767 TE BT L H AR M462.78 B Tk
60.3% & £2018F12A31BH L FEMARE
305.0B 8B T X ERBHMNE E20185F12A31
BIEFEMERNEEMBERL -
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Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit increased from approximately RMB205.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2017 to approximately
RMB262.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2018,
representing an increase of approximately RMB57.4 million or
27.9%. The gross profit margin increased from approximately
21.1% for the year ended 31 December 2017 to approximately
46.3% for the year ended 31 December 2018. The increase in
gross profit and gross profit margin was primarily due to the
increase in average selling price per sgq.m. sold. As a result of
the booming property market in the PRC during the last couple
of years, selling prices of properties sold during the vyear
ended 31 December 2018 were generally higher than those in
previous years. The increase in gross profit and gross profit
margin was also compounded by the decrease in average cost
of sales per sg.m. sold. Apart from the above, the
abovementioned variance in the average selling price per sg.m.
and the average cost of sales per sq.m. sold was also due to
the difference in the mix of properties sold during the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017. The revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2017 was derived from the sale of the
Group’s properties in both (i) Tianjin, namely Million Cities
Tycoon Phases 1 and 2; and (i) Huizhou in Guangdong
province, namely Million Cities Legend Phase 1 and Sunshine
New Court Phase 2, while the revenue for the year ended 31
December 2018 was mainly derived from the sale of the
Group’s properties in Huizhou, including Million Cities Legend
Phase 2, Sunshine New Court Phase 1 and Crown Grand
Court. Due to (i) the higher development cost and land
acquisition cost for the development projects in Tianjin, as
compared with those in Huizhou; (i) the Group’s pricing
strategy of selling Million Cities Tycoon Place Phases 1 and 2,
being a debut project of the Group in Tianjin, with relatively
lower markup aiming to attract more buyers and as part of the
strategy to expand the Group’s foothold in Tianjin, the gross
profit margin of Milion Cities Tycoon Place Phases 1 and 2
was generally lower than that of most of the Group’s
properties in Huizhou.

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018
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EFMRENE
EFBEBE2017F12A31IBLEFENHARK
205.4B BT MAARES7.48 & TH27.9%
ZEH Z2018F12A31B L FEHMHARE
262.8B BT ° EF X # £20176F12A31H
IEFEBA21.1%E ZH £2018F12H318 1k
FREBHLI63% c EFMRENXEMEERH
REEBFARTFHEEEM - BRPBEYE
MSRBELFTEDEE B E2018F12H31
ALEFEEENEEBLEEBANEF - EF R
EMEEMTRAEREET T KRTEHEE
PRAN TR o Br EXPTILESN - EEEGEH
KEHEBREFHKFOHEERANES - IR
EHRNEE2018F K2017F12A31HILFER
EWEBALL AR - BLZE2017F12 A 31
HEFEONRAREAEBE U TREDED
HE (VCREBRBx—8R_H: RHER
AEMERBZE-BARG 8 mMEE
2018F12H31H L FEMNBA T EREAREE
REMNOYEHEES  PEENEE_H8 Bi
Fa—HrRETRR -ARO)RKEERBE N
BRAAR KBRS REMN ()N EE
UEBEFBENEEREHESEREST—BK
“THAREERXENEEIEER) UKSIES
RERERASBERXENRE  HERER
—HER—HNEMNELBENASEEIMND
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Other net income

Other net income increased by approximately RMB6.6 million
or 355.0% from approximately RMB1.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017 to approximately RMB8.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018, mainly as a result of
disposal of investment properties which generated net gain on
disposal of investment properties of approximately RMB5.5
million during the year. Interest income also increased by
approximately RMB1.3 million or 94.9%, mainly due to higher
bank balances from receipts of sales proceeds of properties
sold during the year.

Selling expenses

Selling expenses decreased by approximately RMB12.0 million
or 56.1%, from approximately RMB21.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017 to approximately RMB9.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018. The decrease of selling
expenses was mainly the result of decrease in revenue, since
most of the selling expenses were revenue linked sales

commission.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses increased by approximately RMB28.6
million or 73.5% from approximately RMB38.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2017 to RMB67.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018, primarily due to the increase in
consultation and professional expenses in relation to the listing
of the shares of the Company on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing”).

Finance costs

Finance costs increased by approximately RMB5.0 million or
2,258.9% from approximately RMBO0.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017 to approximately RMB5.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018, due to increase in bank
loans and interest expenses not qualified for capitalisation
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Income tax

For the year ended 31 December 2018, income tax increased
by approximately RMB45.9 million, which was due to an
increase in LAT as a result of higher gross profit recognised
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Ht g A F 5

Ha A EEHEZ2017F12831H L FEH
HMARKE1ISEELEMNARKG6E &Lk
355.0% % & £2018F 12 A31H It FE B4 A
R¥84B BT FTERHERFRNLEREY
XEBREZFHHOARKESSHEE T - A EK
AT MHARE1ISEEILHMM.9%  TERE
HRFAHEMEMBRMNEEMERIES
BUIR T A5 BR3G 0 o

HEMX

HEMYMEZE2017F12A31B EFENHA
REAN4BE TR LD HODARKI1208 8Lk
56.1% = 8 £2018F12A31A L FEHHAR
¥Bo4B BT TEZERARKAR D (KR H
ERTAHERAE@ENEERS) -

THHEX
THASXAEHE2017F12A31HIEFENHA
R¥38.9B B mai A R #2868 & T3k
73.5%Z#H E2018F12A31A L FEM AR
67.5BH BT FERHANBAARRFIRMNNE
REIERETTETDAOBER R EXERZ G
e

Al & B AR
BEKABREE2017F12A31HIEFENHA
R¥o2BE & L M AR K508 & T3k
2,258.9% %= & £2018F12A31H IEFE M 4
ARB528 &L ' Ty B R B £2018F12H
SIBLEFEMRITERETFEEREGH
GORANSNEE -3 Pl

e

HE2018F12A31H IEFE - FIB LN A
R¥4598 8 T JYEX B £20185F12H31H
IEFEBEROEFIG NGB LG E LM -

2018F F# « BWILERER AR
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Adjusted profit for the year attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company

It represented profit for the year attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company after excluding the expenses for
preparation of Listing. After taking out the non-recurring listing
expenses, adjusted profit increased by approximately RMB12.5
million or 31.6% due to the improved gross profit for the year.

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Liquidity and financial resources

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents were mainly used in the Group’s business
operations, to service the Group’s indebtedness and to fund
the Group’s working capital. The Group financed its funding
requirements mainly through a combination of cash generated
from operating activities, borrowings and proceeds from the
Listing. The Group’s gearing ratio decreased from
approximately 111.7% as at 31 December 2017 to
approximately 60.5% as at 31 December 2018. Such decrease
was mainly due to increase in equity as a result of the
capitalisation of shareholders’ loan, share issuance upon the
global offering, together with the profit recorded for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

The gearing ratio is calculated as interest bearing bank loan
divided by equity.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents, amounting to approximately RMB1,106.4 million,
were denominated in Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$”) (18.4%) and
Renminbi (“RMB”) (81.6%).

Million Cities Tycoon Place & i % =

Million Cities Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2018
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ARREERRELGFEENEMEARE
BLEMHRX - MERFRE LHRAXEK  &F
EEMEAFRENEMMEMOARE1258
& T H31.6% °

Ht Bt &R

RBEERESRR

B ZE2018F12A31B L FE - ARENRE R
ReEBMEIZEREREENEREE B8
EELRBENEEED AEEFTEZRBLES
FSHe BREKLETHAGHRERNGEST
Ko REEMAGELERH2017F12A31 B AL
111.7% R E2018F 12 A31 H H4960.5% *

DEARBRRERERSRERIEGN - 2BRE
EWRRMDEITREE2018F12A31H IEFE %

1508 I T B o

BELRENFTBRITERGR AR -

|
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As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s total borrowings were
due for repayment as follows:

MR2018F12A31H » AEBMBREFH D HHE
EBBROT

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR FT

Within one year —%F R 288,762 80,700

After one year but within two years —FREMFEN 154,775 188,300

After two years but within five years WERBRAFR 104,877 30,317
548,414 299,317

Notes: B &

(a)  The above amounts due are based on the scheduled repayment (a) A

dates set out in the relevant agreements and ignore the effect of
any repayment on demand clause.

(b) As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s borrowings were
denominated in RMB (84.0%) and HK$ (16.0%). The bank loan is
interest-bearing at 110% and 130% of the benchmarked loan
interest rate published by the People’s Bank of China (“RMB
Loan Benchmark Rate”) or at Hong Kong Inter Bank Offered
Rate (“HIBOR”) plus 4% per annum.

() As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s certain borrowings were
secured by inventories with a total carrying amount of
approximately RMB600.2 million.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s management has adopted certain policies on
financial risk management with the objective of: (i) ensuring that
appropriate funding strategies are adopted to meet the Group’s
short term and long term funding requirements taking into
consideration of the cost of funding, gearing ratios and cash
flow projections of the Group; and (i) ensuring that appropriate
strategies are also adopted to minimise the interest rate risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk.

B B FROR Ty B 5 48 R 15 = P #5) e9 ET &

ERAH - BAAE BT 2 REE R E KGR
HWEE -

(b) P2018F12H31H  AEEMERUNARE
(84.0%) I % JT(16.0%) 5T 1B R 77 B 3K i%
ARBITAMOELEERTFER(ARBEER
HEEFR])110% &130%:F B KL EF AR TT
AEFLS(TEBRITRERE]) T F MN4%5T

B o
o

(c) PM2018F12A31H ' AEEE TERBARE
FELHARE600.28 & THFEEEKM -

THEAREEEEREE
AEEMNEEEEXAAHEMAREEMN
ETHE ARREBEENESRBREY
AEBNEHEEHESFTRK(BELAEED
BelA RELXEBRESREFAR) R
ERERAEE KRR DM ERER  FERR
Kn#E xR -
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Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from borrowings
and cash at bank. Borrowings and cash at bank issued at
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk
and borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair
value interest rate risk. The Group did not enter into any
financial instruments to hedge against interest rate risk for the
year ended 31 December 2018 but the Board will continue to
closely monitor the Group’s loan portfolio in order to manage
the Group’s interest rate risk exposure.

Credit risk

As of 31 December 2018, no trade debtors of the Group were
past due. The Group normally receives full payment from
buyers before the hand-over of the property. For mortgage
sales with sales proceeds not yet fully settled, the Group would
not hand-over the property to the customers unless it obtains
confirmation from the banks providing mortgage that the
respective mortgages have been approved. In addition, the
Group would not transfer titles of the properties to customers
until full amount of sales proceeds are received. Accordingly,
the Group is of the view that the expected irrecoverable trade
debtors were immaterial. Thus no bad debt provision for trade
debtors was recognised during the year end 31 December
2018.

As at 31 December 2018, all the Group’s bank balances and
deposits were held with major financial institutions in Hong
Kong and the PRC which the Directors believe are of high
credit quality. The Directors do not expect any losses arising
from the non-performance by these financial institutions.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty
in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and long terms. The Group
has not experienced and does not expect to experience any
difficulties in meeting credit obligations when they fall due.

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018
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Capital expenditures

The Group incurred capital expenditures of approximately
RMB1.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2018, which
were mainly related to the replacement of furniture and
computer equipment. These capital expenditures were fully
financed by internal resources.

Capital commitments

The Group’s capital commitments as at 31 December 2018
amounted to approximately RMB560.1 million which were
mainly related to development costs for the Group’s properties
under development.

Operating lease commitments

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
amounted to approximately RMB1.6 million, with approximately
RMBO0.8 million due within one year and approximately RMBO0.8
million due later than one year but not later than five years.

Charge on assets

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s inventories with a total
carrying amount of approximately RMB600.2 million were
pledged to banks to secure certain banking facilities granted to
the Group.

Contingent liabilities

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has
issued guarantees to banks to secure the mortgage
arrangements of certain property buyers. The outstanding
guarantees to the banks, amounted to approximately
RMB567.0 million as at 31 December 2018, will be terminated
upon completion of transferring the legal title of the properties
to the property buyers. The Directors consider loss arising from
these guarantees as a result of default payment by customers
to be immaterial, as the banks have the rights to sell the
property and recover the outstanding loan balance from sale
proceeds.

The Group has not recognised any deferred income in respect
of these guarantees as their fair values are considered to be
insignificant by the Directors.

BEXREX

B ZE2018F12A31A L FE  AREEAHAX
WARBISEB T TZARERRERE
JERE 2 HHRNIERE -

BRERE

M20185F12A31H » AEBEMEARAZN A A
R¥560 1 BB TEEAKBERERTFYE
HFI SR A B -

REHERE
2018F12A31H * AEBRIBE T o] BH L&
HENARZERBENRBEOLHAE ARG
BELT EHFHARKISEE LR —FRE
H - MOARBOSEBLAN —FRERF
R EH o

EERW

2018 12H31H AR BEAKREBENARK
6002E BT FEE R ASEEERMNE TR
TREMEM FIRT -

RABE
HE2018F12A31BIEFE AKEHRETE
%&%%*$§%%ﬁﬁﬁkfﬁﬁ ° 42018
FI2AIB R THEBRITERNABARY
%Hﬁ%ﬁ ﬁ@#%hﬁ%%&m%%%
TERERIL - BEFRAE AKEBTEEE
%#mmﬁﬁiﬁéﬁﬁ% RERWE K
RFIE - RITEERLEEME - LWEEFRERIE
KEREEERER -

$%@ﬁ$%%%%ﬁﬁwﬁﬂﬁLWA A
REER/ERTFEMTEE

2018F F# « BWILERER AR
L

25 «K—



—>> 26

ﬁFﬁm&“ﬁ@)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group provided
guarantee to secure the loan borrowed by a joint venture of the
Group. The total banking facility secured by this guarantee was
approximately RMB1.45 billion and the outstanding loan
balance was RMB360.0 million as at 31 December 2018. The
bank loan is also jointly guaranteed by another shareholder of
the joint venture and secured by the inventories of the joint
venture. The Directors consider loss arising from this guarantee
as a result of default payment by the joint venture to be
immaterial.

Deferred income of approximately RMB6.8 million was
recognised in respect of this financial guarantee as at 31
December 2018.

Use of net proceeds

The net proceeds from Listing amounted to approximately
HK$190.8 million after deducting the underwriting commission
and other fees and expenses paid by the Company for Listing.
Up to the date of this report, HK$100.0 million, representing
approximately 52.4% of the net proceeds from Listing, were
used to repay the pre-IPO loan as disclosed in the prospectus
of the Company dated 10 December 2018 (the “Prospectus”).

Significant investments, acquisitions and disposals
For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group had
undergone material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries
and associates for the purpose of reorganisation of the Group
in preparation of Listing. Please refer to the Prospectus for
further details. Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group
had no significant investments, acquisitions and disposals
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Events after balance sheet date
The Group did not have any significant events after balance
sheet date.

Operating segment information

The Group’s revenue and results for the year ended 31
December 2018 were derived from property development.
Performance assessment is based on the results of the Group
as a whole. Therefore, management considers there is only one
operating segment.
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The geographic information is disclosed in a manner consistent
with the way in which information is reported internally to the
Group’s chief operating decision-maker for allocation of
resources and performance assessment.

Human resources and emolument policy

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a total of 154 (2017:
161) full-time employees in the PRC and Hong Kong. For the
year ended 31 December 2018, the total staff costs, including
the directors’ emoluments, amounted to approximately
RMB34.6 million (2017: RMB26.8 million).

The Group’s emolument policies are formulated based on the
performance and experience of individual employee and are in
line with the salary trends in Hong Kong and the PRC. Other
employee benefits include performance-linked bonuses,
insurance and medical coverage and share options.

Since human resources management is an important factor in
maintaining and enhancing the Group’s strong expertise in the
property development, the Group will provide appropriate
training programs to the employees as the Group sees fit. From
time to time, different on-the-job training will be provided to
employees in order to ensure continuous staff development and
skills upgrading.

Remuneration policy

The Directors and senior management of the Group receive
compensation in the form of salaries and discretionary bonuses
related to the performance of the Group. The Group also
reimburses them for expenses which are necessarily and
reasonably incurred for providing services to the Group or
executing their functions in relation to the Group’s operations.
The remuneration committee will regularly review and determine
the remuneration and compensation package of the Directors
and senior management, by reference to, among other things,
market level of salaries paid by comparable companies, the
respective responsibilities of the Directors and senior
management and the performance of the Group.
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Chairman and non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Ting Chung (E EH8£), BBS, JP, aged 57, is the non-
executive Director, chairman of the Board, member of the
nomination committee and member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Wong is the founder of the
Group, and is primarily responsible for the overall strategic
planning and business direction of the Group.

Mr. Wong has over 15 years of experience in property
investment, property development and management. He
established his business through Huizhou China Field Real
Estate Development Company Limited* (“Huizhou China Field”),
a project company engaged in the construction and sale of
high quality residential complexes, in 2003 and was responsible
for overall management of the company. Currently, Mr. Wong
assumes various directorships in Nameson Holdings Limited
(“Nameson”), a company which shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1982), and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Nameson Group”), where he has
been serving as the chief executive officer and the chairman of
the board of directors of Nameson Holdings Limited since
August 2015.

Mr. Wong graduated from Hong Kong Yee Tong Ye College (&
7 SR E) in 1978. Mr. Wong is currently a delegate of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region to the National
People’s Congress of the PRC (2BIARKREXAEEBRRR)
and the chairman of Hong Kong Industrial and Commercial
Association General Chamber Executive Committee (&8 L&
MeeBELHITEZEE). Mr. Wong is brother-in-law of Mr. Lau
Ka Keung, and is also cousin of Mr. Lin Guoxian. Mr. Lau Ka
Keung and Mr. Lin Guoxian are the executive Directors.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Ka Keung (X 3), vH, JP, aged 43, is the executive
Director and the chief executive officer of the Company. Mr,
Lau is responsible for execution of strategic planning and
general management of the Group.

Mr. Lau has served as an executive Director and chief
executive officer of Million Cities Development Limited since
August 2016. From January 2006, Mr. Lau has assumed
various directorships in the Group, including China Lands
Investments Limited, Join Kong (H.K.) Limited (“Join Kong”),
Cheer Happy (H.K.) Limited (“Cheer Happy”), Huizhou Cheer
Happy Real Estate Development Company Limited* (“Huizhou
Cheer Happy”), Huizhou China Field and Million Cities Jianji
Real Estate (Tianjin) Company Limited* (“Tianjin Jianji”). Mr. Lau
held several positions in the Nameson Group from August 1999
to March 2013, including information technology manager, vice
president, and executive director. From August 2015 to April
2018, Mr. George Lau served as a non-executive director in
Nameson.

Mr. Lau received his bachelor’'s degree in information
technology from Manchester Metropolitan University, the United
Kingdom in July 1997 and obtained his master’'s degree in
business administration from University of Leicester, the United
Kingdom in July 2008. Mr. Lau has served as national
committee member of the 13th Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference in China (T ARBAHHE %S
+=E2 B % 8 %), executive committee member of the 14th
Tianjin Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (PR ARBAHEERZRETFE THETBLZE
&) and Vice Chairman of Tianjin Federation of Industry and
Commerce (K)EM LA XS ). Mr. Lau is also an executive
member of the 13th of All China Youth Federation (2 B &
FHASE+TZEEHZEEZLE). Mr. Lau is brother-in-law
of Mr. Wong Ting Chung. Mr. Wong Ting Chung is the
chairman of the Company and the non-executive Director.
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Mr. Wong Ka Lun (& X @), aged 51, is an executive Director
and the chief operating officer of the Group. Mr. Wong is
primarily responsible for overseeing general operation and
administration of the Group.

Mr. Wong has over 25 years of experience in sales of
marketing planning, property investment, and operation
management in property industry. Mr. Wong joined Million
Cities Development Limited as chief operating officer since
February 2018. Prior to that, Mr. Wong held various managerial
positions in several Hong Kong listed property companies,
including Hutchison Whampoa Limited (a company previously
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
0013) which was privatised on 3 June 2015), SEA Holdings
Limited (stock code: 0251, formerly known as SEA Group) and
Soundwill Holdings Limited (stock code: 0878), where he was
responsible for property sales and marketing.

Mr. Wong obtained a diploma in property development with
distinction from the School of Professional and Continuing
Education of the University of Hong Kong in April 1995, a
postgraduate diploma in surveying (real estate development)
from the University of Hong Kong in October 2002, and a
master’s degree of science in real estate from the University of
Hong Kong in November 2007.

Ms. Lau Pui Kwan (Z|/fi#), aged 37,
Director, finance director and company secretary of the Group.
Ms. Lau is responsible for overseeing financial management
and formulating financial strategies of the Group.

is an executive
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Ms. Lau has over 12 vyears of experience in corporate
accounting and financing, audit and company secretarial
practices. Ms. Lau joined Million Cities Development Limited as
financial controller since July 2017, where she is responsible
for the finance and accounting operations. Prior to joining the
Group, Ms. Lau held managerial positions in several Hong Kong
listed companies, including CSI Properties Limited (stock code:
0497), Hsin Chong Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 0404,
formerly known as Hsin Chong Construction Group Limited)
and Doyen International Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Dowell Property Holding Limited (stock code: 0668)).

Ms. Lau obtained her bachelor’'s degree in business
administration from Chinese University of Hong Kong in
December 2005 and was admitted as associate member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in February
2011. Ms. Lau has been an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators
since February 2016.

Mr. Lin Guoxian (% B ), aged 51, is an executive Director.
Mr. Lin is responsible for overseeing the construction and
management of some development projects of the Group.

Mr. Lin has over 17 years of experience in construction and
property management in real estate industry. Mr. Lin has
overseen and managed various development projects owned by
Mr. Wong Ting Chung since July 2009, including Huizhou
Crowne Hotel, Sunshine New Court and Crown Grand Court.
Prior to that, Mr. Lin was also in charge of several construction
projects including factories of Huizhou Lixin Science and
Technology Company Limited (BN EREAER A F) and
Jinjiazhuang (Huizhou) Health Food Co., Ltd. ()X & (M) 2
FERMAMRAA). Mr. Lin is cousin of Mr. Wong Ting Chung.
Mr. Wong Ting Chung is the chairman of the Company and the
non-executive Director.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen (& 22) GBS, JP, aged 67, is the
independent non-executive Director, chairman of the nomination
committee and a member of the audit committee of the
Company. Mr. Ip is responsible for providing independent
opinion and judgment to the Board.

Mr. lp is currently serving as independent non-executive
director of five companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, namely China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1313) since August 2008, Lai Sun
Development Company Limited (stock code: 488) since
December 2009, Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1888) since May 2011, Luk Fook Holdings (International)
Limited (stock code: 590) since October 2011 and Nameson
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1982) since April 2018. Mr. Ip
also served as independent non-executive director of Synergis
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2340) from September 2008 to
December 2017. From November 1973 to July 2007, Mr. Ip
held various positions in The Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region, such as Commissioner of
Insurance, Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for Economic
Services and Secretary for Financial Services and Secretary for
Economic Development and Labour.

Mr. Ip graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor’s degree in social sciences in September 1973, and
he subsequently completed the program for management
development at Harvard University Graduate School of
Business Administration in November 1986.

Mr. Ip received the Gold Bauhinia Star award from The
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in
2001 and he was appointed as an unofficial Justice of the
Peace in July 2007.
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Mr. Li Yinquan (Z 35| R), aged 63, is the independent non-
executive Director, chairman of the audit committee and a
member of the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Li
is responsible for providing independent opinion and judgment
to the Board.

Mr. Li has extensive experience in financial management. He
served as executive director of China Merchants Port Holdings
Company Limited (formerly known as China Merchants
Holdings (International) Company Limited) (a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 144)) from
June 2001 to March 2015 and as non-executive director of
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3968) and the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600036)) from April
2001 to June 2016. Mr. Li was an executive director of China
Merchants China Direct Investments Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 133))
from July 2008 to April 2017. He has also been serving as
independent non-executive director of Genertec Universal
Medical Group Company Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2666, formerly
known as Universal Medical Financial and Technical Advisory
Services Company Limited) since June 2015 and an
independent non-executive director of Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1001)) since July 2018.

Throughout the significant years of employment with certain
Hong Kong listed companies, Mr. Li has performed duties
including supervising on the listed companies’ financial
management, involved in various types of transactions in
relation to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and reviewing and
analysing audited financial statements of listed companies. Mr.
Li has gained relevant experience in, including but not limited
to, (i) review and preparation of comparable and/or audited
financial statements of Hong Kong listed companies; (ii) review
of internal control systems; and (iii) analysis of financial
statements and information of Hong Kong listed companies.
Moreover, Mr. Li has also obtained vast experience in
collaborating and dealing with internal and external auditors
regarding the supervision of internal financial controls and the
auditing of financial statements.
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Mr. Li received his bachelor’s degree in economics from
Shaanxi Institute of Finance and Economics (B 78 Bf 4 2 Fx) in
July 1983. He subsequently obtained his master’s degree in
economics from the PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua
University (BE X2 R B O S B ZF) (formerly known as
Graduate School of the People’s Bank of China (B A RE1T
BT BT ZSFT) in July 1986. In October 1988, Mr. Li
obtained his master’'s degree in banking and finance for
development from Finafrica Institute in Milan, Italy. In August
1989, he was accredited as senior economist by the Appraisal
and Approval Committee for Professional & Technical
Qualification of the Agricultural Bank of China.

Dr. Wu Wing Kuen (# %k #), BBS, aged 62, is the
independent non-executive Director, chairman of the
remuneration committee, a member of the nomination
committee and a member of the audit committee of the
Company. Dr. Wu is responsible for providing independent
opinion and judgment to the Board.

Dr. Wu has over 25 vyears of experience in real estate
investment. He has been serving as director of Jet View
Investment Limited since December 1991 and as director of
Jade Mind Investment Limited since October 2004. Both
companies are principally engaged in real estate investments.
Dr. Wu has also been serving as independent non-executive
director of Nanfang Communication Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1617)) since November 2016. Dr. Wu has served
as independent non-executive director of the HongGuang
Lighting Holdings Company Limited (a company listed on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8343)) since
December 2016. Since January 2019, Dr. Wu has also served
as independent non-executive director of Food Idea Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8179)).
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Dr. Wu obtained his doctoral degree in business administration
from the Clayton University in the United States in June 1989.

Dr. Wu was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by The
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in
July 2012. Dr. Wu is currently a voting member of the Hong
Kong Jockey Club and president of the Sha Tin District
Community Fund. Dr. Wu has also served the community
under various other positions in the past. He is a member of
the Appeal Tribunals Panel of the Planning and Lands Branch
of the Development Bureau of The Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management of the Group is responsible for the
day-to-day management and operation of business of the
Group. The senior management team of the Group is as
follows:

Mr. Lu Bingqgian (EX%), aged 45, is the general manager of
Tianjin Jianji. Mr. Lu is responsible for the overall management
and operation of Tianjin Jianji.

Mr. Lu has over 11 years of experience in real estate
engineering construction. Mr. Lu joined the Group in August
2007. From August 2007 to March 2013, he worked as finance
manager in Huizhou Cheer Happy, where he was responsible
for financial and marketing management. Since May 2016, Mr.
Lu has served as the general manager of Tianjin Jianjin, where
he is responsible for the overall management of Tianjin Jianiji.

Mr. Chen Junbin (BR&3®), aged 44, is the director of project
development of the Group. Mr. Chen is mainly responsible for
land development, project feasibility studies and pre-
development coordination.

Mr. Chen has over 19 vyears of experience in project
investment. Mr. Chen joined the Group in October 2016. Prior
to joining the Group, from June 2013 to May 2016, Mr. Chen
served as a general manager of Jinzhou Pinggang Property
Co., Ltd. (38N F & B X B R X F]), where he was responsible
for project management. From July 1998 to October 2012, Mr.
Chen served as a marketing director and deputy general
manager of COSCO Guangzhou Construction Industry Co. (&
N F IR E ¥ 7)), where he was responsible for project
management.
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Mr. Chen received his bachelor’'s degree in investment and
economics from Guangdong Business School (& 5 & £67)
(renamed as Guangdong University of Finance & Economics in
2013) in June 1998. Mr. Chen was accredited as a real estate
economist by the Ministry of Personnel (B A % ZB) of the
PRC in November 2002.

Mr. Cheng Tiandong (T2 X&), aged 39, is the director of cost
management of the Group. Mr. Cheng is responsible for
project cost management, contract management and
procurement management.

Mr. Cheng has over 10 years of experience in construction
management and has been responsible for cost management
and measurement. Mr. Cheng joined the Group in January
2009 as the supervisor of Cost Management and was
responsible for project presettlement. He was subsequently
promoted to the director of cost management in October
2017.

Mr. Cheng received his bachelor’s degree in civil engineering
from Northwest A&F University (Fadt 2MEIF K E) in July
2004.

Mr. Quan Jianxu (B #Z 5F), aged 38, is the director of human
resources and administration of the Group. Mr. Quan is
responsible for human resources management, administration,
corporate culture management and government relations.

Mr. Quan has over 9 years of experience in human resources
and administrative management and he has been responsible
for human resource affairs and administrative operations. Mr.
Quan joined the Group in August 2016. Prior to that, from
June 2009 to May 2016, Mr. Quan served as the manager of
human resources department of Huizhou Huipeng Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (EMEESHEMZEAER A F), and
was subsequently promoted to the human resources and
administrative director in November 2010.
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Mr. Quan received his bachelor’'s degree in business
administration from Xi’an University of Technology (78 % ¥ T X
) in June 2009. In November 2009, Mr. Quan was
recognised as human resources manager by the Ministry of
Human Resources and Social Security of the PRC. In January
2014, he was accredited the title of intermediate economist by
the Huizhou personnel bureau.

Mr. Huang Daode (F3&&), aged 47, is the director of design
of the Group. Mr. Huang is responsible for product research
and design management of the property development projects
of the Group.

Mr. Huang has over 15 years of experience in project design
management. Mr. Huang joined the Group in December 2016.
Prior to that, from May 2011 to May 2016, Mr. Huang also
worked as chief architect and project manager of Shenzhen
Huayang International Engineering Design Co., Ltd. (& Il T &
b5 B BR T F2 :% 5T A% 10 B BR 2 &), where he was responsible for
project management. From March 2003 to May 2011, Mr.
Huang served as chief architect and project handler of
Shenzhen Urbanspace Planning and Architectural Design Co.,
Ltd. (RINEMH =R KREF AR A F). From May 1997 to
February 2003, Mr. Huang served as an architect of Shenzhen
Huasen Architectural & Engineering Designing Consultants Ltd.
(RYIERBEERTERAERAERAAF).

Mr. Huang obtained his college diploma in real estate
economics and administration from Huazhong Normal University
(ZE AT 3K E2) in June 1993, and he received his bachelor’s
degree in civil engineering from Northwestern Polytechnical
University (F84F T2 X&) in July 2016 by distant learning.
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Ms. Luo Hongbing (#& 4L ££), aged 41, is the deputy director
of finance of the Group. Ms. Luo is responsible for budgets
and taxation of the Group.

Ms. Luo has more than 13 years of experience in finance and
accounting. Ms. Luo joined the Group in August 2018. Prior to
that, Ms. Luo served as a finance manager of Fantasia Huizhou
Company Limited* (7€ 15 4 #2 & =M 3 /1 2 &) from July 2011
to January 2017. From January 2004 to June 2011, Ms. Luo
served as a finance manager and tax manager of a member of
TCL Corporation.

Ms. Luo received her bachelor’'s degree in management from
Hunan University (%5 X&) in May 2001, and she received her
master’s degree in management from Sichuan University (4]
KE) in December 2012. She obtained the qualification of
intermediate accountant issued by the Ministry of Finance of
the PRC in May 2005.

Ms. Xiong Weiying (8% {& %), aged 40, is the deputy director
of finance of the Group. Ms. Xiong is responsible for financial
and accounting management of the Group.

Ms. Xiong has more than 7 years of experience in accounting
and financial management. Ms. Xiong joined the Group in April
2017. Prior to that, Ms. Xiong served as a financial manager of
Huizhou Longchen Industrial Co., Ltd. (BT EREEEER A
A]) from October 2013 to January 2017. From April 2011 to
October 2013, Ms. Xiong served as financial manager of
Huizhou Huaji Investment Co., Ltd. (BN EREKEHFR Q).

Ms. Xiong received her college diploma in asset assessment
from Harbin Engineering College (%W FE Ti2m S ER2R)
(merged with Heilongjiang Communications College in March
2000 to establish Heilongjiang Institute of Technology) in July
2000. In February 2012, Ms. Xiong was admitted as a certified
public accountant by the Certified Public Accountants
Association of Jiangxi Province. In May 2009, Ms. Xiong was
admitted as a certified tax agent by the Shenzhen Certified Tax
Agent Management Center.

* For identification purpose only
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'~ Corporate Governance Report

L

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

As the Company believes that good corporate governance can
create value for its shareholders, the Board is committed to
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices
by placing strong emphasis on a quality board of Directors,
sound internal controls and effective accountability to the
shareholders as a whole. The Company has adopted the code
provisions in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance.
In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with
all the mandatory code provisions set out in the CG Code from
the date of the Listing on 20 December 2018 (the “Listing
Date”) to 31 December 2018.

The Board will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices to ensure that it complies with the CG Code and
aligns with the latest developments.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code
for securities transactions by the Directors.

All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiries made
by the Company, that they have fully complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code and the
Company’s code of conduct since the Listing Date up to 31
December 2018.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
inside information of the Group are also subject to compliance
with written guidelines on terms no less exacting than the
required standards set out in the Model Code. Each of the
relevant employees has been given a copy of the written
guidelines.

No incident of non-compliance with these guidelines by the
relevant employees has been notified to the Company since the
Listing Date up to 31 December 2018.

P GETAPRIN
TEEBRRSE
pEERER

RARIMBEERINEEERARAAAIRRE
BIEEE EFTCRRETEFTELEE RIF
NHBEZERAUEE  BHOAZEREERS
BEENGEEATR - AAFEHEMETRA
e+ umEBcEERTARDEERARSE
WFRMES ([REERSTRD EAREHD

EARATH -BEERA ARAFALTHH
201812 H208 ([ £ ™ B #iJ)) 220185124
SIH—EETLEETARTAMEZIEEST
UGSt

E=ZgREBNARCERERATR  UBERES
EREATAREAZM ZER-

SN =R

ESETESXEINEESA

A B R E AR B M R T
ANEFRTBESRS M EETR(E%
BI))  EAKAREFRITESRZ ST -

RARPEHRESHR  2RESHR B
LT HBE20185F12A31H - REZTZE TR
BT RARRNITRTRAEERE -

AREEEASREARBEENIEHEER RS
THEATERRBETAMEAR TR ENE
m¥Es - BERAMESEEE —HE@ES -

B LT REZE018FE12A31H » A A 7
KRB EEARABETIHSIESINIBR -

2018F F# « BWMIERBER AT
K

39 «K—



—>> 40

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for, and has general powers under
the memorandum and articles of association of the Company
for, the leadership and oversight of the Company’s
management and performance and the formulation and review
of the Group’s overall policies and strategies.

The Board is also responsible for performing corporate
governance duties, including the (i) development and review of
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance; and (i) review of the Company’s compliance with
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and disclosures in the
corporate governance report. All major decisions, including but
not limited to those decisions affecting the financial results,
operations and shareholders of the Company, such as financial
statements, business acquisitions, major transactions and
dividend policies, are made by the Board as a whole. Each
Director is aware of his or her fiduciary duties and duties and
responsibilities as a director under the Listing Rules, the CG
Code and applicable laws and regulations, and has acted
objectively for the benefit and best interests of the Company
and its shareholders.

Decisions of the Board are communicated to the senior
management through executive Directors. The day-to-day
management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the executive Directors and an independent senior
management team. The senior management team is also
responsible for the supervision and execution of the Group’s
business plans. The Board reviews periodically the performance
of the senior management team.

Certain functions and responsibilities are delegated to
committees established by the Board. For details, please refer
to the sub-sections headed “Audit Committee”, “Remuneration
Committee” and “Nomination Committee” below.

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018
2>

Exg

EEeRE

REARNFEBERERNMALAR EF28 8
WHEA-—RENBEEEEARANEER
KRB UHERBRIAEEOERBRE MR
B o

EFZeNBERITEXERBE  BREOBIET
R ARARRNEEERABRRELER - Rk
AARBEREST EWARBM S+ IR E
REXERABREANPEFTEH - —IERTE
PHEFSEREL BRETRIEM B R
R OEBEBE BARGEBERREZER
RAMBERSE KERBERNEBRRE - & E
FHMBLEWHRY - DEER TR RERED
ERRETEFRAENXGERET B ER
B UA/ARARERNEDS MREMNDTE
7%

EZgMRERBNTESTRASREEE -
AEBERENTEERBYRAEEEEK
BEREEE TTRIREE -sREEE
B TEEEBERNTASENEB S - &
SEHRNEGREEREERNRE -

EFERUNZBERRTETRERRBE -
FREFELHTXEFZES] [FHEE S
MR ZEEINE -



Composition of the Board

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises four
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors whose names are listed
below. Each member of the Board brings a wide spectrum of
valuable experience, knowledge and expertise to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning.

ESENAER

RAFHRAY EZChNENTES — B
FATEFTR =B UIFNTESFTAKR  TE
ENHARNTXEY -BEFTEXNEHRZE
B KRe=RAGEXANE tRESSH
BUE 1 ©

Board of Directors Date of appointment EEE€ ZERB
Non-executive Director HHTEF

Mr. Wong Ting Chung (Chairman) 15 November 2016 THEBEXE(EE) 201611 A15H
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Lau Ka Keung (Chief Executive Officer) 15 November 2016 BREGLE(FTHAER) 201611 A15H
Mr. Wong Ka Lun (Chief Operating Officer) 19 June 2018 ERMELE(BREEERE) 2018F6719H
Ms. Lau Pui Kwan (Company Secretary) 19 June 2018 AMEBERL(LEHE) 20186 A19H
Mr. Lin Guoxian 19 June 2018 NS 20186 719H
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHHITEE

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen 19 June 2018 EHBLELE 20186 H19H
Mr. Li Yinquan 19 June 2018 FE|REAE 201867 19H
Dr. Wu Wing Kuen 19 June 2018 Bk AETE L 20186 A 19H

Except for the family relationship between Mr. Wong Ting
Chung, Mr. Lau Ka Keung, Mr. Lin Guoxian as disclosed in the
section headed “Biographical details of directors and members
of senior management” of this annual report, there is no
financial, business, family or other relevant relationship between
the Directors.

Since the Listing Date up to 31 December 2018, the Company
has complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules to
have at least three independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board with at least one of
them possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.
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Having considered the factors for assessing the independence
of independent non-executive Directors under Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the written annual confirmations from each
independent non-executive Director, the Board considers all of
its independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

The list of Directors (by category) is disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the
Listing Rules. A list of the Company’s Directors identifying their
roles and functions is also available on the Company’s website
at www.millioncities.com.cn and on the website of the Stock
Exchange.

Terms of appointment of Directors

Executive Directors and non-executive Director

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director has
entered into a service contract for an initial fixed term of three
years commencing on 20 December 2018. The appointment
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either the relevant Director or the Company.

Independent non-executive Directors

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was
appointed by the Company for an initial fixed term of three
years commencing from 20 December 2018. The appointment
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either the relevant Director or the Company.

Nomination, appointment, re-election and removal
procedures

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Company’s articles of
association. Every Director is subject to the provisions of
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office only until the first general meeting of the Company
after his or her appointment and be subject to re-election at
such meeting.
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The nomination committee of the Board (the “Nomination
Committee”) has been established on 26 November 2018 to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board at
least annually to ensure that the Board has a balance of
expertise, skills and experience appropriate to meet the
requirements of the Company. This committee will identify
individuals who are qualified or suitable for directorship, assess
their qualifications, skills, prior experience, character and other
relevant aspects, including but not limited to their
independence in the case of an independent non-executive
Director candidate, and make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors or the filling
of casual vacancies on the Board or any other proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategies. Please refer to the sub-section headed “Nomination
Committee” below for more details on the Nomination
Committee.

Board practices and conduct of meetings

Directors are given the opportunity to include matters in the
agenda for Board meetings with notices of regular Board
meetings given or to be given at least 14 days in advance.
Notices and agenda of the Board meetings are prepared by the
company secretary of the Company as delegated by the
chairman. Directors are provided with adequate and timely
information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly. They are
allowed to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expenses.

Directors are encouraged to make a full and active contribution
to the Board’'s affairs and to voice out their views and
concerns. Directors are supplied with sufficient information and
given sufficient time for discussion to ensure that Board
decisions fairly reflect Board consensus.
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A Director who to his or her knowledge is in any way, whether
directly or indirectly, interested in a contract or arrangement or
proposed contract or arrangement with the Company shall
declare the nature of his or her interest at the meeting of the
Board at which the question of entering into the contract or
arrangement is first taken into consideration, if he or she
knows his or her interest then exists, or in any other case, at
the first meeting of the Board after he or she knows that he or
she is or has become so interested. Subject to the articles of
association of the Company, a Director shall not vote (nor be
counted in the quorum) on any resolution of the Board
approving any contract or arrangement or other proposal in
which he or she or any of his or her close associates is
materially interested.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees
containing sufficient detail of the matters considered and
decisions reached, including any concerns raised or dissenting
views expressed, are sent to each Director for their review,
comment and records within a reasonable time after each
meeting. Final versions of such minutes are kept by the
company secretary of the Company and are open for
inspection by Directors upon reasonable notice.

Board meetings

Code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the board
should meet regularly and board meetings should be held at
least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. The
Company was only listed on the Listing Date and no Board
meeting was held during the period from the Listing Date to 31
December 2018.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Mr. Wong Ting Chung serves as the chairman of the Company.
He is responsible for the overall strategic planning and
business direction of the Group. With the support of the
executive Directors and the company secretary, the chairman
approves the agenda for, and chairs, Board meetings to ensure
that all key and appropriate issues are discussed in a timely
manner, including any matters proposed by other Directors. He
is responsible for the effective functioning of the Board,
including but not limited to taking steps to ensure that all
Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings, providing all Directors with adequate information
which is accurate, clear, complete and reliable in a timely
manner, communicating shareholders’ views to the Board as a
whole and promoting a culture of openness and constructive
debate during Board meetings.

Mr. Lau Ka Keung serves as the chief executive officer of the
Company. He is responsible for the execution of the strategic
planning and general management of the Group.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Board (“‘Audit Committee”) was
established on 26 November 2018 with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph C3 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to assist the Board by providing an
independent view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting
process, internal control and risk management systems of the
Group, to oversee the audit process, to develop and review the
accounting policies of the Group and to perform other duties
and responsibilities as assigned by the Board. For the year
ended 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li
Yinquan (chairman of the Audit Committee who possesses the
appropriate professional qualification or accounting or related
financial management expertise), Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen,
and Dr. Wu Wing Kuen. The written terms of reference of the
Audit Committee has been made available on the Company’s
website at www.millioncities.com.cn and on the website of the
Stock Exchange. The Audit Committee has reviewed with the
management of the Group the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal controls
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and financial reporting matters including a review of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

The Company was only listed on the Listing Date and no Audit
Committee meeting was held during the period from the Listing
Date to 31 December 2018.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Board (“Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 26 November 2018 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules and paragraph B1 of the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but without
limitation): (i) making recommendations to the Directors
regarding our policy and structure for the remuneration of all of
our Directors and senior management and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policies; (i) making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of our Directors and
management; (i) reviewing and approving the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board’s corporate goals and objectives; and (iv) considering
and approving the grant of share options to eligible participants
pursuant to the share option scheme of the Company. For the
year ended 31 December 2018, the Remuneration Committee
consists of one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Wong Ting
Chung, and two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Dr. Wu Wing Kuen (chairman of the Remuneration Committee)
and Mr. Li Yinquan. The written terms of reference of
Remuneration Committee has been made available on the
Company’s website at www.millioncities.com.cn and on the
website of the Stock Exchange.

senior

The Company was only listed on the Listing Date and no
Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the period
from the Listing Date to 31 December 2018.
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Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Board (“Nomination
Committee”) was established on 26 November 2018 with
written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph A5 of
the CG Code. It is responsible for determining the policy for the
nomination of directors, identifying and recommending to the
Board appropriate candidates to serve as Directors, evaluating
the structure and composition of the Board and developing,
recommending to the Board and monitoring nomination
guidelines for the Company. For the year ended 31 December
2018, the Nomination Committee consists of one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Wong Ting Chung, and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen
(chairman of the Nomination Committee) and Dr. Wu Wing
Kuen. The written terms of reference of this committee has
been made available on the Company’s website at
www.millioncities.com.cn and on the website of the Stock
Exchange.

The Company was only listed on the Listing Date and no
Nomination Committee meeting was held during the period
from the Listing Date to 31 December 2018.

Board diversity

The Company recognises and embraces the importance and
benefit achieving diversity on the Board has on corporate
governance and board effectiveness. During the year ended 31
December 2018, the Company monitored the Board
composition with regard to its diversity policy which requires
board appointments to be made on a merit basis with due
regard for the benefits of the diversity of Board members.
Selection of candidates will be based on a wide range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
race, language, cultural background, educational background,
industry experience and professional experience. The
Nomination Committee has developed measurable objectives to
implement the board diversity policy and would monitor the
progress in achieving these objectives.
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Sovernance Report Continued)
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The amount of fees charged by the Company’s external
auditor, KPMG, in respect of their annual audit services, audit
services in relation to the Listing and non-audit services related
to the Listing for the year ended 31 December 2018 amounted
to approximately RMB2.09 million, RMB3.04 million and
RMBO0.44 million respectively.

THE COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary plays a role in supporting the Board by
ensuring good information flow within the Board and also that
Board policy and procedures are followed. The company
secretary is responsible for advising the Board through the
chairman and/or the chief executive officer on corporate
governance matters and should also facilitate induction and
professional development of Directors. Specific enquiry has
been made to the company secretary of the Company, Ms. Lau
Pui Kwan (“Ms. Lau”), and Ms. Lau has confirmed that she has
complied with the relevant qualifications, experience and
training requirements under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

The Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance for its Directors and senior management. The
insurance covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses
and liabilities for any legal action against them arising out of the
Group’s operation.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code,
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. All the Directors are also encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.
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Our Directors have attended trainings conducted by William Ji
& Co. in Association with Tian Yuan Law Firm Hong Kong
Office on 19 June 2018 on the ongoing obligations, duties and
responsibilities of directors of publicly listed companies under
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”) and the Listing Rules and our
Directors are fully aware of their duties and responsibilities as
directors of a listed company in Hong Kong.

INVESTOR COMMUNICATIONS AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company considers timely communication to shareholders
and/or investors and transparent reporting as key components
of good corporate governance. The Company aims to maintain
frequent and timely communication with its shareholders and/or
investors through a variety of communication channels,
including but not limited to general meetings, annual and
interim reports and official announcements. General meetings
provide a platform for shareholders to exchange views with the
Board and the Directors are available to answer questions at
the Company’s annual general meetings. Shareholders will be
sent a copy of the annual and interim reports or be notified of
the release of such reports. Annual and interim reports are
accessible on the website of the Stock Exchange and the
Company’s website at www.millioncities.com.cn, where general
information on the Group’s business and activities is available
for public access. Official announcements will be released from
time to time in accordance with the Listing Rules to update our
shareholders and/or investors with the latest developments of
the Group.
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Voting at general meetings of the Company is conducted by
way of poll in accordance with the Listing Rules. The poll
results will be published on both the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. Pursuant to Clause 64 of the
Company’s existing articles of association, one or more
shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
having the right of voting at general meetings may deposit a
written requisition (the “Written Requisition”) to the Board or the
company secretary for the purpose of requiring an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in the Written Requisition.
Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of the Written Requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit,
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders and investors are also welcome to submit any
enquiries to the Board and suggestions or proposals at general
meetings directly to the Company’s principal place of business
in Hong Kong as provided in the section headed “Corporate
information” in this annual report.

The Board also encourages shareholders to attend general
meetings to make enquiries with the Board directly.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The amended and restated articles of association of the
Company has been conditionally adopted on 26 November
2018 with effect from the Listing Date. The Company has
published its memorandum of association and amended and
restated articles of association on the Company’s website at
www.millioncities.com.cn and on the website of the Stock
Exchange.
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ACCOUNTABILITY

The Directors have included a management discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31
December 2018 under the section headed “Management
discussion and analysis” of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board places great importance on risk management and
internal control and has ultimate responsibilities for overseeing
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control system of the Group
on an ongoing basis. The Board is also committed to review
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

The Group established the risk management and internal
control systems with aims to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatements or losses caused by judgment in decision
making process, human error, fraud or other irregularities.

In order to comply with the applicable code provisions set out
in the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules,
the Board has engaged an independent professional firm as the
outsourced internal auditor (the “internal auditor”) with a view to
ensuring adequacy of resources and quality of review to satisfy
the Group’s internal audit function as required by the Listing
Rules and to assist the Board to perform annual reviews on the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has
established an internal audit charter which defined the scope
and the duties and responsibilities of the internal audit function
and its reporting protocol. The Group has conducted an annual
risk assessment which identified respective strategic risks,
operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks for the
Group. Based on the risk assessment results following a risk
based methodology audit approach, a three-year internal audit
plan was devised which prioritized the risks identified into
annual audit projects. The Group has taken further steps to
enhance its risk management and internal control systems
according to some weaknesses found during risk assessment
and examination of the internal control and strengthen the
implementation of all the risk management and internal control
systems. The Board has also reviewed, through the Audit
Committee, the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.

The Group has established procedures in handling and
dissemination of inside information in an accurate and secure
manner and to avoid possible mishandling of inside information
within the Group.

Based on the risk management and internal control systems
established and maintained by the Group, the review performed
by the external auditor, the internal auditor, and
performed by the management, respective board committees
and the Board, the Audit Committee and the Board are of the
view that the Group has maintained sound, effective and
adequate risk management and internal control system during
the year ended 31 December 2018.

reviews
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together
with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION AND INITIAL
PUBLIC OFFERING

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 15 November 2016
under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman lIslands. Through a
series of group reorganisation procedures, the Company
became the holding company of the Group.

The Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 20 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Group are the property sales and
development in the PRC. Particulars of the principal activities of
the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year ended 31 December 2018.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018 and its future development is set out in the
chairman’s statement from page 4 to page 9 and management
discussion and analysis from page 10 to page 27 of this
annual report.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
on page 101 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018 amounted to approximately RMBO0.9
million (2017: RMB6.6 million).

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
OF THE COMPANY

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 105 of
this annual report and note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders in accordance with its
articles of association and the laws of the Cayman Islands
amounted to approximately RMB636.1 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK LOANS

Details of the bank loans of the Group as at 31 December
2018 are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the issued share capital of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in
note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Pursuant to the capitalisation of shareholders’ loans, the
capitalisation issue and the global offering of the Company,
749,999,998 ordinary shares were issued on the Listing Date.
Please refer to the Prospectus for details of the
aforementioned movements in the issued share capital.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association and there are no restrictions
against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year ended 31
December 2018 attributable to the Group’s major customers
and suppliers are as follows:

Revenue from sales of properties attributable to:

— the largest customer 0.67%

— five largest customers in aggregate 3.23%

Purchases attributable to:

—  the largest supplier 33.5%

—  five largest suppliers in aggregate 76.1%

None of the Directors, or any of their close associates (as
defined under the Listing Rules), or any shareholder (which, to
the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital), had any interest in any of the

five largest customers or suppliers of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2018.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the four years ended 31 December
2018 is set out on page 244 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2018 and
up to the date of this annual report are as follows:

Chairman and non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Ting Chung BBS, JP (Chairman and
non-executive Director, redesignated as
non-executive Director on 19 June 2018)

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Ka Keung MH, JP (Chief executive officer and
executive Director, redesignated as executive Director on
19 June 2018)

Mr. Wong Ka Lun (appointed with effect from 19 June 2018)

Ms. Lau Pui Kwan (appointed with effect from 19 June 2018)

Mr. Lin Guoxian (appointed with effect from 19 June 2018)

Director
Mr. Wong Wai Yue (resigned with effect from 1 April 2018)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen GBS, JP
(appointed with effect from 19 June 2018)
Mr. Li Yinquan (appointed with effect from 19 June 2018)
Dr. Wu Wing Kuen BBS
(appointed with effect from 19 June 2018)

In accordance with articles 109(a) and 109(b) of the Company’s
articles of association, all directors will retire from office by
rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years but are eligible for re-election by shareholders
at the annual general meeting of the Company pursuant to
articles 109(a), 109(b) and 113 of the Company’s articles of
association.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Directors
has entered into a service contract with the Company for an
initial term of three years, which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was
appointed by the Company for a term of three years in
accordance with their respective letters of appointment with the
Company, which may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not terminable within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions” below and
in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Company’s
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, or in which a
Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during or at the
end of the year ended 31 December 2018.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision contained in the Company’s
articles of association that is subject to the requirements
specified in the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) for the benefit of the Directors of the
Company was in force during the year ended 31 December
2018 and up to the date of this annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in note 31 to the financial
statements. As these related party transactions constitute fully
exempted continuing connected transactions of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, none of them
constitutes discloseable connected transactions as defined
under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and/or short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO) or which were required to be and were recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock

EERFETHRAERRS - HER
NREEENEZR XA

MR2018F12H31H  RRAIEEREETHA
BERARBIREMBEEZBE(EEREFESFRHE
ROIEXVER) Bk ) - RGO REEES %
BIRIEE %&HﬁfﬂlﬂﬁlJ%XVuB%?&S“* gl
A$ wxﬁﬁﬁ']%ﬁﬁ&/i/)\)a \l%*ﬁ
B&E %&HﬁlaﬂﬂﬁlJﬁ’Jﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂuﬂzﬁ%& ESX
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ABEFETEFRZNEESTR ([T A]])
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Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities | :
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the”Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:
Long position in the Ordinary Shares of the Company ZAAQAREZERNEFAE
Approximate
Number percentage
of ordinary of issued
shares held or share capital of
Name of Director Nature of interest interested in  the Company®
=R HAERQF
BEERZN ERITRAEHN
EEnE ERME ZEREAR BHABE D
Mr. Wong Ting Chung® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
FREIRE AN EREX@m A
Mr. Lau Ka Keung® Interest of spouse 562,500,000 75.0%
R L LR B4 =
Note 1: Mr. Wong Ting Chung is the settlor, the protector and one  Ff3¥1 : TERLABEREINRTA  FRE
of the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and ANZHmAZ—  HIREZFFLEBEG
therefore he is deemed to be interested in the shares held IR BREREEMIERGO P EFE
by the Happy Family Trust under the SFO. 5 e
Note 2: Mr. Lau Ka Keung is the spouse of Ms. Wong Wai Ling, M2 : Rt ATER LT (ERESLY

who is one of the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust
and therefore he is deemed to be interested in the shares
held by the Happy Family Trust under the SFO.
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Note 3: The calculation is based on the total number of issued
ordinary shares of 750,000,000 shares as at 31 December

2018.

Save as disclosed above, immediately after Listing and as at
31 December 2018, none of the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required to
be entered in the register required to be kept pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO or which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme (as defined below), at no
time during the period from the Listing Date to the date of this
annual report was the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
holding companies, or any of the subsidiary undertakings
(within the meaning of the Companies (Directors’ Report)
Regulation) of such holding companies a party to any
arrangements whose objects are, or one of whose objects is,
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate. Save as disclosed above, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company (including their
spouses and children under the age of 18) had any interests in
or was granted any right to subscribe for the securities of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), or had exercised any such rights.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended and as at 31 December 2018, none of
the Directors had any interest in any business apart from the
business of the Group, which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION ITHREBRE
For the year ended 31 December 2018, each of the # Z£2018F12A31HIFFE @ AR R SERI
Company’s controlling shareholders has confirmed to the RERAAAMER B EHHEEE2018F12
Company of his/her/its compliance with the non-competiton HA31H IFHE BETHERETHFZE

undertakings given by him/her/it to the Company under the
deed of non-competition, as defined in the Prospectus, and
he/she/it had not been offered or become aware of any
business opportunity which may compete with the business of
the Group, during the period from the Listing Date to 31
December 2018. There was no matter requiring deliberation by
the Board in relation to the compliance and enforcement of the
deed of non-competition. The Board comprising all the
independent non-executive Directors is of the view that the
controlling shareholders of the Company have been in
compliance with the deed of non-competition in favour of the
Company.

The Directors are of the view that there are sufficient measures
in place to safeguard the interests of the Company and its
shareholders against any competition potential
competition issues.

issues or

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has approved and adopted a share option
scheme on 26 November 2018 (the “Share Option Scheme”).
Under the Share Option Scheme, the eligible participants may
be granted share options pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme. The following is a summary of the principal terms of
the Share Option Scheme.

(@) Purpose
The purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to provide
the eligible participants an opportunity to have a personal
stake in the Company with the view to achieving the
following objectives:

()  motivate the eligible participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group;
and

(i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain an on-going
business relationship with the eligible participants
whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long-term growth of the Group.

(E%ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ)ﬁ$ A H B A 5% 5K
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Eligible participants

The eligible participants include (i) any full-time or part-
time employees, executives or officers of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries; (i) any directors (including
independent non-executive directors) of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries; and (iii) any advisers, consultants,
agents, suppliers, customers, distributors and such other
persons who in the sole opinion of the Board will
contribute or have contributed to the Company and/or
any of its subsidiaries.

Maximum number of shares

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all the share options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company (if any) shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue (i.e. a
maximum of 75,000,000 shares) immediately after Listing,
provided that:

() the maximum number of shares may be renewed,
with the approval of the shareholders in a general
meeting, up to a maximum of 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company at the date of such
shareholders’ approval, inclusive of the maximum
number of shares in respect of which share options
may be granted under another scheme, if any;

(i)  the Company may obtain a separate approval from
the Company’s shareholders in a general meeting to
permit the granting of share options which will result
in the number of shares in respect of all the share
options granted exceeding the then maximum
number of shares provided that such share options
are granted only to eligible participants specifically
identified by the Company before shareholders’
approval is sought (in which case such share
options granted shall not be counted towards the
then applicable maximum number of shares); and

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018

2>

(b)

(c)

BERSHE
BERZEE BN R B E B

AEMEANEBEBES - TRAB
FEMBE (AR RETHHER
ANENES(BREBYIIERTES)
RiEEE2ERABEKEH AR A
Kok E AT ] B BB & A4 B B A (T 1)
AT BE KRR fEn - BTFE S
HEREMEBAL-

BROEE LR

RE BT 8 AR R A E b BB AR
BEE(MA)BRENEBREET
FEMAREEITHRMNEE LREETE
BABEELEMEEEITRMO10% (B &
%75,000,000% & 15) * AT I & :

() ARBARBREBRRKEHERN
BRTEHMBROEBE LR &RZH
RERBBRILES A ARA D #IT
IRAE10% - BIEREE S (10
B) Al BE I A0 BB AR PO I B iR
A LR :

(i) ARBAEBRRRESRKARAR
RETHAREEERMEERD
BREMSIEOBRNBEBLER
RNDEE ERHBERE EBHEE
BEETRTFARAGERBGBRENL
HERIERENEERSEE (It
BATHRLAABRETSIA
ERNEANBROEE LR &



(d)

(i) the total maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding share
options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share options
granted and yet to be exercised under another
scheme shall not exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

Unless approved by the shareholders in a general meeting
(with the relevant eligible participant and his/her close
associates abstaining from voting), no eligible participant
shall be granted an share option if the total number of
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
share options granted and to be granted to such eligible
participant in any 12-month period up to the date of the
latest grant would exceed 1% of the issued share capital
of the Company from time to time.

An offer of the grant of an option to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or
any of their respective associates must be approved by
the independent non-executive Directors (excluding any
independent non-executive Director who is the grantee of
the options).

Where any grant of share options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or
any of their respective associates, would result in the
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all share
options already granted and to be granted (including
share options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to
such person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in
issue; and

(d)
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(i) having an aggregate value, based on the official
closing price of the shares at the date of each
grant, in excess of HK$5.0 million,

such further grant of share options will be subject to the
issue of a circular by the Company and must be
approved by the shareholders in general meeting on a
poll. The grantee, his/her associates and all core
connected persons of the Company must abstain from
voting in favour at such general meeting.

Acceptance of an offer of share options

An share option shall be deemed to have been granted
and accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect
the duplicate offer document constituting
acceptances of the share options duly signed by the
grantee, together with a remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1 by way of consideration for the grant
thereof, is received by the Company on or before the
relevant acceptance date. To the extent that the offer to
grant a share option is not accepted by any prescribed
acceptance date, it shall be deemed to have been
irrevocably declined.

when

Performance target

A grantee may be required to achieve any performance
targets as the Board may then specify in the grant before
any share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme can be exercised.

Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any share option shall
be a price determined by the Board and notified to an
eligible participant (subject to any adjustments made
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Share Option
Scheme) which must be at least the higher of:

(i) the official closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the
date of grant, which must be a day on which the
Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing
in securities;
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(h)

U]

(i) the average of the official closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant; or

(iiiy  the nominal value of the shares.

Ranking of shares

The shares to be allotted upon the exercise of a share
option will be subject to all the provisions of the articles
of association for the time being in force and will rank
pari passu in all respects with and shall have the same
voting, dividend, transfer and other rights. Shares issued
on the exercise of a share option shall not rank for any
rights attaching to the shares by reference to a record
date preceding the date of allotment.

The shares to be allotted upon the exercise of a share
option will not carry voting rights until completion of the
registration of the grantee (such other person nominated
by the grantee) as the holder thereof.

Life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a period of 10 years from 20 December 2018 (being the
Listing Date), after which no further options shall be
offered but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme
shall in all other respects remain in full force and effect to
the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any
share options granted prior thereto or otherwise as may
be required in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme. Share options granted prior
thereto but not yet exercised shall continue to be valid
and exercisable in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme.

During the period from the Listing Date to the date of this
annual report, no option was granted under the Share
Option Scheme.
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EEgRE®E) oS
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER FERRRHEMA T RKR GO R IEE
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT BREOPHEZRRE
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES
Save as disclosed below, so far as known to the Directors and B FXFTHEEBEEN  BEERARAETEBITH

chief executive of the Company, as at 31 December 2018, the
following persons or corporations (other than our Directors and
chief executive of our Company) who had interest and/or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the ordinary shares of the Company

Name of substantial shareholder

Nature of interest

ANEBFTAl - R2018F12A318 » A AT 8%
B(RMWESERARAEZTBHABRINR
KRR MDIAEERNDFHEEREZES R
HE M EXVERFE2 R E3D WG M AR
RIEBENEER AR RSN E S &

BIRPIFEICHEREATHFENECMOER
REHKBIT -
ARAREBRRNEFR
Approximate
Number percentage
of ordinary of issued

share capital of
the Company!®

shares held or
interested in

FRr#E =R LER N
BEREREN ERITRAEHN
TERRER HE EEME ZER%ER BAE Do
Fortune Speed Investments Limited™ Beneficial owner 562,500,000 75.0%
A REFR A A EaERAA
Winnermax Management Limited Interest in a controlled 562,500,000 75.0%
corporation
EHEREBRAAD REZEHEBE R
Happy Family Assets Limited™ Interest in a controlled 562,500,000 75.0%
corporation
FEREERR AR REZEHZBE#R
East Asia International Trustees Limited™  Trustee of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
East Asia International Trustees Limited®  {S3E =5 A
Ms. Wang Kam Chu® Interest of spouse 562,500,000 75.0%
Wang Kam Chu% £@ B B =
Ms. Wong Wai Ling® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
FE®RRKLO BEEX@m A
Mr. Wong Ting Kau® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%

FTREXRFEY ErEXm A
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Name of substantial shareholder

Nature of interest

Number

of ordinary
shares held or
interested in

Approximate
percentage

of issued

share capital of
the Company©

sl EA 2 F
BERRZD ERITRAK
TERRER BE EEME EEREAE L F SR A
Mr. Wong Ting Chun® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
TEAELLEO SREX@m A
Mr. Wong Wai Wing, Raymond® Beneficiary of a trust 562,500,000 75.0%
TEELELEO BErEX@mA
Ms. Chan Ka Wai®" Interest of spouse 562,500,000 75.0%
Chan Ka Waizz £+ e B4
Ms. Tsoi Suet Ngai® Interest of spouse 562,500,000 75.0%
Tsoi Suet NgaiZzz +® Bl (B =
Ms. Kwan Ying Tsi, Catherine® Interest of spouse 562,500,000 75.0%

Kwan Ying Tsi, CatherineZz +©

Notes:

Fic B # 2

)

Fortune Speed Investments Limited is a company wholly owned
by Winnermax Management Limited, which is in turn wholly
owned by Happy Family Assets Limited, a company wholly
owned by East Asia International Trustees Limited.

East Asia International Trustees Limited is the trustee of Happy
Family Trust, a trust established by Mr. Wong Ting Chung as the
settlor. Accordingly, each of Happy Family Assets Limited, East
Asia International Trustees Limited and Winnermax Management
Limited, is deemed to be interested in the 562,500,000 shares
held by Fortune Speed Investments Limited under the SFO.

) Ms. Wang Kam Chu is the spouse of Mr. Wong Ting Chung and
is therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held, directly
or indirectly, by Mr. Wong Ting Chung under the SFO.

3) Ms. Wong Wai Ling, spouse of Mr. Lau Ka Keung, is one of the

beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and therefore she is
deemed to be interested in the shares held by the Happy Family
Trust under the SFO.

B AE
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East Asia International Trustees Limited 2 kZ
RIEE (B EEREEIEAR T ABIMHER)
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(4)  Mr. Wong Ting Kau, brother of Mr. Wong Ting Chung, is one of
the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and therefore he is
deemed to be interested in the shares held by the Happy Family
Trust under the SFO.

(5)  Mr. Wong Ting Chun, brother of Mr. Wong Ting Chung, is one
of the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and therefore he
is deemed to be interested in the shares held by the Happy
Family Trust under the SFO.

(6)  Mr. Wong Wai Wing, Raymond, brother of Mr. Wong Ting Chung,
is one of the beneficiaries of the Happy Family Trust and
therefore he is deemed to be interested in the shares held by
the Happy Family Trust under the SFO.

(7)  Ms. Chan Ka Wai is the spouse of Mr. Wong Ting Kau and is
therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held, directly or
indirectly, by Mr. Wong Ting Kau under the SFO.

(8)  Ms. Tsoi Suet Ngai is the spouse of Mr. Wong Ting Chun and is
therefore deemed to be interested in the shares held, directly or
indirectly, by Mr. Wong Ting Chun under the SFO.

(99 Ms. Kwan Ying Tsi, Catherine is the spouse of Mr. Wong Wai
Wing, Raymond and is therefore deemed to be interested in the
shares held, directly or indirectly, by Mr. Wong Wai Wing,
Raymond under the SFO.

(10)  The calculation is based on the total number of issued ordinary
shares of 750,000,000 shares as at 31 December 2018.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2018 or subsisted as at 31 December
2018.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.
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~ Directors’ Report (Continued)
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31
December 2018.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2018, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries, has purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE
COMPANY'’S INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The net proceeds from the Listing amounted to approximately
HK$190.8 million after deducting the underwriting commission
and other fees and expenses paid by the Company for the
Listing. Up to the date of this report, HK$100 million,
representing 52.4% of the net proceeds from the Listing, were
used to repay the pre-IPO loan as disclosed in the Prospectus.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefits schemes participated by the
Group are set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 28 to 38 of this annual report.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION BY

BAND

The remuneration of the Company’s senior management,
whose biography are set out on pages 29 to 31 and 35 to 38
of this annual report, for the year ended 31 December 2018 is
set out below:
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles as set out in the CG
Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The Board
is of the view that the Company is in compliance with the
mandatory code provisions of the CG Code for the year ended
31 December 2018.

For details of the Corporate Governance Report, please refer to
pages 39 to 52 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, it is
confirmed that there is sufficient public float of the Company’s
issued shares since the Listing Date up to the date of this
annual report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) for
the year ended 31 December 2018 is scheduled to be held on
3 June 2019. A notice convening the AGM will be issued and
disseminated to the Company’s shareholders in due course.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to implement policies in environmental
protection in order to conserve natural resources. The Group
strives to minimise the Group’s environmental impact through
reducing electricity and water consumption and encouraging
recycle of office supplies and other materials. The Group is also
committed to ensure that the Group is in strict compliance with
the applicable environmental laws and regulations of the
relevant jurisdictions.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company strives to balance business growth with
environmental protection.

As the major businesses of the Group are property sales and
development in China, the Group (i) evaluates, manages and
mitigates from time to time environmental issues within the
context of the Group’s business activities and objectives for the
conservation of energy and other natural resources; (i) devises
environmental policies and measures for the Group so as to
keep them in line with the standards required under the
applicable laws, rules and regulations to the extent practicable;
and (i) applies the Group’s philosophy on environment
protection to the Group’s supply chain and operations. These
include but not limited to the scrutiny in the selection of the
Group’s business partners or services providers and award the
bids of construction and other projects of which the Group is
involved to reputable and environmentally-conscientious
corporations and contractors with good compliant and
environmental records.

The Group has also implemented energy saving practices in the
workplace through (i) appropriately designing, constructing,
maintaining and, if required, modifying facilities wherever
applicable; (i) using or to replacing gradually existing
appliances with more energy efficient appliances for lighting,
heating and ventilation systems to reduce energy consumption
and (i) raising awareness of environmental protection at
workplace.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board is not
aware of any material breach or non-compliance with relevant
local laws and regulations which have a significant impact on
the Group’s business.
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WORKPLACE QUALITY

The management of the Group believes that employees
constitute one of the valuable assets of the Group and regard
human resources as the Group’s corporate wealth. The Group
offers employees with competitive remuneration packages and
provides additional bonus in accordance with their performance
and contributions to the growth and development of the Group.
The Group provides on-the-job training and development
opportunities to enhance employees’ career progression, these
training programs cover different areas such as management
skills, sales and production, and other courses relating to the
Group and the industry.

The Group is dedicated to promoting equal opportunities for all
of the employees and do not discriminate on the basis of
personal characteristics. All employees are assessed based on
their ability, performance and contribution, irrespectively of their
nationality, race, religion, gender, age or family status. The
Group has employee handbooks outlining terms and conditions
of employment, employees’ rights and benefits, duties and
responsibilities, conducts and behavior.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group is committed to the health and safety of our
employees and provides a safe and effective working
environment. The Group pledges full compliance with all
occupational health and safety legislation. The Group values the
health and well-being of the employees. The Group supply free
first-aid kits and medicine to the employees and they are
entitled to medical insurance benefits.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group is committed to the professional and personal
development and growth of employees and considers
development and training as a continual process. The Group
offers and encourages employees at all levels to participate in
various internal and external courses in order to promote the
advancement of their job-related skills. The Group’s employees
are provided with fair opportunities for adequate learning,
trainings and promotions.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group maintains solid and steady relationship with its
customers and provides products which satisfy their needs and
requirements. The Group enhances the relationship by
continuous interaction with customers to gain insights on
market demand and consumer needs so that the Group could
respond proactively. The Group also maintains close
relationship with its suppliers. This leads to a high degree of
cooperative development and enables the Group to deliver the
high-quality solutions as required and expected by the Group’s
customers.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by KPMG who
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as the Company’s

auditor will be proposed for shareholders’ approval at the
AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Wong Ting Chung
Chairman

26 March 2019
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Enwronmental Somal and Governance Report

CHBREARE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This is the first Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
Report of Million Cities Holdings Limited (“Million Cities”,
“Company”, “we” and “our”), and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”). We hereby presents the ESG Report to disclose
ESG related matters that are relevant to the Group’s business
and have material impacts on the environment and society for
the year ended 31 December 2018 (the “Reporting Period”).
Unless otherwise stated, the Reporting Period is from 1
January 2018 to 31 December 2018.

Million Cities focuses on developing affordable, luxury,
residential, complex and integrated properties in Huizhou, the
Greater Bay Area and locations in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) which we consider with potential growth. The
Group also engages in property investment business in the
PRC. Beyond the delivery of quality properties, we continue to
serve our customers by offering innovative and customer-
oriented products as well as expanding the diversity of
properties to be developed.

The Group is committed to improving our ESG performance by
upholding good corporate governance standards, protecting
our environment, engaging the community and promoting social
integration. The board of directors (the “Board”) is responsible
for overseeing our ESG strategy and reporting.

The ESG report of the Group has been prepared in compliance
with the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” set forth in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited and based on actual conditions of the
Company. We have identified relevant ESG issues and assess
their materiality on our businesses as well as on our
stakeholders, through reviewing our operations and holding
internal discussions. Adhering to the reporting principles of
materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency, this report
aims at sharing our performance in aspect of sustainable
development and summarising our efforts made on
sustainability for the year ended 31 December 2018. Our
reporting boundary is limited to, Hong Kong and the PRC
unless otherwise specified.
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The Board has approved the content of the ESG report. For
details of environmental and corporate governance, please refer to
the official website of the Group (http://www.millioncities.com.cn)
and the annual report. We value your feedback regarding the
review and our overall sustainability practices. Please provide your
comments by email to ir@millioncities.com.hk.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL
A1 Emissions

We are committed to the long term sustainability of
the environment and communities in which we
operate. The Group has established relevant
procedures to detect and prevent any possible
pollution incidents which affect the surrounding
environment that may occur in the course of our
business operations. During the year ended 31
December 2018, we measured and managed our
environmental performance in several aspects
throughout our operations.

For the Group’s property development businesses,
we understand there are environmental emissions
such as air emissions and waste water discharges,
general waste and hazardous waste disposals. The
emissions and waste produced at property
development constructions sites are managed by the
construction contractors as stipulated on the
agreement with the contractors. The Group does not
have any direct control over the above mentioned
emissions. Having considered the environmental
impact on the construction contractor’s operations,
we have required construction contractors to comply
with relevant laws and regulations and we monitor
the ESG performance of construction contractors
closely, especially on regulatory compliance.

RRE HEgREAWMENATEKESTIH
o HRRBEROCEEANFBAEL2MAEE
#9 ¥k (http://www.millioncities.com.cn) & £ # °
BMER ETHABRERMBEEFER
BREIEMER . BTABFEREHR=
ir@millioncities.com.hk °

A. RIE
A1 BERK

BB IREMEEMEHHIRE
RtEHRAANHEERR A& H
EHERBRSF - A B R IE
MAERBEMEBEERIERES
M EerERABRENSLEH-
H ZE2018F 128318 IEF & - F 1M
BREENZ HTEYRRREAED
AR ERE-

AKENMEERMS KR
FRE TS A RE P00 BE SR P &%
KT —REYMREZENE
B  MEBERBEMBFNNER
MEMHZEABEHRREABR
MpEREER - NEBEY bk
PR 8 AT ) B 4% Il 4 o IR BIR
BHERACHLENTE BN
EXREEABRHETHERBIIRZX
B UENERZEABRNR
BoHekEARRR LEREE
BRI -

2018F F i « BWIERER AR 75 «K——

«



—>> 76

2>

The Group encourages and requires the construction
contractors to implement the following environmental
protection measures within the construction site
areas with a view to reducing the impacts on
emissions, effectively managing the air emissions
and ensuring in compliance with relevant rules and
regulations:

— entrusting professional firms to formulate soil
and water conservation plans and monitoring
procedures, and to conduct project inspection
and acceptance prior to completion of the
development project;

— promoting green construction and reducing the
use of resources and the impact of
construction activities on the environment
through scientific management and
technological advancement;

— effectively reducing energy consumption
through the regional sunshine planning, district-
wide ventilation planning, noise reduction and
noise reduction design;

—  taking measures such as soil cover and sprinkle
water to reduce dust pollution at the project
construction site; and

— setting up a vehicle washing pool near the gate
of construction sites to ensure that
transportation vehicles do not carry sediment
and dust when leaving the construction sites.

Apart from strictly requesting our construction
contractors to follow with the environmental
protection controls, the Group also engaged the
engineering supervision companies to conduct on-
site inspections on a regular basis.
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Air emissions

The Group’s air emissions generated mainly from
gasoline consumption of the Group’s vehicles that
used for employee transportation in 2018 are as
follows:

Air emissions

SR B
AEBR018FFEHRHEERBRE
B OH FE T M EE £ R EE RBE BRI
T~

Unit 2018
B 20184

BER BN

Nitrogen oxidex (“NOXx”) AElym((REty])
Sulphur oxidex (“SOx”) matym(Tmaltyl)
Particulate matters (“PM”) SRy (TR Y])

Greenhouse gas emissions and energy
conservation

The Group’s greenhouse gas emissions are mainly
from direct emissions from gasoline consumption of
the Group’s vehicles, indirect emissions generated
by using outsourced electricity and other indirect
emissions from air travel by employees. In line with
our policies to minimise air and greenhouse gas
emissions, the Group’s offices in most cities are
equipped with video and telephone conferencing
facilities to minimise the need for face to face
meetings and keep business travelling to a
minimum. For the unavoidable business trip, direct
flights are arranged to reduce air emissions. The
following table shows the figures of the Group’s
greenhouse gas emissions during the Reporting
Period.

Greenhouse gas
(“GHG”) emissions

Emissions tonnes M 3.79 x 10
Emissions tonnes M 1.06 x 10°®
Emissions tonnes M 2.83 x 102
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BEff 2018%F

BEREHEN

Direct emissions of GHG BEREBEEIEN
Indirect emissions of GHG BEREREEEN
Other indirect emissions of GHG 8 Z= & 52 H fb 5 2 BEBK

tCO,e B — A LiRE & 170.67
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Hazardous waste and construction waste
Proper storage and handling of any hazardous
waste and construction waste at the Group’s
construction sites are vital to us. Though the Group
do not directly handle the waste at site level, the
Group works closely with our construction
contractors to ensure these hazardous waste and
construction waste are properly managed and
disposed of.

During the Reporting Period, there was no incidence
of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
with significant impact on the environment and
natural resources relating to air and greenhouse gas
emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Use of resources

The Group does not engage in resources or energy
intensive business activities. Energy consumed by
the Group are mainly gasoline and electricity. In
2018, total direct energy consumption from the use
of gasoline was approximately 72,319.27 liters, and
the total indirect energy consumption from the use
of electricity was approximately 1,028,276.00 kWh.
Water usage for the Group’s daily operations and
office administration activities is minimal where the
Group’s total water consumption during the
Reporting Period was approximately 15,772.00 md.
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Types of resources Unit 2018
BRER B 20184
Gasoline 7 H liter F+ 72,319.27
Purchased electricity INEEEE kWh FE B 1,028,276.00
Tap water B KK mé 37 5 K 15,772.00
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The Group does not involve directly in the use and/
or purchase of package materials. The Group strives
to minimize the usage of materials during our daily

AEEYEEE S RBEMBNE
Ak/REE -AEEREREE
LEDRAOMHOER - TRIIR

operations. The following table shows the figures of AEEEBLENMBEREHST !
material consumption in the Group’s business

operations:

Material consumption Unit 2018
MORH #E By 20184

Paper consumption AR tonnes A 4.11

The environment and natural resources A3 RERBARER

The Group’s business activities has no direct and
significant impacts on environment and natural
resources. The Group is committed to using natural
resources wisely and efficiently and we encourage
the reuse and recycling of materials within our
operations. In property development projects, the
Group take into consideration of resource-efficient
designs such as the use of LEDs and the adoption
of energy-efficient appliances, as well as water-
efficient fixtures including faucets and water closets.
In our offices, we have adopted a number of eco-
friendly measures to promote efficient use of
resources and energy conservation:

—  Switch off lights and air-conditioning in rooms
not in use;

— Switch office equipment and electronic
appliances to energy saving mode;

—  Set air-conditioning at an optimal temperature;
—  Pre-set printers to two-sided printing mode and
post paper-saving reminders near photocopy

machines; and

—  Promote reuse and recycle of paper by placing
recycling boxes in the office.

2018F F# « BWILERER AR

AEENEBEHHRENARE
RYBEERBEATE -ANEENN
RERERERaNERL BN
BEPREENRLE WM K&
BRMEEREBTERERGLD
B ET - a0 {E FLEDSE - BE R 7 49
AU K E f 7k BE 9B B /K B R F A K
HE - HMRPRAEARRIE TR
R (REEIRN SR A KL ED
HIBETR

- RTEREREHAEANRRERZE

e
on| .

— BHOETRBRERDE6HE
e
~ BEARZEEAE

—  BITEIETER A EETEIE R
I F£ 468 EN# 55 5R Rh BT 40 4 9k 12
AR

—  RRAIERNRERWRAHENLEE
BN A N B GR o

«

79 «K—



—>>

80

Ziﬁ%& =)

2>

Meanwhile, the Group recognises that businesses
must take responsibility for their industry’s effects on
the environment and we should bear the
responsibilities and fulfill the obligations of protecting
them and making appropriate use.

Sustainable building philosophy

Green building

Green building is a trend of construction and is one
of our construction project design philosophies. The
Group engaged qualified third party designers to
provide greenery design for several development
projects, with the aim of (i) promoting building
efficiency in terms of energy, water and materials,
etc.; (i) constructing environmentally sound
properties with less carbon and energy footprint;
and (i) comply with the environmental-related
regulatory standards, if necessary.

The Group has made efforts to add green elements
to its buildings to reduce the environmental impact
and improve environmental quality, such as using
reusable construction materials, maximizing the
green area in the properties etc.. The Group strives
to comply with the Assessment Standard for Green
Building ((#k & # % ¥ {8 £ %)) and one
development project was awarded with the One Star
Certificate of Green Building Design Label ((—£ &
MERERABEEES)).
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Sponge City

“Sponge City” is a modern stormwater management
approach to help solve drainage problems, fully
utilise land resources and promote sustainable
development. The Group has adopted the “Sponge
City” concept in its development projects for more
effective drainage and rainwater reuse. The Group
builds green sponge facilities to prevent
waterlogging after storms and effectively collect and
utilise rainwater resource.

Conservation of water and soil

Soil and water conservation is a sustainable and
poverty-oriented natural resource management. We
have commissioned qualified third party units to
prepare reports on soil and water conservation
programs, so as to assess soil erosion during our
construction of basement and ground buildings. The
Group continuously enhances its construction
direction to the conservation to sustain the utilization
of natural resources for the benefit of the people
and the environment.

The Group is committed to applying industry best
practices and compliance with legislation,
establishing and reviewing safety, security and
environment objectives and targets, using energy
and materials efficiently and reducing waste and
emissions and communicating the Group’s
environmental protection policy to all staffs.
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Employees are the most valuable assets of the
Group. The Group strives to attract and retain
talents and reconcile economical imperatives with
well-beings, aiming at reinforcing satisfaction, loyalty
and commitment of human capital.

The Group has adopted comprehensive human
resources manual which includes policies and
procedures applicable to staff. All employees are
treated fairly in regards to recruitment, training and
development, appraisal of work performance,
promotions, rest periods, remuneration and benefits.
Staff dismissals are based on the Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of Laws of Hong Kong) or
relevant local laws and regulations, as well as the
requirements stipulated in the employment
contracts.

The Group is committed to providing equal
opportunity for all employees and applicants without
regard to race, color, religion, national origin, sex,
age, marital status, sexual orientation, disability,
political affiliation, personal appearance, family
responsibilities, matriculation or any other
characteristic protected under local law.

The Group create an excellent and comfortable
working environment. Based on the features of the
principal business, the Group set appropriate
working hours and rest breaks for all staff members.
The Group also provided paid annual leave, marriage

leave, maternity leave, casual leave and
compassionate leave in addition to statutory
holidays.

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018

BETINAKERBEENEE A%
BHAOWSIRBEAS L FEHE
BT E R AR SR ERARAL - IAB AT
BERNmEE - BHERIRA -

AEBRAZENADERTFMH
BREBREINBERRERF M
EETHRRE HIIRER  TF
R G IR = A 8 D&
MEPESRFHF - BEBIHE
REREDI BE7E R FE DI A
R R R DI MR A KR E S

B3R

REBHNBMAEEIRKBER
HrERE M IimEk B
RECBEE MR FERBEM
A EEUR  BK  BURIK R &
A& - REEE  BEHMITE
RIRERNER E AT

AEHZEBRTENTIFRER
%#z%%%m%% $%@E%

iy A f%/zE;E{ExEI 4 Z!KE‘EIJHE
HEFFR BER - ER BRES

R K BAM AR °



As at 31 December 2018, the Group employed 154 2018512 HA31H  AEE A LB

staffs in total. Workforce statistic by gender, age F154%1EE - =Rl - FiR - X 1B
group, employment type and employment category A REARE DSBS B AT
are disclosed as following table: HFTFHEERT R :

Staff Number

EI¥H
2018
2018
Breakdown by gender &1 5 &5
Employees — Female BB — it 71
Employees — Male EE — 51 83
Break down by age group RERARE D
Employees Aged <30 & B F R <380p% 61
Employees Aged 30-50 & B F #30-5073% 83
Employees Aged 50 & B F # >505% 10
Breakdown by employment type EEEEBES
Employees — Full-time EE — 28 154
Employees — Part-time BE — FB 0
Break down by employment category BZEHARE D
Employees — Management BE — 8 11
Employees — Manager EE — K18 29
Employees — General BB — —& 114
The Group is committed to complying with relevant AEEBNETEARETFEBLR
labour standards and employment laws and B SBIZEMERFERERBRG -
regulations which are applicable to our business. WEHHE AKEHET Y HIE
During the Reporting Period, no material and BEEMERUD -

significant disputes between the Group and the
employees were occurred.

20184 F# « BWIERBR AT 83 «——
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Health and safety

Ensuring health and safety of our employees is one
prime responsibilities. The Group is
committed to provide a workplace free from injury
and illness through effective procedures and practice
on occupational health and safety. The Group pays
great attention to the safety of construction sites
and strictly require the construction contractors to
be responsible for workers’ safety. As a responsible
property developer, the Group makes sure that the
construction contractors comply with the standards
and regulations for safe production and civilized
construction of the project, and clearly require the
construction contractors to provide site workers with
safety equipment and to check whether the
construction personnel are wearing such equipment
at all times.

of our

During the Reporting Period, the Group ensures full
compliance with relevant occupational health and
safety legislations of Hong Kong, the PRC, and other
relevant legislations. No severe injury or fatality was
reported throughout the Reporting Period.

Development and training

The management acknowledges that continuous
staff training and development helps to improve the
efficiency and productivity in the Group. The Group
provided employees with training and development
courses which cover various areas, including
orientation, leadership and management skills,
marketing skills, legislations updates, etc. with the
aim of improving employees’ efficiency, knowledge
and skills for discharging their duties at work.
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B4

During the Reporting Period, the development and
training statistic by gender and employment category
are disclosed in following table:

WE MR R RZEARE D
MR MBS B FRBER T

Training Hours

B 9| B
2018
20184
Breakdown by gender % 1 Bl &l 2
Employees — Female B8 — &Mt 120
Employees — Male B8 — 31 224
Break down by employment category EZEARNE S
Employees — Manager EE — &K1 112
Employees — General BEE — — & 232
Labor standards B4 BIEE

The Group prohibits the use of child labor and
forced or compulsory labor at all its units and
suppliers. No employee is made to work against
his/her will or work as forced labor, or subject to
corporal punishment or coercion of any type related
to work.

The Group has zero-tolerance to employment of
child labor and forced labor by our construction
contractors. The Group is not aware of any non-
compliance with relevant rules and regulations on
preventing child or forced labor.

2018F F# « BWILERER AR
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B5 Supply chain management

B6

2>

The Group has established a contract policy and
corresponding evaluation procedures to govern the
selection of suppliers and construction contractors.
To ensure product and service quality, and to
manage environmental and social risks in supply
chain, the Group only engages suppliers and
construction contractors with licenses that are
granted by relevant regulators or government
authorities. The obligations of suppliers and
construction contractors with respect to
environmental protection and compliance with
relevant safety laws and regulations are clearly
stated in signed contracts.

Commitment to product responsibility
Product quality is one of our major concerns as we
aim at providing the best quality products to our
clients. The Group has strictly complies with the
Construction Law of the People’s Republic of China
and other national laws and regulations and industry
standards. The Group closely monitors the property
development projects at every stage and our project
engineers regularly inspect the building materials and
construction works so as to ensure the constructors
strictly abide by the relevant national laws and
regulations to construct reasonable quality and
safety building and meet the acceptable reliability
level. The Group has entered into contracts with
construction contractors to obtain indemnity
agreements and their commitment to carry out
operational and quality assurance activities, and to
comply with regulatory requirements. We require
construction contractors to immediately resolve any
defects or non-compliance incidences, where
necessary. The Group has also established property
acceptance procedures to ensure that the
properties are ready for delivery to our customers in
pursuant to the sales agreements. The Group
recognises the importance of advertising, labelling
and privacy matters related to products and services
provided by the Group. The Group has established
relevant policies to ensure compliance with
applicable laws and regulations and to fulfill its
corporate responsibility towards the customers.
During the Reporting Period, there was no case of
non-compliance with laws and regulations in relation
to product responsibility within the headquarters and
offices of the Group.

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018

B5

B6

>>

HEEERE
AEBEETAHMEMABEFTE
B EEHEBREEEAEEDN
BT - AEREMERBEE N
LEEBHEEANRE LR
S AEEEREEABETHE
BT EBPI I R R A v S i
EEDH HENKEERABPRAER
RRLKFGEHEBLZEEERERD
EEERERITNEHPEIR-

EmBEE A
mEEERMEINENRZ —
BB REFREREEMNE
an e ARBBARBTHEARKM
B AR EMEBEAREATER
o AEBEBYVERMEERIER
W& E R MBI E Ti26D
RERCEEYHLEETIE  #
REBBEBETERNEEX
B 2EeEmENREMNEE.
EF A EIMAEKE - AEEE
HEEABREAMNAKN  ABERE
Bz LA BBYETEERME
TREE R BB T BB HE R AR
AT B K2 58 B BV By BROR (AR
REEETEREH(WELE) - K
SENEEYYMERYWIERF - BR
MEARBEHEEBZEINTER -
AEBPAFERNEBFAREERK
REEENES RELRLEEE
THEZE -AEECDH EHBEK
REREBTERERENER A
BITEBEFPNERET NBRE
HiF AEEERLERERYLE
ERAEEREMTHIER -



B7

B8

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to maintaining high
standard of integrity when doing business as we
strongly believe that it is essential to meeting the
expectations of our stakeholders.

The Group promotes integrity and prevents unethical
pursuits. The Group has implemented an effective
whistle-blowing policy for reporting fraud, corruption,
bribery, extortion and money laundering. We
encourage the reporting of suspected business
irregularities and provide clear channels specifically
for this purpose. When suspected wrongdoings are
identified, such as breach of duty, abuse of power,
receiving bribes, staff should report to the Board for
investigation and verification, and report to the
regulator and/or to law enforcement authority when
necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there are
no concluded legal cases regarding corruption
brought against the Group or its employees during
the Reporting Period.

Community investment

The Group encourages staff to take part in
community welfare and voluntary work and our
Directors actively maintain communication with non-
governmental organizations to understand
community needs for the sake of fulfilling its
responsibility and giving back to the society.

The Group made a donation of approximately
RMBO0.9 million to support the community services
and charitable activities arranged by non-profit
organisations during the Reporting Period.

B7

B8
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In addition, the Group also participated in the AN REBE T2 HE T EEEE
following charitable events and volunteering EEIEH:
activities:
Activity Organization Our support
& B A BN R

Strive for Success —
Student Exchange and
Internship Programme

Home Affairs Department
Tuen Mun District; and

REREHEZFLME: K&

in July 2018
2018 7AW A #1— Tuen Mun Districts Youth
BERXRERERED Programme Committee

EREREFEHEES

Youth Basketball Game
in September 2018
2018F9H B F &£ IKE

Tonggiao Community
EEEE

Race to Feed in
November 2018
2018F 11 A& B) A

Heifer Hong Kong
b NN

Heyuan International People’s Government of

Marathon in December Heyuan

2018 AR AR B
2018F12 A B 17 #) AR

BI85 SRR/

Annual Fight Crime
Carnival in December

Tuen Mun District Fight
Crime Committee

2018 THREERETZES
2018F 12 H BT R IF
=FE
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The Group participated the “Strive for
Success” programme to support the youth
development.

AEEZ2ERDEN]EIUAKEFER

The Group sponsored the gifts to support the
community sports.
AEEENERUIBEHERE D
Sponsored the charity run and made a
donation of HK$100,000; and
BEZEE N - 853100,0008 T &

Our employees joined and completed the
Individual 10k Run and 1k x 5 Relay.

BMOWEIZ2ETKEAORERBEERIA
Ex s NE-

Employees actively participated in the
marathon.

BEEB2EFNR -

Participated in the carnival, which aims to
disseminate fight crime message.

SHEZFE SEEEITBLRENESR -



Activity Organization

Our support

EE A& BMHXF
Flag-selling activity in Tuen Mun District The Group supported the flag-selling activities
December 2018 Women’s Association and contributed to women’s development
2018F 12 AT EE P and poverty alleviation.
& B FEEXHEELTY REXBRRKEE

The Group has been honored with numerous
commendations. These provide evidence of the
Group’s commitment to fulfilling its social
responsibility and supporting the development of the
community through its services.

Name of award

Y
AEBCDEZEEERE BHTAE

EiEARGETHEEEL LR
R B R e

Organisation

RIEFELW EER -

—  Tianjin Customer Choice Honour Award in 2018 LEJU
018FEMBRMEF EHE 2z

—  Best-selling Property Development Award in 2018 LEJU
018F HEESEER 2z

—  Popular Property Development Award in 2018 LEJU
2018F 5 tH B miZ & 2z

—  Gold Quality Regional Landmark Property in 2018 Southern Metropolis Daily
2018F e mE & Hi iR g8 7 #B TR

20184 F# « BWIERBR AT 890 <«——
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Independent Audit
B % RS

KPMG

Independent auditor’s report to the directors of
Million Cities Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Million Cities Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 101 to 243, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2018, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2018 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional

judgement,

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming

were of most significance in our audit of the

eport (Continued

%{Eﬂi#& (#)

¥& 3 %

Ny

BREFTEE

MR EFTFHIRERMANERHE  RRY
TG AMBRENBARR/EENFTR &
LEERERMETBEERAMBERR LG
ARRFETREN - HMTSHELFREE
HEBHER -

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Revenue from the sale of properties recognised over time

BHBBRIMEHERA

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(t)(i)

7B 2RI & BT TR & I a4 R W 7 2(0)() 89 & &1 B
The Key Audit Matter
BRESEE

Revenue from the sale of properties recognised over
time for the year ended 31 December 2018 totalled
RMB321 million, which accounted for 57% of the
Group’s total revenue for the year.

HZE2018F12A31 B L FE R BHEERNYMEHE R
ARBARBRIAET 1§ EEEFERKRAST% -

Revenue arising from the sale of properties is
recognised over time when the Group’s performance
under a sale and purchase agreement does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date; otherwise, the
revenue is recognised at a point in time, being when
control over a property has been transferred to the
customer.

E BESERBEERZEALEARY E5EM
SEHEMARCEER BEEBARHITENKEE
SRIEETKELN 2 KIE - AISHEMEMRGEWRA AR
HERER: DR WARDENZEGIRERZEERPH
R B TR o

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMWEFONEEZSE

Our audit procedures to assess revenue from the sale
of properties recognised over time included the
following:
BPTARPEAERYEHERANEZEFBE A
T

° assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over the recognition of revenue on the sale of
properties;
FHEEYEHE W AR B AN RBRABZESE
&at - B MEEFEB B RL

o assessing whether the proceeds from pre-sales of
property had been received by comparing the
amounts receivable for a sample of signed sale
and purchase agreements with bank statements
and assessing whether the related revenue
should have been recorded in the current period
or should have been deferred as contract
liabilities from pre-sale of properties;

tl:s,*i_E s EEEWE 7F$E’JFEH5( KA B IR 1T 4
CRHEMEEE G SR B WA - I RY

ﬁifﬁ E%Hﬁz)\ﬁ’?ﬁ“EBAKHHEEWX%Z@L%%E%%
E:0R= R ONEREE
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Revenue from the sale of properties recognised over time

BHERIMEHEERA

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(t)(i)

BRI E B EE N T4 R B iE20)0)80 & 5 BR

The Key Audit Matter
HREEITSBE

For the revenue from sales of properties recognised
over time, the Group recognises revenue by
measuring the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation at the reporting date,
using cost-to-cost method based on the proportion of
the Group’s actual costs incurred relative to the
estimated total costs.
HRIZHHERROMEEERA - EEERAXR
LEOEER EEBEEEABERKAIGEMEKAD
Ll EHREBEETE TRBEOE EHHEEMER
WA °

Payments received in respect of pre-sale of properties
prior to the date of revenue recognition are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position as
contract liabilities.
WRERABHAANEREC RN REBEREGHNEE
FAREBRAE -
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BPWETOMEEZSEE

inspecting the key terms of sale and purchase
agreements, on a sample basis, to assess
whether the Group has the right to payment for
performance completed based on the contract
terms;

MEREEBHRARGERIATE EXKERSE
B R T AR BE 190 % 16 SRR Bt ST A B B 49 1 W B ROE

obtaining the opinion of the Group’s legal counsel,
in particular, the legal counsel’s interpretation of
the applicable laws and their implication on the
assessment of the enforceability of the right to
payment;

BE BEEEZEZEBHRANERE FHR@ANE
FEMUERNEZEZNBRELREY EEETH
TONRBRENTE

assessing the competence, experience and
objectivity of the legal counsel engaged by the
Group;
A BEEBEEFNEFZERNEN  BRNE
Bt

for those properties under development for sale
with revenue recognised over time, discussing
with management, on a sample basis, the
development progress of the projects and
challenging management’s development budgets
reflected in the latest forecasts with reference to
signed construction contracts and/or unit
construction costs of recently completed projects
developed by the Group;

HRWARAERANERTELEDE  MEKHE
EREENWERER W2R SEEMHER
MRTHEAZEEBRESOR B EEX
N BHEBBESOPHEINMRMNERES
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Revenue from the sale of properties recognised over time

RUNEBRINEERERA

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(t)(i)

BB A& B TE IR M a4 R B i 20)()8) & 5 R

The Key Audit Matter
BREHER

We identified recognition on the sale of
properties over time as a key audit matter because
revenue is one of the key performance indicators of the
Group and significant to the consolidated financial
statements, and because it involves significant
accounting judgement and estimates, to assess
whether the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date and to measure the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation, all of which give rise to an
inherent risk that revenue could be recorded in the
incorrect period or could be subject to manipulation to
meet expectations or targets.

BB RAEERMEHERAERBAREFFE
THRKRAZ EXENERENIER — HEEH
BRERTHDEZ  THNFREANGHE LA B
Al EEEEREAAMITEMNKEES ®RIEE TK
BAMPzRERGETEBITRBNETZER - I
FRREVGEEEARR S WAF RS EE N ER
BEARE - kAl Re A ERFE K B IR M X B -

revenue

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAWETOMERZSE

selecting samples from the total actual costs
incurred up to the reporting period end and
comparing them with the supporting documents
including underlying contracts, supplier invoices,
bank slips and the survey reports from external
supervising engineers, where applicable;

REZERERARCELENER A AT HMERERE
AXMLEE  FAXHBEEES R - (e
= RITER REAR N BRI IR TR A6 BE IR 3R

\|H:|

Iff

conducting site visits, on a sample basis, to
property development projects for which revenue
had been recognised in the current year and
discussing with site management to observe the
completion status; and
MERSRERFERARAS RO EERRA
BIYWETHERABTRERELOEIMAR
M

assessing the reasonableness of the basis of cost
allocation, checking the mathematical accuracy of
the calculation of cost allocation and percentage
of completion of the property projects.

AR ANEEENEEN  RENEADEHE
EEAERME R EBEERI X
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Assessing the net realisable value of inventories

AEFETRRFE

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(k).

BRRGEE N BHEEN T 17R M 720080 & 51 B F -

The Key Audit Matter
HREEITSBE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BPWETOMEEZSEE

As at 31 December 2018, the aggregate carrying value Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable value

of the Group’s properties held for development (“PHD”),

of inventories included the following:

properties under development (“PUD”) and completed H I EGFEE A ZRFENEFZREFBEIEAT

properties held for sale (together “inventories”) totalled
RMB1,672 million. These properties principally comprise
residential properties and car parking bays in Huizhou
and Tianjin.

2018F12A31H » EXERIEZRRNYE ([FHEERE
ME) REZODE((BRTPYE]) BFEEEE T
mE(GEIFEDNERAEETRARKI6T2EET
ZEVEFTERRBEMERENEEREES -

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. The calculation of the net realisable
value for each property development project at the

financial reporting date is performed by the
management.
FERRKAEABRFEZREENE - ERBEFE
MHEREEBEAYMEERBENAERFE-

The calculation of the net realisable value of inventories
involves significant management judgement and
estimation in preparing the updated costs to complete
each property development project for PHD and PUD as
well as in assessing the future selling prices for each
property development project (by reference to recent
sales transactions in nearby locations), the estimated
future selling costs and the relevant taxes.
HEAERNERFES N EREEARETHRSEFIER
FRMFEERRPYENTRIAR - ARG EEY
RIBEHARKREE2RBMOMRMIHEERS) K
PRALET S AR AR R B B R & K KT M AT e
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assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over the preparation and monitoring of
management budgets and forecasts of
construction and other costs for each property
development project;
TEARELERTEYEEREANEREE
1B AR N H 7R Y TR RN HE 1T BY BA 52 0 3D £
R B IEETENFRL

conducting site visits to property development
sites, on a sample basis, and discussing with
management the progress of each property
development project and the development
budgets reflected in the latest forecasts for each
property development project;
HYEREHRETHEENER  WREEE
AMEYMEERBENEENSYERRERR
BRI REAFERE

evaluating the valuation methodology adopted by
management for assessing the net realisable
value of inventories and comparing the key
estimates and assumptions adopted in the
valuations, including those relating to estimated
future selling prices with market available data
and the sales budget plans maintained by the
Group;

FEEREGAFENERFEMRANGES
FE oAU BEERPRKBNBERGANRR (BEE
ARG EBHR MR G NRRKR) ET5A
ERMAERMN EXEMNHEERENEETHR:



Assessing the net realisable value of inventories

HEFETRRFE

J8 3 % BLAD W = ()

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(k).

BRHGEEBHEEN T 17R M 720080 & 51 B F -

The Key Audit Matter
HREETSBE

We identified the assessment of net realisable value of
the Group’s inventories as a key audit matter because
of the significance of inventories to the Group’s total
assets and because of the inherent risks involved in
estimating the costs to complete each property
development project and the future selling prices for
each property development project, particularly in light
of the current economic circumstances and various
property market measures implemented in the cities
where the Group’s development projects are located.
BME EXEEFEFERFENNTGI BRI
BH ERNFEYE EEELEENEEN A
RARTEREMERRBENKNANTEZIMERR
BHENAREEFEEARR  KilEZEEE K
BRRELR BEEEREEAMENWMELDNSES
Y ET ISR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BAWETOMEREZSEE

comparing the estimated costs to complete each
property development project with the Group’s
latest budgets and comparing the costs incurred
to 31 December 2018 with budgets made at 31
December 2017 to assess the accuracy of
management’s forecasting and budgeting
process; and
BETKMEZRBANMAKRAE SEEEK
TEHEEITH R - WA E L2018 12A31H 2 E
HE R R AR E2017F 12 A31BE M TEH L& - 1A
AEERERANEERENERMT &

performing sensitivity analyses to determine the
extent of changes in key estimates and
assumptions that, either individually or
collectively, would be required for inventories to
be materially misstated and considering the
likelihood of such a movement in those key
estimates and assumptions arising.
ETERMESNT - AT ERMEANBRERERK
HAGRMEBEEENECEERGFEREE RS
W WERBERMEANBR LR AZL N A6
Mo
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Provision for land appreciation tax (“LAT”) in Mainland China

TR At Y SR E R ([ B ER) BB

Refer to notes 8 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting judgement and estimates

in note 3(b)(iii).

2 AN T8 - H1aE26K B 5E3(0)i) 79 & 71 H B 48 {2 5

The Key Audit Matter
BREETSEE

LAT in Mainland China is one of the main
components of the Group’s taxation charge.
PEAMEO T HIEENE EEEHEXHNHFEER
o

LAT is levied on sale of properties at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% based on the appreciation
of land value. At the end of each financial reporting
period, management estimates the LAT charge based
on its understanding and interpretation of the relevant
tax rules and regulations and the estimated total sales
of properties less total deductible expenditure, which
includes lease charges for land use rights, property
development costs, borrowing costs and development
expenditure. When the LAT is subsequently
determined, the actual payments may be different
from the estimates.
HEMEZTER L MIBERRRBEE R ER E0%E
BO% MM L IBER - EEEMBHREHAR BEE
ERBHEATGRAULROINIZRLREE  BitWE
HERBRETMEREEEH  MERBENAE
B FEERFAIHGR X L@ - (At Lithig
BERITH BEEBET T HIZERE  BEMNHKAE
BRI ET ©

We identified the provision for LAT in Mainland China
as a key audit matter because of its significance to
the consolidated financial statements and because the
estimated provisions for LAT are based on
management’s judgement and interpretation of the
relevant tax laws and regulations.

B E R TR ER RG] RERESAEE
THREIBEREEHGEVBRRONEEZNL - 75
HRTHIEENRNGAREATEBEYBEANGE AR
KO0 HI o & 2 R AT -
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

RPWETOMERZSE

Our audit procedures to assess the provision for LAT
in Mainland China included the following:
BAFEPEA T HIRETBRENEZETERE
AT

o assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over the calculation of the estimated LAT
provisions;

AT {7 BR Gt B 5 4 3t 3 (B 77 48 8 A [ 4 9 BT 42
R B EEEFTENERL

° engaging our internal taxation specialists to

evaluate the Group’s LAT provisions as at 31
December 2018 which involved challenging the
management’s assumptions and judgements
based on our experience, knowledge and
understanding of the practices of the application
of the relevant tax laws by the various local tax
bureaus;
MBARFABREEROIIE FE EEER
2018F12A3THM L BEMBE - BRENK
T80 48 B~ ARGk N 35 b B 75 44 A L AR R K T8

RHERRENER AREEEBNREKEH

il

o evaluating the management’s assumptions and
judgements based on our assessment of the
value of the estimated sales of properties and the
deductible expenditure; and
EREMENMIHEERAINR X BB -
AEBEEENMRRLAE &

° re-calculating the provisions for LAT and
comparing our calculations with the amounts
recorded by the Group.
BNAELHIRENEE  THRMANGESER
B SEEMIHENSELER -



INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the
annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

" Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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" Independent Auditor's Report Contived)
B A% AR S

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018
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o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the Group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee of the Company
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.

eport (Continued
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lee Wai Shun, Wilson.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

26 March 2019
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Consolldated Statement of Proflt or Loss

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AAR®3T)

2018 2017

20184 20174

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

B &E AR TR AR FT

Revenue A 4 567,827 973,093

Cost of sales 85 & B AR (305,001) (767,680)

Gross profit EF 262,826 205,413
Valuation gains on investment KEWMEMEBE RS

properties 13(a) 4,495 1,670

Other net income H AW A F 5 5 8,382 1,842

Selling expenses & F X (9,391) (21,379)

Administrative expenses THRAX (67,473) (38,904)

Other expenses Hap 6 (1,064) (6,702)

Profit from operations KE R 197,775 141,940

Finance costs B & Bk AR 7(a) (5,166) (219)

Share of profits less losses of FEAG Bt & & B)0& AR & 1B
associates (2,506) (252)
Share of profits less losses of EIEA &R alm AR & B

joint ventures (1,809) (82)
Profit before taxation B B A1 0% F 188,294 141,387
Income tax Frig®i 8(a) (110,475) (64,610)
Profit for the year FE=mA 77,819 76,777
Attributable to: DR & 7 A
Equity shareholders of the Company 7% /A &) #& 75 1% 5= 38,592
Non-controlling interests TR R 38,185
Profit for the year FERF 76,777
Basic and diluted earnings per share & % F A & # 58 & 7

(RMB cents) (AR#5) 11 6.86

The notes on page 108 to page 243 form part of these HF108F243B 2 it AZEZHBHREREH —
financial statements. 7 e
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Consolldated Statement of Profit o

(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AARYFR)

170

[ | 1}

accounted for using the equity method
Exchange differences on translation of
financial statements of Hong Kong and

overseas subsidiaries

BMERENREINNERE
MBRENEL ZH

Profit for the year FERF

Other comprehensive income FEHMEZENKE
for the year (after reclassification (REHD>ERE)
adjustments)

ltems that may be reclassified HEASEHHEZEZMIEAER -
subsequently to profit or loss:

The share of other comprehensive NEREARZEGEBERR
income of associates and joint ventures & & & A A H 2 E W=

Other comprehensive income

FEHM2EKE SR

Non-controlling interests

for the year, net of nil tax EFIE

Total comprehensive income FEXHKZHAEE
for the year

Attributable to: BT AL @15 :
Equity shareholders of the Company PIN/NESTR > £

FE¥E B 2

for the year

Total comprehensive income

FE2EHBHEAE

—>> 102
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The notes on page 108 to page 243 form part of these
financial statements.
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2018
20184
RMB’000
AR¥T T

77,819

(3,032)

(34,866)

(37,898)

r Loss and Other Comprehenswe Income

GeEEREMEE KRS X

2017
20174
RMB’000
AREETF T

76,777

2,756

44,253

47,009

123,786

70,668
53,118

123,786

%108i24352MTI%E%%W?T“?&?%E’J—*B
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Consolldated Statement of Financial Posmon

SE BRI K

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AAR¥EZIR)
2018 2017
20184 20174
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR® T AREET T
Non-current assets ERBEE

Property, plant and equipment Y BE REHE 12 58,898 61,582
Investment properties "EY 13 19,420 29,880
Interest in associates REtZE R R ERE 15 104,576 87,078
Interest in joint ventures REERAMEZR 16 63,997 43,956
Deferred tax assets BEETHIBEE 26(b) 1,087 1,352
247,978 223,848

Current assets REBEE
Inventories and other contract costs 17 & K& H fih & 4B A 17 1,688,275 1,267,255
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H A E W GRIE 19 175,925 214,677
Other financial assets EmemEE 20 - 40,000
Pledged and restricted deposits R Sl R R 21 487,013 27,519
Cash and cash equivalents HehIREEED 22 1,106,426 94,172
Prepaid tax SEERR ] 70,382 16,919
3,528,021 1,660,542
Non-current assets held for sale BIEREMNERDEE 23 4,224 -
3,532,245 1,660,542
Total assets HEE 3,780,223 1,884,390

Current liabilities REBEE
Bank loans RITER 24 548,414 299,317
Contract liabilities aHBEE 18 1,494,172 71,281
Trade and other payables B 5 N E b JE N 5R 25 664,928 1,183,671
Tax payable FE AR 18 26(a) 63,701 56,029
2,771,215 1,610,298

2018F F# « BWMIERBER AT
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(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AARYFR)

S | Lu

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
MEMBERARE)

2018

20184
Note RMB’000
B &E AR® TR

761,030

1,009,008

Net current assets RBEEFE

Total assets less current REERRBAE
liabilities

Non-current liabilities FRBEE

Other payables H th FE (< ;I8

Deferred tax liabilities

EERIBRE

25 71,253
26(b) 31,456

102,709

906,299

6,605
787,748

794,353

111,946

NET ASSETS EEFE

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRFEE 27

Share capital N

Reserves w1

Total equity attributable to equity 727 T # % R R E(L
shareholders of the Company A

Non-controlling interests FERER

TOTAL EQUITY R

906,299

The notes on page 108 to page 243 form part of these

financial statements.

2>

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018

2017
20174
RMB’000
AREETF T

50,244

274,092

6,157

6,157

267,935

22,385
155,380

177,765

90,170

267,935

108ZE2438 2 Mt i B F M 7% MR &) — #8
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Consolidated Statement of Changes

N

Equity

SEREZEER

(Expressed in Renminbi)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

(AAREZIR)

AAARERRER
Non-
Share Share Statutory Exchange Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserves reserves profits Total interests equity
& B EE EERE ERRE REEF Bz FERER AEs
Note RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
i ARETT ARETR ARETn ARETR AREFn ARETR ARETT AR%Tx

Balance at 1 January 2017 i VESDRLEE:of <3 22,385 - 13,626 (10,497) 81,583 107,097 37,062 144,149
Changes in equity for 2017 TEHERED
Profit for the year FREd - - - - 38,592 38,592 38,185 76,777
Other comprehensive income Hi 2 E R - - - 32,076 - 32,076 14,933 47,009
Total comprehensive income 2ARGAE - - - 32,076 38,592 70,668 53,118 123,786
Appropriation to statutory reserves AT ETHEE 27(0)() - - 4,327 - (4,327) - - -
Balance at 31 December 2017 R2017%12A31A

and 1 January 2018 R2018F1A1A e 115,848 177,765 90,170 267,935
Changes in equity for 2018 018FMEZET
Profit for the year FREF = 33,375 33,375 44,444 77,819
Other comprehensive income HE2EE (27,630) - (27,630) (10,268) (37,898)
Total comprehensive income 2EREAE (27,630) 33,375 5,745 34,176 39,921
Deemed distribution 1o shareholders 5 IR E 5 I 25(c) - (34,030) (34,030) (31,413) (65,443)
Arising from reorganisation EEXBEA 14 (22,385) - (22,385) - (22,385)
Capital contribution from REFERERN

non-controlling Interests BAD R - - 19,013
Capitalisation of shareholders’ loans Bk R & B AL 27(b)1) 478,662 478,662 478,662
Capitalisation issue ARLEST 27(b)i) (4,954) - -
Shares issued upon initial public BARREEREIRD

offering (PO") 27(0)i) 186,945 - - 188,596 188,596
Appropriation to statutory reserves BB EAT R 27(0)(i) - 2,107 (2,107) - -
Balance at 31 December 2018 201812831 A &4 6,605 660,653 20,060 (6,051) 113,086 794,353 111,946 906,299

The notes on page 108 to page 243 form part of these

financial statements.

7 e
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Consolldated Statement of Cash FIows
GmERETRER
(Expressed in Renminbi)
A A R¥EEIR)
2018
20184

Note RMB’000
B E ARBT

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING K& EZHHELRE
ACTIVITIES

Cash generated from/(used in) REEBRE(FTRA)BES
operations 22(b) 841,863

Income tax paid B EH (130,703)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from RETHEESRAGRHE
operating activities FE 711,160

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RBREZTHRERE

ACTIVITIES
Investments in associates and "EBE R REGE DT
joint ventures (QEX[0[0)]
Acquisition of property, plant and W% - B & &#
equipment (1,259)
Net cash outflow from disposals of &K B Q& /IR <"
subsidiaries FEE
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE¥ BE N EE
plant and equipment Fr 18 5018
Proceeds from disposal of investment & & & ¥ T8 IE
properties
Interest received 2 E
Proceeds from disposal of HEE ﬁﬁ CREEFSHIE
other financial assets 20
Payments for purchase of BEHEHMESRMEENK
other financial assets 20

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from REZHRERA (R H
investing activities FH

——>> 106  Milion Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018
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2017
20174
RMB’000
AREETF T

(207,200)

(17,805)

(225,005)

(128,635)

(203)

(99)

31

1,343

82,678

(87,500)

(132,385)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continuea)
rell e nRnE RE)

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AA R 5 R)
2018 2017
20184 20174
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

B ARBT AR®TTT

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ®REZHHRELRE
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from bank loans RITE RIS A 22(c) 330,357 299,317
Repayment of bank loans EEIIRT ﬁ m 22(c) (80,700) —
Interest paid on bank loans ENRITERFE 22(c) (18,509) (5,128)
Advances from related parties 8 B ﬁiz)\ 22(c) 36,920 215,620
Repayment to related parties EIE B 7 SRIE 22(c) (204,302) (163,528)
Payment of listing expenses YR ETAX (22,441) —
Proceeds from shares issued BRAREBEEMEBEITRG

upon IPO B 15 2018 198,160 —
Proceeds from capital injection from D E IR T E TS RIA

minority equity shareholder 19,013 —

Net cash inflow from financing METHESRARE
activities 258,498 346,281

Increase/(decrease) in cashand BERBREZEWE M~

cash equivalents (R &) 1,012,225 (11,109)
Cash and cash equivalents MAIEBHNEESRES

at 1 January EEY 105,372
Effect of foreign exchange EXSEHNELE

rate changes (91)
Cash and cash equivalents at M12A3IEHNRERE S

31 December ZEY 22(a) 1,106,426 94,172

The notes on page 108 to page 243 form part of these HF108F243B 2 it AZSHBHREREH —
financial statements. 7 e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R

CRRE T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETAIN - AAREFITR)

1

—>> 108

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Million Cities Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 15 November
2016 as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law Cap.22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and has
not carried on any business since the date of its
incorporation save for the Group reorganisation below.
The core business activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) include property sales
and development (the “Listing Business”) in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”).

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the
Listing Business were conducted through various
domestic companies established in the PRC (the “PRC
Operating Entities”), all of which are under the control of
Wong Ting Chung, Wong Ting Kau, Wong Ting Chun,
Wong Wai Wing Raymond, Wong Wai Ling, Lau Ka
Keung and Wong Wai Yue (together referred to as the
“Wong Ting Chung and his family”). To rationalise the
corporate structure in preparation of the listing of the
Company’s shares on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
the Group underwent a reorganisation (the
“Reorganisation”). Upon completion of the Reorganisation
on 28 June 2018, the Company became the holding
company of the Group. As the Reorganisation primarily
involved inserting a newly formed entity, with no
substantive operations, as the new holding company
between Wong Ting Chung and his family and the PRC
Operating Entities, there has been no change in the
ultimate control and there were no substantive changes in
the business and operations of the companies now
comprising the Group. As the control is not transitory
and, consequently, there was a continuation of risks and
benefits to the Wong Ting Chung and his family, the
financial statements have been prepared and presented
using the merger basis of accounting as if the Group has
always been in existence. The net assets of the
companies taking part in the Reorganisation are
consolidated using the book values from perspective of
Wong Ting Chung and his family.

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The consolidated statements of profit or loss,
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statements of
changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash
flows of the Group for the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017 include the financial performance and
cash flows of the companies now comprising the Group
as if the current group structure had been in existence
and remained unchanged throughout the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017. The consolidated statements
of financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2018 and 2017 have been prepared to present the
financial position of the companies now comprising the
Group as at those dates as if the current group structure
had been in existence as at the respective dates. Intra-
group balances and transactions are eliminated in full in
preparing the financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

ments (Continued)
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(a) Statement of compliance (Continued)

(b)

—>> 110
—>>

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group. For the purpose of preparing these financial
statements, the Group has adopted all applicable
new and revised HKFRSs, except for any new
standards or interpretations that are not yet effective
for the accounting period ended 31 December
2018. The revised and new accounting standards
and interpretations issued but not yet effective for
the accounting period beginning on or after 1
January 2019 are set out in note 35.

The Group has early adopted HKFRS 9, Financial
instruments and HKFRS15, Revenue from contracts
with customers, which are effective for the
accounting period beginning 1 January 2018,
consistently throughout the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017.

Basis of measurement

These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“BRMB”), rounded to the nearest thousand,
as the Group’s principal activities were carried out in
the PRC. RMB is the functional currency for the
Company’s subsidiaries established in the mainland
China. The functional currency of the Company and
the Company’s subsidiaries outside the mainland
China are Hong Kong dollars, as these entities’
principal activities are financing and investing
activities, and Hong Kong dollars are the primary
currency generated from and used in these
activities.

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of measurement (Continued)

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
the financial statements is the historical cost basis
except that the other financial assets and
investment properties are stated at fair value as
explained in note 2(f) and note 2(g).

Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the
lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell (see note 2(w)).

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with  HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on
the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

—>> 112
—>>

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only
substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination, the
Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statements of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statements of profit
or loss and the consolidated statements of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of
the Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling
interests and other contractual obligations towards
these holders are presented as financial liabilities in
the consolidated statements of financial position in
accordance with note 2(0),(v) depending on the
nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are
made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to
reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or
loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset (see note 2(f)) or, when appropriate,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or joint venture (see note 2(e)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(e)

—>> 114
—>>

(Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(j)).

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the
Company has significant influence, but not control or
joint control, over its management, including
participation in the financial and operating policy
decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the
Group or Company and other parties contractually
agree to share control of the arrangement, and have
rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements under the equity method. Under the
equity method, the investment is initially recorded at
cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share
of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s
identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). The cost of the investment
includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and
any direct investment into the associate or joint
venture that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for
the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of
the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss
relating to the investment. Any acquisition-date
excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any
impairment losses for the year are recognised in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss, whereas
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax
items of the investees’ other comprehensive income
is recognised in the consolidated statements of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018

2 EREHBEE)

(d)

(e)

MEARKRFERES(E)

RARNRMBERAERF  REB A
AW E 1% Ak AR R E B 18 71 BR
(BBt 5E2() ) °

BENAREERQT
BENRAREBERARAHEE
BHEERTE DML IFEHR HH
REHlzER EAFENBES
BLEH M MR BERORTE o

BEARNAS—ELHE Bl XE
B ARAREMETHTTHNRE
BORZHOEE YHLTHENE
EFEFHEN-

RBERRHEERBZRETR
REENFAVBHREAR - RIE
Bk WERTIEKRAAR I
RAKE D ERITERRARKER
A BRI EEFEZATFEBLE
BRANE S (WA)EHAR &
ERABEBEE UBREEER
JE At B L A A R AR AT AR AN &= [
ROaRE—SMoNBEQFHEE
RAEERE -HEKR ZBREFE
AEBOERIREABEEFELZ

EEEMELARE - WEE B
RANEREBD  AEBEBEERD
BRI WRERAZBRRRES
REAEFABEBRANGS B
RER MAEBE D HERIKE AT
ZEHMEEY S 2 WRRKRRIZE
AR Ba R HE 2SR E

5
e



2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Associates and joint ventures (Continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate or the joint venture, the
Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method together with the Group’s long-term
interests that in substance form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate or the joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates
and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

investee, except where

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, retained
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity
method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate or joint control
over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at
the date when significant influence is lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset.

=" .:.; b ; - :
ﬁAﬁ%ﬁ%WE%)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRARTAN  LAREIITR)

2 EXREHEEGE)

(e)

2018F F# « BWILERER AR

%%ﬂﬂ&AMAﬁ@%

BEAREBE (R E %é%ﬂ?
mgﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ$ SN
MR KERET IHTE%N
HAGE R - M AN R B ZAREERE
KHEERT  ARKRFERE QAN

FRRIERSN - BT 5 - A 5 B 1O 4
BEREDETENREREEMN

FEE FERAREHEE QA K
BERARREFE—HFINAKE
MM

AEBBRBERRLAERRZME
MXSELENRERBHEGRA
SERNERE RAIFTIGEAERLE R

MsH - HEMARERBERTCEE
BEOBRE BZERERER

BIRSERE R AR -

HRBERANBREZB/NEZER

AMREHREZRNE  AILE
ENEREREDR R ZERE
HMEREEDAEANKR -

REBRMER  EXKETBY

BENREEEATENRYHAE
REFEEHRAZENE  ZXHHE7
FHERZWRE R AW 2 A H#E
#w ELZWENERANESR
AR - ERNEREERFTENZ
BN ZAERIE AR RE 2
BAVEER MESBHRERD
STHATREE A FE-

«

115 «K——



| 5

ﬂ%#&%ﬁﬁ &(@a)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(REBETAIN - AAREFITR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(f) Other investments in debt and equity

—>> 116
—>>

securities
The Group’s policies for investments in debt and
equity securities, other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are set
out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are
recognised/derecognised on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investment. The
investments are initially stated at fair value plus
directly attributable transaction costs, except for
those investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL) for which transaction costs are
recognised directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value
of financial instruments, see note 28(e). These
investments are subsequently accounted for as
follows, depending on their classification.

Investments other than equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are
classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method
(see note 2(t)(iii)).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Other investments in debt and equity

securities (Continued)

Investments other than equity investments

(Continued)

)

fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI) — recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise solely
payments of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and sale.
Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the
recognition in profit or loss of expected credit
losses, interest income (calculated using the
effective interest method) and foreign exchange
gains and losses. When the investment is
derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity
to profit or loss.

fair value at profit or loss (FVPL) if the
investment does not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised in
profit or loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(f) Other investments in debt and equity

(9)

—>> 118
—>>

securities (Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVPL unless the equity investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition of the
investment the Group makes an election to
designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment
meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income
remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until
the investment is disposed of. At the time of
disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained
earnings. It is not recycled through profit or loss.
Dividends from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL or
FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other
income.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold interest
(see note 2(i)) to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation. These include property that is
being constructed or developed for future use as
investment property.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9)

(h)

Investment properties (Continued)

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless
they are still in the course of construction or
development at the end of the reporting period and
their fair value cannot be reliably measured at that
time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair
value or from the retirement or disposal of an
investment property is recognised in profit or loss.
Rental investment properties is
accounted for as described in note 2(t).

income from

When the Group holds property interest under an
operating lease to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, the interest is classified and
accounted for as an investment property on a
property-by-property basis. Any such property
interest which has been classified as an investment
property is accounted for as if it were held under a
finance lease (see note 2(i)), and the same
accounting policies are applied to that interest as
are applied other investment properties leased under
finance leases. Lease payments are accounted for as
described in note 2(i).

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment loss (see note 2()):

—  buildings held for own use which are situated
on leasehold land classified as held under

operating lease (see note 2(i)); and

— other items of plant and equipment.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(h) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

—>> 120
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The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant
and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the
costs of dismantling and removing the items and
restoring the site on which they are located, and an
appropriate proportion of production overheads and
borrowing costs (see note 2(v)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment
are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date
of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-
line method over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

Residual

Useful life value%

Lands 50 years 0%
Buildings 20 years 5%-10%
Office equipment 3-12 years 0%-10%
Motor vehicles 4-5 years 3%-10%
Electronic and other 3-10 years 0%-10%

equipment
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

U]

Leased assets

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both
the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if
any, are reviewed annually.

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series
of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to
use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period
of time in return for a payment or a series of
payments. Such a determination is made based on
an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement
and is regardless of whether the arrangement takes
the legal form of a lease.

(i)  Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by Group under leases
which transfer to the Group substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as being held under finance leases. Leases
which do not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the Group are
classified as operating leases, with the
following exceptions:

—  property held under operating leases that
would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property is classified as
investment property on a property-by-
property basis and, if classified as
investment property, is accounted for as
if held under a finance lease (see note
2(9)); and
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
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(i)

IAARKSIR)

Leased assets (Continued)

Classification of assets leased to the Group

(Continued)

— land held for own use under an operating
lease, the fair value of which cannot be
measured separately from the fair value of
a building situated thereon at the
inception of the lease, is accounted for as
being held under a finance lease, unless
the building is also clearly held under an
operating lease. For these purposes, the
inception of the lease is the time that the
lease was first entered into by the Group,
or taken over from the previous lessee.

Assets acquired under finance leases
Where the Group acquires the use of assets
under finance leases, the amounts representing
the fair value of the leased asset, or, if lower,
the present value of the minimum lease
payments, of such assets are recognised as
property, plant and equipment and the
corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges,
are recorded as obligations under finance
leases. Depreciation is provided at rates which
write off the cost or valuation of the assets
over the term of the relevant lease or, where it
is likely the Group will obtain ownership of the
asset, the life of the asset, as set out in note
2(h). Impairment losses are accounted for in
accordance with the accounting policy as set
out in note 2(j). Finance charges implicit in the
lease payments are charged to profit or loss
over the period of the leases so as to produce
an approximately constant periodic rate of
charge on the remaining balance of the
obligations for each accounting period.
Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss
in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(i) Leased assets (Continued)
(iii) Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held
under operating leases, payments made under
the leases are charged to profit or loss in
equal instalments over the accounting periods
covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased asset. Lease incentives received are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments made.
Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss
in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an
operating lease is amortised on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease term except
where the property is classified as an
investment property (see note 2(g)) or is held
for development for sale (see note 2(k(i)).

(/) Credit losses and impairment of assets

()

Credit losses from financial instruments
and lease receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (ECLs) on the following
items:

— financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables
and loans to associates); and

— lease receivables.

Financial assets measured at fair value are not
subject to the ECL assessment.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

1)

—>> 124
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(i)

IAARKSIR)

Credit losses from financial instruments
and lease receivables (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash
flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the
effect of discounting is material:

— fixed-rate financial assets and trade and
other receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current

effective interest rate; and

— lease receivables: discount rate used in
the measurement of the lease receivable.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost
or effort. This includes information about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

and lease receivables (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to possible
default events over the expected lives of
the items to which the ECL model
applies.

result from all

Loss allowances for trade receivables and
lease receivables are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to
12-month ECLs unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which
case the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

2>

and lease receivables (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition.
In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when (i)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (i) the
financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or

interest on their contractually due dates;
— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if
available);
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

and lease receivables (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)
expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and

— an actual or

— existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any change
in the ECL amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account,
except for investments in debt securities that
are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which
the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the
fair value reserve (recycling).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EAREFHBHERE)

(Continued)
(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets () EHABXREEREGHE)
(Continued)
(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments (i) Z=HTAREKRHEELEHE
and lease receivables (Continued) % (%&)

—>> 128
—>>

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
note 2(t)(iii) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless
the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on
the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying
amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes the following
observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal
payments;

— it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the
debtor; or

— the disappearance of an active market for
a security because of financial difficulties
of the issuer.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

(ii)

and lease receivables (Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
on lease receivable is written off (either partially
or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

Credit losses from financial guarantees
issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require
the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(i) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(ii) Credit losses from financial guarantees

—>> 130
—>>

issued (Continued)

Financial guarantees issued are initially
recognised within “trade and other payables” at
fair value, which is determined by reference to
fees charged in an arm’s length transaction for
similar services, when such information is
obtainable, or to interest rate differentials, by
comparing the actual rates charged by lenders
when the guarantee is made available with the
estimated rates that lenders would have
charged, had the guarantees not been
available, where reliable estimates of such
information can be made. Where consideration
is received or receivable for the issuance of the
guarantee, the consideration is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no
such consideration is received or receivable, an
immediate expense is recognised in profit or
loss.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the amount
initially recognised as deferred income is
amortised in profit or loss over the term of the
guarantee as income from financial guarantees
issued.

The Group monitors the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract and
recognises a provision when ECLs on the
financial guarantees are determined to be
higher than the amount carried in “trade and
other payables” in respect of the guarantees
(i.e. the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(ii) Credit losses from financial guarantees

issued (Continued)

To determine ECLs, the Group considers
changes in the risk of default of the specified
debtor since the issuance of the guarantee. A
12-month ECL is measured unless the risk that
the specified debtor will default has increased
significantly since the guarantee is issued, in
which case a lifetime ECL is measured. The
same definition of default and the same
assessment of significant increase in credit risk
as described in note 2(j)(i) apply.

As the Group is required to make payments
only in the event of a default by the specified
debtor in accordance with the terms of the
instrument that is guaranteed, an ECL is
estimated based on the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amount that the Group expects
to receive from the holder of the guarantee,
the specified debtor or any other party. The
amount is then discounted using the current
risk-free rate adjusted for risks specific to the
cash flows.
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(BRAEFTHI - AAREIIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets

—>> 132
—>>

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets
may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment; and

— investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures

If any such indication exists, the asset’s

recoverable amount is estimated.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for
the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)
(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect
of cash-generating units are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill,
an impairment loss is reversed if there
has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

—>> 134
—>>

Inventories and other contract costs

(i)  Property development
Inventories in respect of property development
activities are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost and net realisable
values are determined as follows:

—  Property held for development and

property under development

The cost of properties held for
development and properties under
development comprises specifically
identified cost, including the acquisition
cost of land, aggregate cost of
development, materials and supplies,
wages and other direct expenses, an
appropriate proportion of overheads and
borrowing costs capitalised (see note
2(v)). Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less estimated
costs of completion and costs to be
incurred in selling the property.

—  Completed property held for sale
The cost of completed properties held for
sale comprises all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

In the case of completed properties
developed by the Group which comprise
of multiple units which are sold
individually, the cost of each unit is
determined by apportionment of the total
development costs for that development
project to each unit on a per square foot
basis, unless another basis is more
representative of the cost of the specific
unit. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less costs to be
incurred in selling the property.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Inventories and other contract costs
(Continued)
(i)  Property development (Continued)

(ii)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount
of those inventories is recognised as an
expense in the period in which the related
revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the
period the write-down or loss occurs. The
amount of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental
costs of obtaining a contract with a customer
or the costs to fulfil a contract with a customer
which are not capitalised as inventory (see
note 2(k)(i)) or property, plant and equipment
(see note 2(h)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are
those costs that the Group incurs to obtain a
contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been
obtained e.g. an incremental sales
commission. Incremental costs of obtaining a
contract are capitalised when incurred if the
costs relate to revenue which will be
recognised in a future reporting period and the
costs are expected to be recovered. Other
costs of obtaining a contract are expensed
when incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Inventories and other contract costs

(Continued)

(k)

—>> 136
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(ii)

IAARKSIR)

Other contract costs

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the
costs relate directly to an existing contract or
to a specifically identifiable anticipated
contract; generate or enhance resources that
will be used to provide goods or services in
the future; and are expected to be recovered.

Costs that relate directly to an existing
contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract may include direct labour,
direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that
are explicitly chargeable to the customer and
other costs that are incurred only because the
Group entered into the contract (for example,
payments to sub-contractors). Other costs of
fulfilling a contract, which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Impairment losses are recognised to the
extent that the carrying amount of the contract
cost asset exceeds the net of () remaining
amount of consideration that the Group
expects to receive in exchange for the goods
or services to which the asset relates, less (ii)
any costs that relate directly to providing those
goods or services that have not yet been
recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is
charged to profit or loss when the revenue to
which the asset relates is recognised. The
accounting policy for revenue recognition is set
out in note 2(t).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

U]

(m)

(n)

(o)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see note 2()). A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such
cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised (see note 2(m)).

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see
note 2(t)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 2()(i).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities
measured in accordance with note 2(j)(ii), trade and
other payables are subsequently stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

()

—>> 138
—>>

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense is recognised in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs
(see note 2(v)).

Employee benefits

(i)  Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, employee wages or salaries, bonuses,
social security contributions such as medical
insurance, work injury insurance, maternity
insurance and housing fund, measured at the
amount incurred or at the applicable
benchmarks and rates, are recognised as a
liability as the employee provides services, with
a corresponding charge to profit or loss or
included in the cost of assets where
appropriate.

(i) Defined contribution plans

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations
of the PRC, the Group participates in a defined
contribution basic pension insurance in the
social insurance system established and
managed by government organisations. The
Group makes contributions to basic pension
insurance plans based on the applicable
benchmarks and rates stipulated by the
government. Basic pension insurance
contributions are recognised as part of the
cost of assets or charged to profit or loss as
the related services are rendered by the
employees.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(q)

(r)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii) Defined contribution plans (Continued)
The Group also participates in a pension
scheme under the rules and regulations of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance
(the “MPF Scheme”) for all employees in Hong
Kong, which is a defined contribution
retirement scheme. The contributions to the
MPF Scheme are based on minimum statutory
contribution requirement of 5% of eligible
employees’ relevant aggregate income. The
assets of this pension scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other comprehensive
directly in equity, respectively.

income or

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(r) Income tax (Continued)

—>> 140
—>>

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred
tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that
may support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences include
those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
either in the same period as the expected reversal of
the deductible temporary difference or in periods
into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax
asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether
existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or
periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting or taxable
profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination), and temporary differences relating to
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the
case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the future.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r)

Income tax (Continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their fair
value in accordance with the accounting policy set
out in note 2(g), the amount of deferred tax
recognised is measured using the tax rates that
would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying
value at the reporting date unless the property is
depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the property
over time, rather than through sale. In all other case,
the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r)

—>> 142
—>>

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Group intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a
net basis or realise and settle
simultaneously.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

®

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Other provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when
it arises from the sale of properties or the use by
others of the Group’s assets under leases in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the
right to use the asset, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax
(“VAT”) or other sales taxes and is after deduction of
any trade discounts.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(t) Revenue and other income (Continued)

—>> 144
—>>

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the
customer for more than 12 months, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction with the customer, and interest income
is accrued separately under the effective interest
method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted on
the contract liability under the effective interest
method. The Group takes advantage of the practical
expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS 15 and does
not adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period of
financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Sale of properties
Revenue arising from the sale of properties in
the ordinary course of business is recognised:

— when properties are handed over to the
customers which is the point in time
when the customer has the ability to
direct the use of the property and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits
of the property. Advanced payments
received on properties sold prior to the
date of revenue recognition are included
in the statement of financial position
under contract liabilities (see note 18); or

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018

2 EREHBEE)

t

WAREMBA (E)
HWENHBARERD  REPREMH
HBE1I2EANERRENS - Bl
AREWFBBREFTE  AERR
EFMBIRER ST RRIEE
KRR A B WARBEERFE
ERTRF -WAENEERE R
D RASERHEABENS
REZENERNBABRERREE
BRAHEEMERENBENF SR
X AEBNA(EEM B RS E
A1) E165% FE3R M Al 1T E 7
- MEE HE A28 B RIA TR
TEAEABREDONEIMEZER
BRE-

A £ B U A Ko E Ats Y A T BB BUSR Y
Hib S5 &mT -

() HWEHE
S REBBRET RN EH
& HY WA DA T B ] FE AR

— WEBREFEEFA
B )45 519 % 65 B R R
BMENBABHBRT
R 2 o0 0% 8 o R U A TR
1 FHR AT L A 0 2

BB T8 A SRR B 75 R 0
R ABHNAEBE(RWE
18) +



_______

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Revenue and other income (Continued)

Sale of properties (Continued)

— as the performance obligations are
satisfied over time in accordance with the
progress when the properties sold have
no alternative use to the Group due to
contractual arrangements and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment from
the customer for the performance
completed to date. The excess of the
consideration that the Group has the
unconditional right to receive from the
customers over the revenue recognised in
profit or loss is included in the statement
of financial position as contract liabilities
(see note 18).

For contracts where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised property exceeds one year, the
transaction price and the amount of revenue
from the sales of completed properties is
adjusted for the effects of a financing
component. If the advance payments by the
customer are regarded as providing a
significant financing benefit to the Group,
interest expense arising from the adjustment of
time value of money will be accrued by the
Group during the period between the payment
date and the date of delivery of property. This
accrual increases the balance of the contract
liability during the period of construction, and
therefore increases the amount of revenue
recognised when control of the completed
property is transferred to the customer. The
interest is expensed as accrued unless it is
eligible to be capitalised under HKAS 23,
Borrowing costs, in accordance with the
policies set out in note 2(v).
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Revenue and other income (Continued)

®

(ii)

(iii)

Rental income from operating leases
Rental receivable under operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal
instalments over the periods covered by the
lease term, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in
profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are
earned.

income

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost or
FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit
impaired financial assets, the effective interest
rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
asset (see note 2(j)(i).

(u) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.

—>> 146
—>>
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u)

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates
the fair value was measured.

The results of Hong Kong and foreign operations are
translated into Renminbi at the exchange rates
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into Renminbi at the
closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve.

On disposal of a Hong Kong or foreign operations,
the cumulative amount of the exchange differences
relating to that Hong Kong or foreign operations is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the
profit or loss on disposal is recognised.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(v) Borrowing costs

(w)

—>> 148
—>>

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time
to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the
cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred,
borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified
as held for sale if it is highly probable that its
carrying amount will be recovered through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use and
the asset (or disposal group) is available for sale in
its present condition. A disposal group is a group of
assets to be disposed of together as a group in a
single transaction, and liabilities directly associated
with those assets that will be transferred in the
transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified
as held for sale when the above criteria for
classification as held for sale are met, regardless of
whether the Group will retain a non-controlling
interest in the subsidiary after the sale.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(w) Non-current assets held for sale (Continued)

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the
measurement of the non-current assets (and all
individual assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is
brought up-to-date in accordance with the
accounting policies before the classification. Then,
on initial classification as held for sale and until
disposal, the non-current assets (except for certain
assets as explained below), or disposal groups, are
recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. The principal exceptions
to this measurement policy so far as the financial
statements of the Group and the Company are
concerned are deferred tax assets, assets arising
from employee benefits, financial assets (other than
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures) and investment properties. These assets,
even if held for sale, would continue to be measured
in accordance with the policies set out elsewhere in
note 2.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for
sale, and on subsequent remeasurement while held
for sale, are recognised in profit or loss. As long as
a non-current asset is classified as held for sale, or
is included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale, the non-current asset is not
depreciated or amortised.
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(Continued)
Related parties

(x)

—>> 150
—>>

(1)

AARESIR)
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

0

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(x)

(v)

Related parties (Continued)
(2)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (1).

(vii) A person identified in (1)() has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

The Group manages its business as a whole as
properties development is the only reporting
segment. The financial statements is presented in a
manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the Group’s senior executive
management for the purpose of resource allocation
and performance assessment.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES
(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying

—>> 152
—>>

the Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
accounting judgements:

Classification between investment properties
and properties held for sale

The Group develops and purchases properties held
for sale and properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation. Judgement is made by
management on determining whether a property is
designated as an investment property or a property
held for sale.

For the developed properties, the Group considers
its intention for holding the properties at the early
development stage of the related properties. During
the course of construction, the related properties
under construction are accounted for as properties
under development included in current assets if the
properties are intended for sale after their
completion, whereas, the properties are accounted
for as investment properties under construction if the
properties are intended to be held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

For the purchased properties, the Group considers
its intention for holding the properties at the early
stage when obtained control the related properties.
The related properties are accounted for as
inventories included in current assets if the
properties are intended for sale, whereas, the
properties are accounted for as investment
properties if the properties are intended to be held
to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty

Note 28 contains information about the assumptions

and their risk factors relating to fair value of other

financial assets. Other key sources of estimation

uncertainty are as follows:

(b)

()

Properties for sale

As explained in note 2(k), the Group’s
properties for sale are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Based on the
Group’s recent experience and the nature of
the subject properties, the Group makes
estimates of the selling prices, the costs of
completion in cases for properties held for
development and properties
development, and the costs to be incurred in
selling the properties based on prevailing
market conditions.

under

If there is an increase in costs to completion
or a decrease in net sales value, the net
realisable value will decrease and this may
result in provision for properties for sale. Such
provision requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, the carrying value
and provision for properties in the periods in
which such estimate is changed will be
adjusted accordingly.

In addition, given the volatility of the property
market and the unique nature of individual
properties, the actual outcomes in terms of
costs and revenue may be higher or lower
than that estimated at the end of the reporting
period. Any in the
provision would affect profit or loss in future
years.

increase or decrease
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b)

—>> 154
—>>

(i)

IAARKSIR)

Revenue recognition

As explained in note 2(t)(i), revenue from sales
of properties can be recognised over time
when the Group’s performance do not create
an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

The determination of whether the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for its sales in the
PRC depends on the actual payment pattern,
terms of the sales contract and the
interpretation of the applicable laws. Such
determination requires judgements. The Group
considers that it has enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date
based on the terms of agreements with the
customers by reference to the legal opinion
obtained from its legal counsel. The above
interpretation from the legal counsel may be
different from the interpretation or judgement of
the relevant authorities in the PRC, which
would affect the revenue and profit recognised
in future years.
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

In addition, revenue and profit on uncompleted
projects recognised over time is dependent on
estimating the total outcome of the contract,
as well as the percentage of work done to
date. Based on the Group’s recent experience
and the nature of the construction activities,
the Group has made estimates of the point at
which it considered the work was sufficiently
advanced such that the outcome of the
contract can be reasonably measured. Actual
outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue
may be higher or lower than estimated at the
end of the reporting period, which would affect
the revenue and profit recognised in future
years as an adjustment to the amounts
recorded to date.

Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”)

As explained in note 8(a)(ii), LAT is levied on
properties developed by the Group for sale, at
progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on
the appreciation of land value, which under the
applicable regulations is calculated based on
the proceeds of sales of properties less
deductible expenditures including lease charges
of land use rights, borrowing cost and relevant
property development expenditures. Given the
uncertainties of the calculation basis of land
appreciation tax to be interpreted by the local
tax bureaux and the actual appreciation of land
value may be different from the original
estimates, the actual outcomes may be higher
or lower than that estimated at the end of the
reporting period. Any increase or decrease in
estimates would affect profit or loss in future
years.

= .-..; 45 : = y
ﬁAﬁ%ﬁ%WE%)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)
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KEBRLEZEHNOMEE A&
ERERBITIEEERIANSE
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RREHERAETE RSN
K M2 RRFERRD
WA Fos M) (FE = % B R FTaC
BeBERAR) -

T EH ([ EE )
Bt sE8(a) (NPT R FE - AN E
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THIEER - RBEHBER -
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3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

(b)

—>> 156
—>>

(iv)

)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment for trade and other receivables
The Group makes allowances on receivables
based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group used
judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward looking
estimates at the end of each reporting period.

Recognition of deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses
and other deductible temporary differences
carried forward are recognised and measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the
assets, using rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. In determining the carrying
amounts of deferred tax assets, expected
taxable profits are estimated which involves a
number of assumptions relating to the
operating environment of the Group and
require a significant level of judgement
exercised by the directors. Any change in such
assumptions and judgement would affect the
carrying amounts of deferred tax assets to be
recognised and hence the net profit in future
years.

tax
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NOte's to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continuea)

MEMBERRNFE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRARTAN  LAREIITR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WARDEH®SE

(a)

Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are property
sales and development in the PRC.

(i)

Disaggregation of revenue

Revenue mainly represents income from sale of
properties and gross rentals from properties,
net of sales related taxes and discounts
allowed, and is analysed as follows:

(@ WA

AEENTELIH/AETEELEY
XHERER -

(i) WUA#HD
WAFERMEHEBARY
¥HeeE cHkiHERE
MIE N F 4 TH M- 54w
T

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR FT

Revenue from contracts (& & Bf 75 3% & % B ) 551555
with customers within HEANEFEHNWA
the scope of

243,010 938,134
321,082 30,922

HKFRS 15
Sales of properties: MEHEE
— Recognised at a point  — 7 3 @ 2R
in time
— Recognised over time — — R X #ER
Gross rentals from MERSBE
properties

564,092 969,056

3,735 4,037

567,827 973,093

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by geographic markets is disclosed
in note 4(b).

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Group’s customer base is diversified and does
not have a customer with whom transactions
have exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue
(2017: nil).

BB mHETNEP AW
AH 7 P FE4(0) B B -

HZE2018F12A31H LFE -
AEENFEPEB A WE
BE-RPHRZETEBRKA
FBiB10% (20174 | &) »
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| Notes to the Consohdated F|nanC|a| Statements (Cont/nued)

ITEMBERERNFE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETAIN - AAREFITR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4
(Continued)
(@) Revenue (Continued)
(ii) Revenue expected to be recognised in the
future arising from contracts with customers in
existence at the reporting date.

The following table includes revenue expected
to be recognised in the future related to
performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or
partially unsatisfied) at 31 December 2018:

Remaining performance FEHRAUTHEBETHRT
obligations expected BHEME:
to be satisfied:

Within one year —FA

After one year but —FREMENRN
within two years

After two years WMEEBRE=FNK

but within three years

These amounts represent revenue expected to
be recognised in the future from pre-
completion sales contracts for properties under
development entered into by the customers
and the Group.

—>> 158 Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018
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WA (&)
(i) FEHERKERRNH®E B H
ERONEPEHRWA -

TREEEPERKREREH
2018F 12318 K & 17 (8 2B
DARBIT)EHETHUA

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFT

1,279,553 168,631

10,340 -

404,143 -

1,694,036 168,531
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4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Revenue (Continued)

(iii) Total future minimum lease payments
receivable by the Group
Total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are receivable
as follows:

* Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4

e

AT BRERNE@E)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

WARDEBHERSE (&)

(@) WAGE)

(i) 755 B A9 B R KRG 1 E A
> HEE
RIETAHEEEHENER
ARZFEEENKEBRAT

Within one year —FRA

After 1 year but within —FREAFR
5 years

After 5 years hF®

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREFIT
1,327 3,670
3,546 8,216
4,917 5,434
9,790 17,320

Operating segment

Information reported to the Group’s chief operating
decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance
is more focused on the Group as a whole, as all of
the Group’s activities are considered to be primarily
dependent on the performance on property
development. Resources are allocated based on
what is beneficial for the Group in enhancing its
property development activities as a whole rather
than any specific service. Performance assessment
is based on the results of the Group as a whole.
Therefore, management considers there is only one
operating segment under the requirements of
HKFRS 8, Operating segments.

(b) K&HI
BRERIEERDBREFERAE
BxXrZLEAENRNS ARAEE
TERBUERRIRE WA H
ERENBRETRAEBRER - &
BRI MARN RN EERAEREYE
BREBMIET M ERSE M T A
DE - RBEFEDNRERAEERRE
EZEL AN ERERBRE
(BB B RE LD FESHAL L 5
HOHRE EHE—EALEDE -
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ITEMBERERNFE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(REBETAIN - AAREFITR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)
(b) Operating segment (Continued)

—>> 160
—>>

Geographic information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from
external customers and (i) the Group’s property,
plant and equipment, investment properties and
interests in associates and joint ventures (“specified
non-current assets”). The geographical location of
customers is based on the location at which the
properties were developed or leased out. The
geographical location of the specified non-current
assets is based on the physical location of the
asset, in the case of property, plant and equipment
and investment properties, and the location of
operations, in the case of interests in associates and
joint ventures.

RMB’000
AR® T

Huizhou city BEMH
Tianjin city REM
Zhumadian city EEEM
Others H Al
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476,148

WARDEBHERE (&)

(b)

Revenues from
external customers

RENREFHBA

567,827 973,093

REDWE)

HEEH
TREHNEAONAEERBINRE
FPHWA  REAEBEYE  WE
RiEE REMERNEE QNG R
EENAER(TETEHERBEE]D
I ER - EPAEM I ER
BERELDHEDMENNE - ETEIER
HEEMNMEMNDENEENER
LB (B BB REERIEE
M) REBAE (W E R E QA
REERNFIER) -

Specified
non-current assets

EEXRBEE

2017 2018 2017
20174 20185 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT BRI X% Tt

96,141 108,463 100,319

876,952 33,516 34,671
- 104,576 86,754
- 336 752

246,891 222,496
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OTHER NET INCOME

Note's to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continuea)

MAEBERRNFE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRARTAN  LAREIITR)

5 HMBAFRE

Interest income

Net gain on disposals of other
financial assets (note 20)

Net gain on disposals of investment
properties

Net loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Net exchange gain/(loss)

2018

20185

RMB’000

AR® T

MEWKA 2,618
TEEMmemEEMNKEZ

F 58 (B 7F20) 26

HEREYEN W EFR

HEWME  BEMRENER
R
PE X Was, (&5 18) % 8

Others Hith

OTHER EXPENSES 6 HMpEx
2018
20184
RMB’000
AR® T
Donations B 940
Other sundry expenses HMMIEMRAX 124

1,064

2018F F# « BWMIERBER AT

2017
20174
RMB’000
AREFT

1,343

178

2017
20174
RMB’000
AREF T

6,561
141

6,702

«
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Notes to thé Consolidated Financial Sté'te'r'neﬁt's' (Continuea)

A ISR M )

B St iy L TR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETAIN - AAREFITR)

7 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 7 BRBIANER
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/ BR B AT S A DB (BEA) T &8
(crediting): BER
(a) Finance costs (a) BERAK

Interest on bank loans RITEEF B (K E22(c))
(note 22(c))
Accrued interest on significant A X BEHNEARE LD

financing component of ol wilsy
contract liabilities
Others HAth
Less: Interest expenses B BAREAEFEENNE
capitalised into 2

inventories™

* The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate
of 5.23%—6.18% per annum during the year ended
31 December 2018 (2017: 5.23%—5.70%).

——>> 162  Milion Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018
—_—>>

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFT

5,128

20,148

25,276

(31,140) (25,057)
5,166 219

#H £2018F12A31B EFE ' B
% £ F| &523%%F6.18% (2017
F 1 5.283%E5.70% ) & AL E R
PR AR o



7

..... S

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

(b)

Staff costs

7

Salaries, wages and other
benefits

Contributions to defined
contribution retirement plan

Less: Staff costs capitalised into & : R EAZFEMNE T

inventories X AR

e TERHEMER

A 5% 5E SR KT 8 1R

The PRC Operating Entities participate in defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes (the
“Schemes”) organised by the PRC municipal and
provincial government authorities, whereby the PRC
Operating Entities are required to make contribution
at the rates required by different local government
authorities. The local government authorities are
responsible for the pension obligations payable to
the retired employees covered under the Schemes.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the Schemes.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the
MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the plan at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HKD30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

2018F F# « BWMIERBER AT

~ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued). _

MEMBERRMN FE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRARTAN  LAREIITR)

BRBLADRER (22
BIRAK
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFIT
32,480 25,212
2,120 1,631
(5,969) (4,851)
28,631 21,992

hEREEERS2EMPTETRANE
AR T 6 B AR A e S E R BUR KR
MEE(FHE)) BUEhEEER
SRR AR RTHEE R
ST B B4 R 3 07 BRAT 4 BR
BERZ2EFIMNEKRE TMER
KE - WIRIR AT 8148 T FE(F 5%
B HRBBERBP K-

AEEIRIEELSRHIEREE
1RO R IRIEE L B IR0 DA
EEEEANEREE AR T
RED B ([BEEFE)) - 81
TAEA-—HRBUXEAEEDN
RERFENRGE - RIBFBRIEDS
g EXLERERESBEARERMN
WA RS% Rt EIER - &2 EA
18 B W A /30,0007 7T - [A) &t & 1E
H oz BN A2 e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continuea)

ARA B R M )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BEERTHN  UARESIR)

(c)

WY o -

7 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 7 BRBAVER ()
Other items (c) HfbEH
2018
20184
RMB’000
AR® T
Depreciation and amortisation 37 & & & 35 (M 5212)
(note 12) 3,951
Auditors’ remuneration % S AT B & 2,090
Listing expenses EFWRAX 18,718

Cost of inventories (note 17(a))

FEKA (H5E17(0))

301,533

Rentals receivable from
investment properties

Less: Direct outgoings

REYEEWHAE

A B

(1,483)
47

(1,436)

8 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Taxation in the consolidated statement of

(a)

—>> 164
—>>

profit or loss represents:

8

2017
20174

RMB’000
ARETTT

2,497
745

960
765,987

(1,575)
101

(1,474)

REBRBERANFAES

(a) HEBEIRABRER:

2018
2018%F
RMB’000
AR®T R

Current tax B HA B 18

Provision for Corporate Income ¥ FER(DERER])
Tax (“CIT”) i

Provision for LAT £ i 3B E T

Deferred tax I i B E

Origination and reversal of EERBERERERE
temporary differences (note (Bt #E26(0)() )

26(b) i)

25,564

110,475
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RMB’000
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26,487
32,930

59,417

5,193

64,610




MEMBERRMN FE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

8 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8 HMEBEBRRAMMEH (&)
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(Continued)
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) HmEBEBZRABREE: (&)

profit or loss represents: (Continued)

()

(ii)

(iii)

CIT and Hong Kong Profits Tax

The provision for CIT is based on the
estimated taxable income at the rates
applicable to each subsidiary in the Group. The
income tax rate applicable to the principal
subsidiaries in the PRC is 25% during the year
(2017: 25%).

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was
recognised for the year (2017: nil) as the
subsidiaries in Hong Kong did not have any
assessable profits for the year.

LAT

LAT is levied on properties developed by the
Group for sale, at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land
value, which under the applicable regulations is
based on the proceeds of sales of properties
less deductible expenditures including lease
charges of land use rights, borrowing costs
and relevant property development
expenditures.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Cayman Islands and the BVI, the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands and the BVI.

(i)

(i)

(i)

2018F F# « BWILERER AR

PEFEBREBFEH
EMERBEEHEERN G ER
MR EZAEEEWEQRE
AOBEAE -FEETENE
AREIARNFEBEANMESHER
25% (20174 © 25%) °

AEEHERIETEREHE
B (2017F : F)  AAEEEN
BRARAFEMEL IERMN
KI5 o

1 4 12 (B H

+ 3 1 (B 7 1230% £60% K] R
EMERAEBEOHABLIHEE
)5 ) IS E R R o IR IR
REES TS EREIREE
MRS FRIER TN
(BETHEAEHEES &
HERARABYEREZ L)
BHE

REFSHSREBEBRE
SR RBY - KEBEHEA
BAEEEEREBEBRE
SEMMAER -
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Notes to the Consohdated FlnanC|aI Statements (Cont/nued)

ITEMBERERNFE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BAETHASN - UAREEFIR)

8 |INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 8
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting

—>> 166
—>>

profit at applicable tax rates:

REBERRANFEHR(E)

(b) MEMTHEZBEAMETE

il 0

2018
20185
RMB’000
AR® T

Profit before taxation
Less: LAT

B 5 A1 Ot A
B i IR E

188,294

(71,178)

Profit before CIT

Bk 1b % P 15 7% A1 i A

117,116

Notional tax calculated at

BHEERERARERME

4,110

39,297
71,178

applicable income tax rate of MEFENBET
the relevant Group entities
concerned
Tax effect of non-deductible TAHRAZHB G &
expenses
CIT REPTFM
LAT + 3 BB T
Income tax expense FIBBiAX

110,475
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2017
20174
RMB’000
AREFT

141,387
(32,930)

108,457

28,752

2,928

31,680
32,930

64,610




DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Directors’

fee

-0k

Note RMB’000
Gl AR¥Trn

Chairman and non-executive
director
Mr. Wong Ting Chung

Executive directors
Mr. Lau Ka Keung
(Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lin Guoxian
Mr. Wong Ka Lun
Ms. Lau Pui Kwan

Non-executive director
Mr. Wong Wai Yue

Independent non-executive
directors

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan

Mr. Li Yinquan

Mr. Wu Wing Kuen

IRRFUTES
TEBEEE

HTES
BRELLE(THER)
MEBLE
BERfAL
AME L
FUTES
IRMEE

BUFHTES
RHELAE

FolREE
KBS

=TT

benefits
BEF HEK
Hipflz=
RMB’000
ARETR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A IS IR R )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=BETHIH

EEHE

RIEE BCR 7 5 H1) F383(1) 15 & 2 A
(BBREZMER) RO F28 4R E P K

BeESEMaMT

For the year ended 31 December 2018

HZ2018F12A31H L EE
Basic

salaries,
allowances

and other Discretionary
Bonuses contributions

RMB’000
ARBTR

2018F F# « BWMIERBER AT

AAREFIR)

Retirement

BERAL R EH
RMB’000
AR®TR
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETAIN - AAREFITR)

9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) @9 BEM$ (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2017

HE017F12ABILFE
Basic
salaries,
allowances Retirement
and other  Discretionary scheme
Directors’ fee benefits Bonuses  contributions Total
EF Ak
SN Hi & WERL BIRFEIER o
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

M ARBTE  ARBTE ARBTE AR%TRT AR%TR

Chairman and non-executive IERFHUTEES

director
Mr. Wong Ting Chung TERLESE (@) - - - - -
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Lau Ka Keung BR®LE(THER)

(Chief Executive Officer) (b) - 1,789 - 18 1,807
Mr. Lin Guoxian MEE % & (b) - 447 - 2 449
Ms. Lau Pui Kwan ARE L+ © - 340 - 8 348
Non-executive director FHTES
Mr. Wong Wai Yue TRMEE (d) - - - - -

- 2,576 - 28 2,604
(@ Mr. Wong Ting Chung was appointed as non- (@ FEEB%LEDRIR2016%F11/815H
executive director and the Chairman of the Company N2018F6A19B B £ T A AR 7
on 15 November 2016 and 19 June 2018 FRTEEREF -
respectively.
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9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Mr. Lau Ka Keung and Mr. Lin Guoxian were
appointed as executive directors of the Company on
15 November 2016 and 19 June 2018 respectively.
They were also directors of certain subsidiaries of
the Company and/or employees of the Group and
the Group paid emoluments to them in their
capacity as the directors of these subsidiaries and/
or employees of the Group before their appointment

as executive directors of the Company.

Ms. Lau Pui Kwan and Mr. Wong Ka Lun were
appointed as executive directors of the Company on
19 June 2018. They were also employees of the
Group since July 2017 and February 2018
respectively and the Group paid emoluments to them
in their capacity as the employees of the Group
before their appointment as executive directors of
the Company.

Mr. Wong Wai Yue was appointed as non-executive
director of the Company on 15 November 2016 and
resigned on 1 April 2018.

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Mr. Li Yinquan and Mr. Wu Wing
Kuen were appointed as independent non-executive
director on 19 June 2018.

AR FEE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRARTAN  LAREIITR)

9 EEME A

(b)

2018F F# « BWILERER AR

BRRBEERMBELED IR
2016411 H150 &2018F6H19H
BZERRRANITES - RET
RERAETHBRARNES R
FAEERE MAKERKEFE
RERARAMITESAIAEEM
ZEWBLARERTR S AEEE
EREENME -

2108 Z £ R ER % ER20184F
GAIOHEZFEAARAHNITE
=1 E o Bl B2017F78 %2018
FoOAMALREEEERS  MAKER
BERZAEAARRBIMITEEAI S
HEFTAEBESQREX M -

FRK &k ER20165FE11 A15EH EZE
TAERNARIEHNITEE  WH2018
FLA1HBHAE -

Hgmit  FolRELERAKE

5 A R2018F6 19 E £ T A 15
NIERITESE -
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Notes to the Consohdated Financial Statements (Continuea)

ITEMBERERNFE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETAIN - AAREFITR)

10 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 10
EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three
(2017: one) are directors whose emoluments are

disclosed in note 9. The aggregate of the emoluments in
respect of the other two (2017: four) individuals are as

REEHMAL

A EEHA TR E = (2017F | —
)EE  HHEMAKEOWE - EMmi
(201749 : UAL) AETHBI RN

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR T

follows:

Salaries and other emoluments FekEMIE

Contributions to retirement benefit R K2 R 51 21 =&
scheme

1,954 3,368

20 56

3,424

The emoluments of these two individuals (2017: four) are
within the following bands:

ZEMUAT(017F - WA B
KT E -

2017

20174

HKDNil-HKD1,000,000 Z 7% 7T 21,000,000 7T 4
HKD1,000,001-HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 1,500,000/ JT -
4

—>> 170 Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolldated FlnanC|a| Statements (Cont/nued)

11 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based
on the profit attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company of RMB33,375,000 (2017:
RMB38,592,000) and the weighted average number
of issued ordinary shares of 568,664,000 (2017:
562,500,000 shares) during the year, calculated as
follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

AR B BF S R MY s )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

11 EREF

(a) BREXRZEF
FAGRERBNTIREBEAR QG #
@ IR BR B G s R A R #33,375,000
7L (20174 : A K #38,592,0007T)
568,664,000 (20174 :

562,500,0000% ) B 3 17 & 3@ A% 0 &
FHHFEMT :
ZERMELIH

2018 2017
20184 20174
’000 shares 000 shares
TR T &
Issued ordinary shares at M1A1H B %71
1 January -
Effect of capitalisation of Hxﬁfﬁ KE AL k&R
shareholders’ loans and TR ZE (W .&27( a))
capitalisation issue (note 27(a)) 562,500 562,500
Effect of shares issued upon IPO & X 2 B3 & T35 17 i 15 #Y
(note 27(a)) 22 (ftsF27(a)) 6,164 —
Weighted average number of 12 A318 2 & idm A g
ordinary shares at 31 December  “F19& 568,664 562,500

The weighted average number of shares in issue in
2018 and 2017 were based on the assumption that
the 562,500,000 shares were issued before the
listing of shares on the Stock Exchange, as if such
shares had been outstanding throughout the years
of 2018 and 2017.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017 were the same as the
basic earnings per share as there were no
potentially dilutive ordinary shares in existence
during the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2017.

20184 K 20174 B B TR D hniE F
HETERBREZRGNE R L™
A 2 3% 17562,500,0000% A% 15 51 &
B0 3% S A% 19 FA20184F 20174 —
BEBETRE-

b) SREEZF
R & £2018%F K&2017612H31H
FEIEETHE SRR WE
BREBSRFNEAGREARZFHER -

2018F F i « BWIERER AR 171 «K——
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continuea)

MR RNEE)

=)
R e

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HBETHI

AANREFIR)

| "I‘-'

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(a)

>>

12 X -BERRE

Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) FREEHIER
Electronic
Lands and Office Motor and other
buildings equipment vehicles equipment Total
T REF BARE RE ETRHEMRE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREFTT ARETRT ARBTT AREFR
Cost: BA:
At 1 January 2017 201791 A1H 29,850 1,467 6,610 1,255 39,182
Additions NE - 194 - 9 203
Transfer from inventories BREFE 34,517 - - - 34,517
Disposals HE - (112 (125) (674) 911)
Exchange adjustments By BE - - (185) - (185)
At 31 December 2017 and 20174 12A31R
1 January 2018 %2018%F1 7314
Additions =
Disposals HE
Exchange adjustments EH AR
At 31 December 2018 20185 12H31H
Accumulated depreciation: REHE:
At 1 January 2017 R2017F1 818 (3,801) (1,137) (8,737) (1,015) (9,690)
Charge for the year FAZ M (1,380) (148) (913) (56) (2,497)
Written back on disposals HERE - 101 113 607 821
Exchange adjustments XA - - 142 - 142
At 31 December 2017 and R2017612A31A
1 January 2018 R201861A1R (5,181) (1,184) (4,395) ) (11,224)
Charge for the year FRZH (2,933) (137) (793) (88) (3,951)
Written back on disposals HERD = = = 83 83
Exchange adjustments i 530 % = - (116) ()] (118)
At 31 December 2018 R2018%12831A (8,114) (1,321) (5,304) (471) (15,210)
Net book value: REFE:
At 31 December 2018 R2018F12A31H 56,253 58,898
At 31 December 2017 R2017F12A31H 59,186 365 1,905 126 61,582

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018



12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Reconciliation of carrying amount (Continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2017, the
directors of the Company decided to use certain
self-developed properties for the Group’s operation
purpose instead of held for sale. Accordingly, the
carrying amounts of these properties of
RMB34,517,000 were transferred from inventories to
property, plant and equipment.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group was in the
process of applying the certificates of ownership for
certain properties with the carrying amount of
RMB34,517,000 (2017: RMB49,553,000).

nancia ments (Continued)

ﬁAﬁ%ﬁ%WE%)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

12 WX -HBERR

(a)

(Br=BETHIH

(&)

AAREFIR)

REEHRE)

B E2017F12A31B L FE - AR
RESFATBETEEERNOME
ARAEBEEMIFFELE - B
It - BRE B A K %34,517,0007T &Y
M##@%Eﬁrfﬁﬁéi%% i =
R &

2018512318 » A& E [F £
BHOMERFTERES  ZS5WE
B BR E B & A K %34,517,0007T
(20174 : AR #49,553,0007T) °

The analysis of net book value of lands and buildings (b) THEREFEERFEINEOT
is as follows:
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBF T
In the PRC sy
— 50 years or more (long leases) — 50F sk A F (RHIFE#Y) 59,186
2018F F it « B IEIRB R A A

«
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETAIN - AAREFITR)

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13 REYWXE
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) FREEHIR
RMB’'000
AREEF T
Valuation: fH{E :
At 1 January 2017 201741 A1 A 28,210
Fair value adjustment NEEAE 1,670
At 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018  F2017%F12H31H
201841 A1H 29,880
Disposal & (10,732)
Fair value adjustment NEEFAE 4,495
Transfer to non-current assets held for sale HEEEFIELENIERBEE (4,223)
At 31 December 2018 720184124318 19,420
(b) Fair value measurement of properties (b) MEZLAFEFTE
(i) Fair value hierarchy (i) RFEER
The following table presents the fair value of T&RAFAREEBRRE AR
the Group’s properties measured at the end of RREEEFEZMELNF
the reporting period on a recurring basis, B RB(EETHmEEL)
categorised into the three-level fair value E135% ”-‘7—7[5572%2%%%’2\
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value FEES>R=ZFEER ~FE
measurement. The level into which a fair value FTEE AT T A E KT
measurement is classified is determined with FrE R A BREE
reference to the observability and significance MEEREES
of the inputs used in the valuation technique
as follows:
—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured - E—EHZFH -EFEA
using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted —EfE AEE B
quoted prices in active markets for REtERBAEFERETS
identical assets or liabilities at the FERECRARE) Z2HE
measurement date AMEEXBEFEAT
(=l
Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A IS IR R )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 13 REWE(E)
(b) Fair value measurement of properties (b) MEZAFEE(E)
(Continued)
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued) () RFEERE)
—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured - FE_ERTH:-EARAE
using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs “ S AEE - B
which fail to meet Level 1, and not using WERIMNEE —ER
significant unobservable inputs. Nz 8 AN B w3k
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which FERATIEBER EESH
market data are not available ABEBEAEQAFEF
AERFE AT ETS
IR 2 W A EIR
—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured - F-ERTHERT
using significant unobservable inputs R 2EZH ASE
FEAFE

Fair value measurements as at
Fair value 31 December 2018 categorised into 2018
at 31 M20185F12A318 2 &
December Z2018F AT HFE
2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
A2018%F
12A31H

WAFE E g £=E
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTR AR%®TR AR®TnR

Investment properties R EIFIEE W E -
in the PRC:
— Commercial - WX

2018F F i « BWIERER AR 175 <«K——
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETAIN - AAREFITR)

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 13 REWME(E)

(b) Fair value measurement of properties (b) MEZLAFEFEE)
(Continued)
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (i) LXAFEERGE)

Fair value measurements as at
Fair value 31 December 2017 categorised into 2017

at 31 R2017512R318 D 8
December E2017FH AT EE

2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
R20174F
12H31H
EOR/NS B EF—E EF_E E

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTRE ARBTRT AR®TR

Investment properties  RAHEIMNEREYE -

in the PRC:
— Commercial - 28,600 - - 28,600
— Residential — fF= 1,280 - - 1,280

29,880 - - 29,880

—>> 176 Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018
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13
(b)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of properties

(Continued)

()

(i)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2018,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and
Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3
(2017: nil). The Group’s policy is to recognise
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy
as at the end of the reporting period in which
they occur.

All of the Group’s investment properties were
revalued as at 31 December 2018. The
valuations were carried out by an independent
firm of surveyor, Unicorn Consulting and
Appraisal Limited, who have among their staff
Fellows of the Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors with recent experience in the
location and category of property being valued.
The Group’s management have discussion with
the surveyors on the valuation assumptions
and valuation results when the valuation is
performed for financial reporting.

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements

Valuation techniques

fi e

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AT BRERNE@E)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

REWME(Z)
b) MEZLAFETEE)

13

() RFEERGE)
HZE2018F12A31H IEFE -
MERE-—ERHEE_ER
EER  TEEAXEEE
ZER017F &) - AEH
ZBORABEAFERELERER
BN RE AR EETRE
7,
AEBHAEREMER
201812 A31 H B IR 7 » itk
R G R R ERTHE
BHARTHAERAAET  H
BEABBIEMESEREY
8 HAEGITHHEERMEE
U EEBE &R - BT BR
LETHER  ASEEHEE
BRI S R ERERMEE
R o

(i) BHEE=FRLFETEHE
#

Range
gE
2017
20174

Unobservable input
TABREANE

Investment properties:

REWE

— Commercial — PRC Direct market
comparison approach

- A% - PH BEEMSLEE

— Residential — PRC Direct market
comparison approach

- £ - PH BEEMHLEE

Adjusted market price
(RMB/square meter)
(BFHKARY)

Adjusted market price
(RMB/square meter)

BHBHE
(BFRARARE)

7,699-14,640

8,038-9,282

5,926

2018F F# « BWMIERBER AT
K
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A ISR M )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETAIN - AAREFITR)

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 13 REMWE(E)
(b) Fair value measurement of properties (b) MEZAFEE(E)

(Continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements (Continued)
The fair value of investment properties located
in the PRC is determined using the direct
market comparison approach by reference to
recent sales price of comparable properties on
a price per square meter basis, adjusted for a
premium or a discount specific to the location,
property size and age of the Group’s
properties compared to the recent sales. The
higher adjusted market price will result in a
higher fair value measurement.

The movements during the period in the
balance of these Level 3 fair value
measurements are as follows:

Investment properties in the RAHBEMIEEME — FHHE
PRC — Commercial

At 1 January ®1A1H

Fair value adjustment NEEFAE

Disposal &

Transfer to non-current EREZREHENIERD
assets held for sale BE

At 31 December MW12H318

—>> 178 Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018
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(i)

FHE=ZERLFETEHE
# (&)

fRPBENIREMERFET
EREEMSLBELENE
Lo B E 0 i B 3H S (B A% (3
BYTAEBRFAB)ETE X
EHHIMHEER A RENE
MAE - MEXNDRBEREH
EHE B ITRAE - CRHE
mEMS AFEFELS -

ZEE=—EBRAFEFEGR
MEIA g ST

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BT ARETTT

28,600 27,000
4,129 1,600
(10,732) —

(2,577) -

19,420 28,600
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Note's to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continuea)
A B ERR W i)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 13 REWE(E)

(b) Fair value measurement of properties (b) MEZAFEE(E)
(Continued)
(i) Information about Level 3 fair value (i) BEE=ERLFEAENE
measurements (Continued) #(E)

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREFT

Investment properties in the RHPBEINEREWE — F=
PRC — Residential

At 1 January »1A1H 1,280 1,210
Fair value adjustment NE(EHFE 366 70
Transfer to non-current HRERHEEENIERD
assets held for sale BE (1,646) —
At 31 December MW12H31H 1,280
(c) The analysis of net book value of properties is as (c) MEREFEIFWT :
follows:
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® T AREF T
In the PRC NG
— 50 years or more (long leases) — 50F s A E (K EIFE ) 23,280
— between 10 and 50 years — 10&E50F 2 i (R B 49)
(medium-term leases) 6,600
29,880

2018FF i « BB R AR 179 «K——
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Notes to the Consolidated

ITEMBERERNFE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HBETHI
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

13
(d)

14

AANREFIR)

The Group leases out investment properties under
operating leases. The leases typically run for an
initial period of 1 to 10 years, with an option to
renew the lease after that date at which time all
terms are renegotiated. Lease payments are usually
increased every year to reflect market rentals. None
of the leases includes contingent rentals.

The properties held under operating leases that
would otherwise meet the definition of investment
property are classified as investment property.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

13 REWME (&)
(d FEERBEGEROLBAREY

X -HMO—ROFBE—=1+F-
EBKENBEMBGRRLE
H o BREMISESKFE  BHON
RBEEFEN - BEHOBREX
Bl -

UREMOBEMNTEREMETE
ENNECOBERREME -

14 RMBATNKRE

Unlisted shares, at cost (note (i)
Capital loans to subsidiaries (note (ii))

(B 3EGi))

FE LRty - AN (B EEG))
RTHBRARNESER

—>> 180
—>>

Before the Reorganisation, Huizhou Yuefu Real Estate
Co., Ltd. (“Huizhou Yuefu”) and Huizhou Million
Cities Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Huizhou
Million Cities”) were indirectly non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group.

According to the Reorganisation, on 28 June 2018,
the Company further acquired 4.99% equity interests
in Huizhou Yuefu and 5% equity interests in Huizhou
Million Cities from Wong Ting Chong at a
consideration of RMB19,760,000 and RMB2,625,000
respectively.

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFT

23,264 -

521,612 -

544,876 -

B BMTHERBEBRA
A (TEMEED REMH EHE i
ERBEERAATEMER]) BE
SEREIFZEMBAT -

RIEEH N2018F6H28H * AR
AN TERBKREBRMNES REMN
B 84.99% 5% iE - RED B A
A B %19,760,0007T K& A R ¥
2,625,0007T °
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to the Consolldated FlnanC|aI Statements (Continued)

MAEBERRNFE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRARTAN  LAREIITR)

14 REBLARANRE (&)

(Continued)
(i) (Continued) (i)
The following tables list out the information relating
to Huizhou Million Cities, the subsidiary of the Group
which have material non-controlling interests (“NCI”).
The summarised financial information presented
below represents the amounts before any inter-
company elimination.

(i)  The balances are unsecured, interest-free and have (ii)
no fixed terms of repayment, and are expected to
be recovered after one year.

(%)

TRINHBEEHEEEAIFE thfé it

(ESyi e £

52 RSB B A

BMERZER - LAT;:EIJZEM%
EHBMEREMAREYHEAM

B

EHRAEBER RERAERETE
P AR -FRKE -

Huizhou Million Cities EMBEHE

NCI percentage FERERZAD
Current assets mB)EE
Non-current assets IEMBEE
Current liabilities mEaE
Non-current liabilities FEMBAEE

Net assets B EFRE

FEIRR M & 2 BRI E

Carrying amount of NCI

Revenue A
Profit/(loss) for the year FREMN(EE)
Total comprehensive income iﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ?@

Profit/(loss) allocated to NCI D E I thg s 2 A, (B E)

Cash inflow/(outflow) from KEEBRSRA (R
operating activities

Cash inflow/(outflow) from
investing activities

Cash (outflow)/inflow from
financing activities

RETZHRSMA(RH)

MEFRHRS OB, MA

2018 2017
20184 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AREET T

45.5% 45.5%

1,673,683 640,407

14,029 15,028

1,492,037 568,862

17,116 —

178,559 86,573

81,244 39,391

249,681 22,533
50,201 (2,862)
50,201 (2,862)
22,841 (1,302)
587,605 (235,609)
39,971 (5,089)

(86,744) 257,712

2018F F# « BWMIERBER AT

181 «K—
L——



il R e e e L
Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

BB WmRNEE)

=
R e
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HBETHI

AANREFIR)

15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES

Ty L ' . -
ients (Continued)

156 RBERTNER

Share of net liabilities
Capital loans to associates (note)

FE15 BB F 5

G

BTMEARMNESER

Note: In 2017,

—>> 182
—>>

the Group provided capital loans of
RMB87,000,000 and HKD 300,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB251,000) respectively to Henan Julongju
Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Henan Julongju”) and Asia Image
(H.K.) Limited (“Asia Image”). In 2018, the Group provided
an additional shareholder’s loan of HKD24,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB21,040,000) to Gold
Concept Development Limited (“Gold Concept”). The
amount was paid by Winnermax Management Limited on
behalf of the Group, and was included in amounts due to
related parties which were capitalised on 20 December
2018 (note 27(b)(i)). The balances are unsecured, interest-
free and have no fixed terms of repayment, and are
expected to be recovered after one year.

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018

CEE

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AREET T
(3,715) (173)
108,291 87,251
104,576 87,078

20175 - REE SRR EREEE
¥ERra(AmBEER]D REE
(BEBA)ERAAI(EEZDREHES
B & A R #87,000,0007T 300,000
77T (IR E R4 A R #251,0007T) °
20184 + /N £ [E [Gold Concept
Development Limited ([ Gold
Concept]) 12 # % s I8 B B %
24,000,000/ 7T (1 & R A A R ¥
21,040,0007T) - B R IBHBEE
BERATIREKAEEZM 5t AR
201812 A208 & 7~ 1k 1Y & 1 4 B
7 3RIE (M aE27 (b)) ) © B B4 ah B 1R
B R & E EE K E - TR
R—F e -



15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

AR FEE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

156 RBEE QT HERE (&)

The following list contains the particulars of all associates, TRINEH AR LT AR EBELED
all of which are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted BWMELAMEBELARNER

market price is not available:

Proportion of
ownership interest

BEEREZLH
Form of Place of Particulars of
business incorporation issued and  Held by the Held by a
Name of associate structure and business  paid-up capital Company  subsidiary Principal activity
ML R BRTR M H
BeNREH ¥BERPR  KEnl BRBRAFE ARARE WELARKE TEEBED
Gold Concept Incorporated Hong Kong USD100 - 30% Investment holding
ERlif2Ava £ 100% 7T - 30% REER
Asia Image” Incorporated Hong Kong HKD1 - 30% Investment holding
fas B 1A £ BT - 30% REER
Henan Julongju* Incorporated PRC HKD20,000,000 - 30% Property development
MEREE EERiigr v M E 20,000,0007% 7t - 30% MEER
Henan Julongwan Property Incorporated PRC RMB20,000 - 30% Property management
Management Co., Ltd.*
AEREEANEERFERATT AWK i AR #20,0007 - 30% NEERE
* These companies are wholly-owned by Gold Concept. * %% 2 "] FAGold Conceptz & #E & °
# The entity is PRC limited liability company. The English # ZEBATEHAEREERRF - AFHEX

translation of the company name is for reference only. The

official name of the company is in Chinese.

EFREHRZE PUEBERETAE-

All associates are accounted for using the equity method EBMENTIUESZEEFRNGEATBRE

in the consolidated financial statements.

ABR e

20184 F# « BWIERBR AT 183 «——
L——-
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15 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Management consider that Gold Concept together with its
subsidiaries (“Gold Concept sub-group”) have significant
impact to the financial position and performance of the
Group individually. The summarised consolidated financial

information on these associates,

adjusted for any

differences in accounting policies, and reconciled to the
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements

s ;Lu L

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continuea)

15

REEQATWER (&)

BB BR AGold ConceptE[R KB A
7] ([ Gold Conceptlff & & @) #% o Bl &
REBNHBERARRRELEEAY
B ZEMENNGREMBERNRE (3
EHBRENANERELHABLERNF
ERAVBRENEDEHR) S50
o

—>> 184

for the year is as follows:

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR F T
Gross amounts of associates BENT 2B
Current assets MBEE 470,465 313,321
Non-current assets EmBEE 4,187 711
Current liabilities nRBBERE 487,037 314,607
Deficit &5 4 (12,385) (575)
Revenue WA = -
Loss from continuing operations BELEERER (8,352) (840)
Other comprehensive income HEmz2wEkas (3,457) 265
Total comprehensive income EENEBETE (11,809) (575)
Reconciled to the Group’s interest EEXREE R B ZE NI NER
in associates HR
Gross amounts of net liabilities of & AR ABEFRERE
associates (12,385) (575)
Group’s effective interest AEBMEERER 30% 30%
Group’s share of net liabilities of AEBEEEBEARAE
associates F R (3,715) (173)
Capital loans to associates BTBEARNESER
— non-current portion — ERBE D 108,291 87,251
Carrying amount of the Group’s AEEEmNERERE
interest 104,576 87,078
As at 31 December 2018, Gold Concept and its M2018F12H31H + B A Gold Concept

subsidiaries were of net liabilities due to the early stage of

development.

2>

Gold Concept sub-group
Gold Conceptfff B &£ &

REMBRRARNERDBREER  HHE

BREFEIRR -

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018



16

INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES

" Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AT BRERNE@E)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

16 REELQTWER

Share of net assets DIREEZFE

Capital loans to joint ventures (note) #HTFTAZERAMNETER

(B &E)

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AREET T
5,557 2,572
58,440 41,384
63,997 43,956

Note: The balances are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed
terms of repayment, and are expected to be recovered
after one year.

Details of the Group’s interest in joint ventures as at 31
December 2018, which is accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements, are as
follows:

MiaE: ASRAEIEIR . %8RI EEEEN

H EHR—-FRKE -

R2018F12A31H A EE R A E R AN
B (UAESERGEAUBREAR)

ICRUNNE

Proportion of
ownership interest

BEEREZLA

Form of Place of Particulars of

business incorporation issued and Held by the Held by a
Name of joint venture structure and business paid-up capital Company subsidiary Principal activity

AR AL R 2REITR NN KEAR
RELNFER EBEREL  EESY BRERAEFE A e TEEH
Well Kong Investments Limited Incorporated BVI usD2 - 50% Investment holding
BEAREBRRA BR1ZAvE EEHRARES 2ETT - 50% & ZK
Well Kong (H.K.) Limited* Incorporated Hong Kong HKD10,000 - 50% Investment holding
BEEB)BRAA BasAvA e 10,0005 7T - 50% IR EER
Huizhou Well Kong Real Estate Co., Incorporated PRC RMB88,000,000 - 50% Property development
Ltd.*

BMNEREXERRAY Az HEl A R #:88,000,0007T - 50% MEHER

2018F F# « BWMIERBER AT
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETAIN - AAREFITR)

16
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INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES
(Continued)

* These companies are wholly-owned by Well Kong
Investments Limited.

# The entity is PRC limited liability company. The English
translation of the company name is for reference only. The
official name of the company is in Chinese.

Pursuant to the agreement dated 22 February 2017, the
Group disposed of 50% equity interest in Well Kong
Investments Limited to an independent third party. Well
Kong Investments Limited and its subsidiaries (“Well Kong
sub-group”) have become 50% joint ventures of the
Group since then.

All joint ventures in which the Group participates are

unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market price is
not available.

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B e

P

MAEBERRNFE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES 16

(Continued)

Summarised financial information of Well Kong sub-group,

adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and a

reconciliation to the carrying amount in the consolidated

financial statements, are disclosed below:

Gross amounts of the joint EEDTMNEEE
ventures

Current assets MENVE E

Non-current asset FEMEBEE

Current liabilities (note) mE B & ()

Non-current liability EmBERE

Equity %

Included in the above assets and FBEERBERE:
liabilities:

Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY

Non-current financial liabilities
(excluding trade and other payables
and provisions)

Revenue

Loss from continuing operations
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

Included in the above loss:
Interest income
Income tax credit

FnHeREETEREES
Ko Bt FE A 5RIE K B 4D

LUN
Hh 2w W
HEHKEERE

HiEEBRE
A
PRRER

2018F F# « BWMIERBER AT

(B BHHBD -
REELAWESR (&)

AAREFIR)

EEMESENMAMBEENRESA
MEHRERNEERESREEDN T 25t
SRIBRENEAEZRFEHAE

Well Kong sub-group
EENMESE

2018
20184
RMB’000
AR¥T T

1,177,018
14,763
819,178
360,000
12,603

10,065

360,000

(3,619)
(3,990)
(7,609)

2017
20174
RMB’000
AREET T

870,018

864,874

5,144

8,962

(163)
5,351
5,188

194
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Notes fo the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continuea)

ITEMBERERNFE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BREBETHMN - LARBTIR)
16 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES 16 REERATNER ()
(Continued)
Well Kong sub-group
EEMBER
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® T AR T
Reconciled to the Group’s interest EEAEENREE AT MNES
in joint ventures ZHER
Gross amounts of Well Kong sub- BEWNBEBRFEELTE
group’s net assets 12,603 5,144
Elimination of the unrealised profit A HEMERREERRF
upon consolidation (1,489) —
11,114 5,144
Group’s effective interest AEENERF X 50% 50%
Group’s share of Well Kong sub- REEDEEBH B
group’s net assets FEE 2,672
Amounts due from joint ventures FER & & R FRIFRIE
— non-current portion — ENE u|373 41,384
Carrying amount in the consolidated 4R & Bf %R & WA BR E B
financial statements 43,956
Note: The balance primarily represented the amounts due to Wi % ETBEENEBAIRE EA5R
related parties, which are interest-free, unsecured and B mIKEEAEREREER

repayable on demand.

2>
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INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT
COSTS

Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MEMBERRNFE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

17 FEREMBEHEE

2018 2017
20184 20174
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B E ARBTR AREFT

Inventories 78
Properties held for development 3% {3 & 4 % 38,301 169,221
Properties under development & ¥ % 1,215,175 572,225
Completed properties for sale F&ET & T 418,822 525,809
1,672,298 1,267,255
Other contract costs Hia#H K& (©) 15,977 —
1,688,275 1,267,255

(@) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised

as an expense and included in profit or loss is as
follows:

(a) ERAAXALFAABENFESH
oI U

Cost of inventories (note 7(c))

7 &R (HRE7(c))

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt AREF T
301,533 765,987

At 31 December 2018, the amount of inventories
expected to be recovered after more than one year
is RMB1,168,816,000 (2017: RMB1,061,783,000). All
of the other inventories are expected to be

recovered within one year.

At 31 December 2018, certain of the Group’s
inventories were pledged for bank loans (see note

24).

7201812 A31H  TEHAR HiE —
FRUEBNGEESE S AAARK
1,168,816,0007T (20174 @ A K #
1,061,783,0007T) - FT B H b 7 &
BEHR—FRYKE -

MR20185F12A31H - A&EBE T 17
EERBTEREHERRM T
24) o

2018FF i « BB R AR 189 «——
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Notes to the Consohdated F|nanC|a| Statements (Connnued)

ARA B R M )

WIS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BREETHN  LAARKETR)
17 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT 17 FERHEMEANREK(E)
COSTS (Continued)
(b) The analysis of carrying value of inventories is as (b) FENEEEEINET
follows:
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AREET T
In the PRC A
— 50 years or more (long leases) — 504 st JA + (R EIFH 49) 1,607,735 1,202,784
— between 10 and 50 years — 10&250F 2 A (P B3R 49)
(medium-term leases) 64,563 64,471
1,672,298 1,267,255
(c) Contract costs () BHRAK
Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2018 R2018%F 128318 » BRI £ R E
relate to the incremental sales commissions paid to TAHMESHERSBEAONEE
property agents whose selling activities resulted in My EEMERBOEEETHE
customers entering into sale and purchase EFE B AEBE2018F12A31B &
agreements for the Group’s properties which are still EHOVMEITVEERZ -
under construction as at 31 December 2018.
Contract costs are recognised as part of “selling BHRARERBBEMEHEE WS
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or HEARGEEREABRAIHER
loss in the period in which revenue from the related TIH — 2 » o B £2018F12 431
property sales is recognised. No such contract costs HIEFE UERERERESDOK
were recognised in profit or loss during the year A (20175 : AR¥227,0007T) ° &
ended 31 December 2018 (2017: RMB227,000). F2018F12A31H IFFE - EAR (L
There was no impairment in relation to the opening X 7N B9 4F ) 48 B4 5 & AN B AN T A
balance of capitalised costs or the costs capitalised B (20178 1 &)
during the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017:
nil).
Million Cities Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2018
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17 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT
COSTS (Continued)

(c)

Contract costs (Continued)

The Group applies the practical expedient in
paragraph 94 of HKFRS 15 and recognises the
incremental costs of obtaining contracts relating to
the sale of completed properties and services as an
expense when incurred if the amortisation period of
the assets that the Group otherwise would have
recognised is within the same reporting period as
the date of entering into the contract.

The amount of capitalised contract costs that is
expected to be recovered after more than one year
were RMB9,963,000 as at 31 December 2018
(2017: nil).

18 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The following table provides information about receivables
and contract liabilities from contracts with customers:

e

i s Nété's' to the Cbﬁsolida_te _Fiﬁanoial StatémentS(Cont/nuecﬂ

AT BRERNE@E)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRARTAN  LAREIITR)

17 FEREMENRE (EF)

(c)

BRI (E)

AEBEACEEVBREEADS
165 FOAR M A ITHRE A R
REE A BE R TTHER N B E 1
HFERITLABAHNEREEH®
- BREERERRESR
FHEC B E MR A DR E

201812 A31H  FEHIR B —
FrrBBMEREEHARNETEAR
#9,963,0007T (20174 : &) ©

18 aHM&AE
TRIBEMES S NRIHARA K

Receivables from contracts
with customers within the scope
of HKFRS 15, which are included
in “Trade and other receivables”

(note 19)

(BB 1584 2 8) 5E155%
HEANNZTFE S K ERR
H i AITESREM
JE W 5k 18 ] (Bt 5E19)

Contract liabilities- Receipt in advance &% BE — MEHEBAKK

from property sales (note)

(B 7E)

BEMER:

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFIT
5,969
1,494,172 71,281

2018F F# « BWMIERBER AT
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HBETHI

IAARKSIR)

18 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

Note: Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of
contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

—>> 192
—>>

(i

(i

The Group receives certain amount of advanced
payments from customers when customers sign the
sale and purchase agreements with the Group.
These advanced payments are recognised as
contract liabilities until the relevant properties are
completed and ready for hand-over to the
customers.

Depending on market conditions, the Group requires
the customers to pay off the full consideration within
an agreed time frame while development are still
ongoing, rather than on the completion of the
relevant properties. Such advance payment schemes
result in contract liabilities being recognised
throughout the remaining property development
period for the full amount of the contract price. In
addition, the contract liabilities will be increased by
the amount of interest expense being accrued by the
Group to reflect the effect of any significant
financing benefit obtained from the customers during
the period between the payment date and the hand-
over date of properties. As this accrual increases
the amount of the contract liabilities during the
period of development, it therefore increases the
amount of revenue recognised when control of the
completed property is transferred to the customer.

The Group receives full payments of the consideration
from certain customers when they sign the sale and
purchase agreements. The excess of the
considerations received over the revenue recognised
in profit or loss in accordance with accounting policy
as set out in note 2(t)() are recognised as contract
liabilities.

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018
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the's ’to the Consolidéted Finandial Statements (Continuea)
A B ERR W i)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 18 EHNAEaE(E

Movements in contract liabilities EHEBED

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREFT

Balance at 1 January R1A1E & & 71,281 730,339
Decrease in contract liabilities as a A # B &R F RN ERF 1)
result of recognising revenue during st A& KB BEHKRA

the year that was included in the i 2

contract liabilities at the beginning

of the year (71,281) (704,580)
Increase in contract liabilities as a EHBEEEAFAMNI2A318

result of receipt in advance from MATRNMEHE

property sales during the year in T8 W K i 2 0

respect of properties still under

construction as at 31 December 1,479,997 45,522
Increase in contract liabilities as a aH B E R FT W ETE S SR

result of accruing interest expense ZEF B mE

on receipt in advance 14,175 —
Balance at 31 December W12 A31H B4 & 1,494,172 71,281

2018FF i « BB R AR 193 «K——
L——-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial St'a't'eme'ht's (cbnt/nueoo

ITEMBERERNFE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BREBETHMN - LARBTIR)
19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19 ESZRHEMEKRFE
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AREETF T
Trade debtors (note (a)) JE U BR X (B 7E(a) )
— Sales of properties — MEHEE 5,969
— Gross rentals from operating lease — & & HEH 4 4 333
6,302
Amounts due from related parties JiE Wt 78 Bt 75 ) 3B (B 3E (b))

(note (b)) 111,684
Other debtors H b e W sk IR 1,269
Financial assets measured at RERNATENESREE

amortised cost 7,867 119,255
Deposits (note (c)) & (M sE(c)) 11,562 9,168
Prepayments (note (d)) T8~ 5k 38 (M 3E(d) ) 156,496 86,254

175,925 214,677

All of the trade and other debtors are expected to be
recovered or recognised as expenses within one year.

2>
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19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Ageing analysis

As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing
analysis of trade debtors (which are included in
trade and other receivables), based on the date the
trade debtors recognised and net of allowance for
doubtful debts, is as follows:

e

* Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AT BRERNE@E)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRARTAN  LAREIITR)

19 ESREMEKRRIEE)

(a)

Within 1 month 1& A A
1 to 3 months 1231E A
3 to 6 months 3% 6f# A
Over 6 months 6fE A A £

The Group’s credit policy is set out in note 28(a).

As of 31 December 2018, no trade debtors were
past due (2017: nil). Based on experience,
management believes that no impairment allowance
is necessary in respect of the trade debtors as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality
and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

The amounts due from related parties are interest-
free, unsecured and recovered during the year.

The balance mainly included the deposits paid for the
construction and development of properties.

(b)

(c)

2018F F# « BWMIERBER AT

AR R 2 AT

RMERR SAAEZ R EMER
KB BWER (ENRRERE)
E R YRR IER B e RRE DA
L

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREFIT
53 5,887

90 90

135

190

6,302

AEBEERRENME28() °

B E2018F12A318 » I & & W BR
HE (20176 - ) - AR &R
EEEBRREAREEERLEEAXN
M B2 E SRR A T AR B
Bl - &  78 Bi FE U5 AR SR AT R R (B 1
B ARBAERZFERT AL
fa] #5.9 a

FEW AR T AR RS - BEH R
ARFREER-

FHERTIEZEREREELRERY
Xefmrs-

«
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onsolidated Financial Stater

ARA B R M )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETAIN - AAREFITR)

19 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

(d)

—>> 196
—>>

At 31 December 2018, the balance mainly includes
prepayments for properties development of
RMB151,527,000 (2017: RMB56,756,000), and
prepayments for VAT and surcharges with an
aggregated amount of RMB4,968,000 (2017:
RMB29,219,000).

Pursuant to the ‘Circular on the Overall Promotion of
Pilot Program of Levying VAT in place of Business
Tax (“Cai Shui 2016 No. 36”) jointly issued by the
Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of
Taxation, the PRC subsidiaries of the Group are
subject to VAT from 1 May 2016 on their revenues
instead of business tax. According to the Circular
Cai Shui 2016 No. 36, VAT for sales of properties,
in the case that the construction of properties
commenced before 1 May 2016, is calculated at a
tax rate of 5% based on a simplified method.
Otherwise, the VAT is calculated at a tax rate of
11% before 1 May 2018 according to Circular Cai
Shui 2016 No. 36 and at a tax rate of 10% since 1
May 2018 according to ‘Notice of the Ministry of
Finance and the State Administration of Taxation on
the Adjustment to VAT Rates‘(“Cai Shui 2018 No.
32”) issued by the Ministry of Finance and the State
Administration of Taxation. Prepaid VAT (being 3%
of the selling price of the properties) is paid upon
the properties are pre-sold.

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018

19 ESREMERKIEE)

(d)

R2018F12A31H - B HEE
PDREMEZERONBNRBEARYE
151,527,0007C (20174 © A R ¥
56,756,0007T) + 3 (& % & b hn &
B TE N BB & R A R #4,968,000
70 (20174 © AR#29,219,0007T) °

BETBRBEERTEEEBLRME
M RTBRRBEHEEREAR S
EHMAEETRBIEERATNB
(8 #2016 3657 ) * NEE
B E KB AR B20165F5A18 &8
AREWABMNIGE - ML
Fio 1B & Bf Bi20164:365% XX @ Ht
2016F5 A 1H A MBI MERET
R HEMEMIEEBIREEN
5%MEEHE - MRE 2016536
8% X - 201855 A1 H A 2 B (E i #%
MR ERFE - MBS RE
RIS 48 B 28 5 B (B B BP B 7 48
BRI ARG ER R @A 8
20184 325% X ) - 2018F5H1H
I EA10% - B EER (AWE
EER3% ) NBEEWERHMT -



20 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

21

g1

Note's to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continuea)

MEMBERRNFE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

20 HitbEREE

At 1 January
Additions

Changes in fair value (note 5)

Disposals

M1A18

FE

168 B (Ff 325)
i

At 31 December

R12A31H

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AREET T
40,000 35,000

— 87,500

26 178

(40,026) (82,678)
40,000

At 31 December 2017, other financial assets represented
the investment in wealth management products issued by
the banks. Other financial assets measured at fair value

through profit and loss.

PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED DEPOSITS

MR2017F12A31H  Eh e gt EEHE R
BRTBETHEVER HEMemEE
BRAFESFABRIZ

21 EEFRZIRFHFER

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® TR AREETF T

Pledged for mortgage arrangements of #L#) ¥ B KIR 1B L HE Ve K18
the property buyers (note (a)) (Fff 5% (a) ) 28,959 20,977

Restricted deposits for the BESNXERSFR

construction contracts (note (b)) (Fff 5 () ) 458,054 6,542
487,013 27,519

2018FF i « BB R AR 197 «K——
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

*# 1170

] i

ITEMBERERNFE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBATHEI - AARKEFIR)

21 PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED DEPOSITS
(Continued)
Notes:

(@)

In accordance with relevant contracts, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to
place certain cash deposits in designated bank accounts
as collateral for mortgage loans advanced by the
designated bank to property buyers. Such guarantee
deposits will be released after the property ownership
certificates of the relevant properties are passed to the
banks.

In accordance with relevant government requirements,
certain property development companies of the Group are
required to place in designated bank accounts certain pre
-sale proceeds to secure the future payments of the
constructions of the respective properties development
projects. The deposits can only be used for payments for
construction costs of the relevant properties developments
with the approval from related government authority. Such
restricted deposits will be released for the payments for
construction costs of the related property development
projects.

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(a)

—>> 198
—>>

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of:

Ty L ' . -
ients (Continued)

21 BEHEHERZIREERE)

B EE

(a)

REHABEGYN  ARENETYXER
ARIAREERTHERFFAETHER
T EREERITAVEERENIZIS
ERMERR ZEREREEENEH
VIRE 5 E PR B R IRTTIR R BR -

RBABEBRIRE ANEENETYE
MERARAREERITRPFEARTH
EWEEMSHE  BREBEMEER
HEREBEBENE TR - ZFFK
EAURESHBRAE BRI AR ARX
NEBYMEERBEBMEEKAN - %F
ERHFFEN AN EEREAR
R AR R

22 RERREEEY

(a)

FHEES
RITHRE

Cash on hand
Cash at bank

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018

HEeRBEESEEYWEE:
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARET T
94 335
1,106,332 93,837
1,106,426 94,172
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22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(Continued)
Reconciliation of profit before taxation to
cash generated from/(used in) operation:

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

. o e e e TP

MAEBERRNFE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

22 RWERREEEY (&

Profit before taxation

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and
amortisation

Net gain on disposal of
subsidiaries

Net loss on disposal of
property, plant and
equipment

Net gain on disposal of
investment properties

Net gain on disposals of
other financial assets

Finance costs

Interest income

Net valuation gain on
investment properties

Share of profits less losses
of associates

Share of profits less
losses of joint ventures

Listing expenses

Net unrealised exchange
(gain)/loss

B B A1 gt 7

1 38 B
IrE K
& BB A B R W F R

HEME - BERRED
B8 %

HEREYEN W F R

HEHMEREEN KSR
-

RPN

A S A

BREMER G E RS FHE

DGR E R R & MRUE 18R
DIER E R MR B
EFHrRX

RERER (W), EE
F

(b) BB BANELERE (FrA)
HEWHEER -

2018 2017

20184 20174

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR T AREET T
188,294 141,387

7(c) 2,497
(22)

5 59
5 (5,450) —
5 (26) (178)
7(a) 5,166 219
5 (2,618) (1,343)
13(a) (4,495) (1,670)
2,506 252

1,809 82

7(c) 18,718 —
(29) 91

2018F F# « BWMIERBER AT
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Notes to the Consohdated F|nanC|aI Statements (COnt/nued)

ITEMBERERNFE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BEERTHN  UARESIR)

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to
cash generated from/(used in) operation:

(Continued)

22 BERBEEEYW(E)

(b) PFRBLAIERIERKE B (FFA)

REMEiR: (&)

2018
20185
RMB’000
AR® T

Changes in working
capital:
(Increase)/decrease in
inventories and other
contract costs
(Increase)/decrease in
trade and other
receivables
(Increase)/decrease in
pledged and restricted
deposits
Increase/(decrease) in
contract liabilities

28

S
]
kH>

EE A
FEREMAEHRA
(8 D)//Hw\

B 5 N E e WK IR
(& 1),/

EHEA R X R FR
(& 1),/

BHaEEMCRd)

(389,879)

(2,196)

(459,494)

1,408,788

76,809

Increase in trade and other & 5 & H th & {5 I8
payables # 0
Cash generated from/ KEmE/ (TR BE:

(used in) operations

841,863

—>> 200
—>>
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2017
20174
RMB’000
AREFT

99,846

8,230

128,056

(659,058)

74,352

(207,200)




22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Continued)

(c)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as
cash flows from financing activities.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

22 BERBLEEY(E)

(c) MEFHFMELERENHIER

TRAJNASEREEZHELR
Bz BRAT MR E
H-MEEHELNEBBREDR
EXAKRBESRENRE  LHE
RRELTHABREREFTALRE
BHmaReRER -

2018FF i « BB R AR 201 «K—
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continuea)
AR RWMEE)

st ] ;1__!"_?.'1 e — —

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(B BAETHASN - UAREEFIR)
22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c)
financing activities (Continued)

22 BWERREEEYW(E)

METBDFELEBENYHRGE)

Amounts due

Bank loans to NCI and
and interest other related
payables parties
PE S FE = AR
EART REEREM
EXREANE BEBARE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT AR¥Tn AR¥Tx
At 1 January 2018 20181 H1H 299,317 958,130 1,257,447
Changes from financing MERESRESS :
cash flows:
Proceeds from bank loans IRITE RS HIE 330,357 - 330,357
Repayment of bank loans BERITER (80,700) - (80,700)
Advances from related parties [ B 77 84 3% - 36,920 36,920
Repayment to related parties (& & B8 Bt 77 2B - (204,302) (204,302)
Interest paid on bank loans 2 4R 17 E & A & (18,509) - (18,509)
Total changes from financing BB IR &R E 2 H
cash flows B =g 231,148 (167,382) 63,766
Exchange adjustments fE AR (488) (3,388) (3,876)
Other changes: Hih# s :
Interest on bank IRITERFE
loans (note 7(a)) (FfF5E7(a)) 20,430
Deemed distribution to BRAEM AR R 5 K
shareholders (note 25(c)) (Ff 5E25(c) ) 65,443 65,443
Investment in subsidiaries KK B A RIMKEE
(note 14) (Pt 7E14) 22,385 22,385

Capitalisation of shareholders’ AR E B # & &b
loans (note 27(b)(i)) (M 5E27(D)(0))
Other non-cash effect HMIEHRETE

(478,662)
19,781

(478,662)
19,781

Total other changes HmmEshmsE 20,430

(371,053)

(350,623)

At 31 December 2018 2018612 H31H 550,407 416,307 966,714
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22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Continued)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities (Continued)

(c)

ﬁAﬁ%ﬁ%W?%)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=BETHIH

AAREFIR)

2 RERBEEEBYWE)

(c) MEFHMELEREBENHRGE)

Amounts due

to NCI and
other related
Bank loans parties Total
JE - FE 45 IR
Rk E ﬁﬂ
RITER A @Et
RMB’000 RMB'OOO RMB’000
ARSFTT AR®FTT AR®BFTT
At 1 January 2017 20171 81H — 967,976 967,976
Changes from financing MERSREEH:
cash flows:
Proceeds from bank loans RITE RIS KIE 299,317 — 299,317
Advances from related parties B B 75 2 3 - 215,620 215,620
Repayment to related parties 1832 B3 Bt 75 5K 18 - (163,528) (163,528)
Interest paid on bank loans 2 f$R17 E & F & (5,128) — (5,128)
Total changes from financing BB IR &R EE H
cash flows PG 294,189 52,092 346,281
Exchange adjustments ELRARE - (47,240) (47,240)
Other changes: Hih# 5 :
Interest on bank loans IRITERF B
(note 7(a)) (M 5E7(a)) 5,128 — 5,128
Other non-cash effect HtIEFBReTE — (14,698) (14,698)
Total other changes Hi & EhmE 5,128 (14,698) (9,570)
At 31 December 2017 R2017F12A31H 299,317 958,130 1,257,447
2018F FF « BWIERBR AT

«
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ITEMBERERNFE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETAIN - AAREFITR)

B St iy L TR

Notes to the Consohdated F|nanC|a| Statements (Continuea)

23 NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 23 F#ELHEWNIERBEE
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group B =2018F12A31A L FE - A& Bt
entered into sale and purchase agreements with HERTREMFEEBLE=FERE]
independent third party purchasers in relation to the VEEHZ AKBRKZEREMES
disposal of certain investment properties. The Group PRABIEHENEREEE - R20184F
transferred these investment properties into non-current 12A318 - ML ENEREEFH KT
assets held for sale. As at 31 December 2018, the legal B °
procedures of the disposal have not been completed.
Investment properties being classified as held for sale are 2 *EFH% EHENREMERA T ERE
recognised at fair value (see note 2(w)). PR EE2(w) ) °
24 BANK LOANS 24 BITER
This note provides information about the contractual AR EAEBERITERN S D IER
terms of the Group’s bank loans. For more information WIEBEER -EHEASENERRBRMNE
about the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, please ZER - FE2HE M E28(c) ©
refer to note 28(c).
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFT
— Secured — B 460,794 299,317
— Unsecured — A 87,620 -
548,414 299,317
The secured bank loans are secured by assets below: BEEFRITERATIEEEEIF -
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® TR AREET T
Inventories g 600,220 163,078
At 31 December 2018, the secured bank loan of MR2018F12831H B ARITE XA
RMB96,316,000 (2017: RMB299,317,000) was guaranteed R #96,316,0007T (20174 : A E o3
by related parties (see note 31(e)). 299,317,0007T) M B8 Bt 5 £ R (R W 7
31(e)) °
Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018
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24 BANK LOANS (Continued)

At 31 December 2018, the bank loans were interest-
bearing at 110% and 130% of the benchmarked loan
interest rate published by the People’s Bank of China
(“RMB Loan Benchmark Rate”) or at Hong Kong Inter
Bank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) plus 4% per annum.

At 31 December 2017, the bank loans were interest-
bearing at 110% of the RMB Loan Benchmark Rate.

The Group’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment
of certain covenants which are commonly found in lending
arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group were
to breach the covenants, the drawn down facilities would
become payable on demand. Further details of the
Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in note
28(b).

At 31 December 2018, bank loans were repayable as
follows according to the repayment schedules as set out
in the loan agreements:

24

e

* Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AT BRERNE@E)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

RITER (&
2018F12A31H  IRITERFBIEH
BEARBITAMOEEERFER(TAR
BEREEFEK])110% M130%:T & 5%
REBRTRAERB(EBRITAER
B ) 4%st & -

MR2017F12A31H » SRITER IR AR
BEREEFEI110%T B °

AEEMRITHEBENE TRHHT
E FURTLAENESHBBENEESR
PhER - WAEEERTZHE DRI
BREREREE BEAEBRHE
© B B E I K FF 18 H R M FE28(b) ©

201812 A31H » B I & X % 3% BT &L
ERFBEREBITERARUTEEEE

Within 1 year —F R
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFNA
After 2 years but within 5 years WEEZBRFER

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tt AREF T
288,762 80,700
154,775 188,300
104,877 30,317
548,414 299,317

Notwithstanding the specified repayment schedules as
stated in the facilities letters which allow the loans to be
repaid over a period of more than one year, banking
facilities granted to the Group include a clause that gives
the bank an unconditional rights to call the bank loans at
any time (“repayment on demand clause”). The secured
bank loans subject to the repayment on demand clause
amounted to RMB460,794,000 as at 31 December 2018
(2017: RMB299,317,000) were classified as current
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

BEREBRGMABEERNRHERXRS
FERNERBBER—F HEAKEE
BHORITHMEBGERBTRITAIEE
HERERKEERTER(EXREE
1§ 2 1) - 2018512 A31H @ R 1B B 3k
BEEBRIEENEEREITENRAR
A R #460,794,0007T (20175 : A R ¥
299,317,0007T) * HRERE MR KA
HEANDAE-

205
«

2018F F# « BWMIERBER AT

L—



N

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETAIN - AAREFITR)

25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25

—>> 206

Notes fo the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continuea)

eV mERN T

Current portion:

Trade creditors (note (a))

Interest payables

Other payables and accruals

Amounts due to related parties
(note (b))

REES -

J& A5t AR K (BT 3 (a))

JE& 5 )8
HibENRIBERESER
& {F B Bk 75 KR (MY £ (b))

Financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost
Financial guarantee issued (note 30)

NEHKATAENERAE

B 0 B # JE 1R (P9 RE30)

Non-current portion:

Amounts due to related parties
(note (c))

Financial guarantee issued (note 30)

FRBEBD
& {F B Bt 73 KR (BY =E (o))

B %m0 B 75 4 1R (B EE30)

2>
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BESZ K EAMENKE

2018
20184
RMB’000
AR¥T T

174,936
1,993
136,155

349,162

662,246
2,682

664,928

67,145
4,108

71,253

736,181

2017
20174
RMB’000
AREET T

74,552

150,989

968,130

1,183,671

1,183,671

1,183,671




‘Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AR BB R M )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25 ESNREMENREE)
(Continued)
Notes: Bt 5E -

(@)

Ageing analysis of trade creditors included in trade and

(a)

R2018F 12 AZTHIZE MR E S BN

other payables as at 31 December 2018, based on the BRAMZEMNERGIAE S R EAE
date of the trade payables recognised: RIE) WERER DT

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETFIT
Within 3 months 3E A R 157,633 70,572
3 to 6 months 3Z6fE A 148 307
6 to 12 months 6=121E A 98 901
Over 12 months 1218 A A & 17,057 2,772
174,936 74,652

(b)  Current portion of the amounts due to related parties are by ENEBAIZRENRDADARE - E
interest-free, unsecured and repayable on demand. ERRERKFEE -
(c) Pursuant to the Capital Injection Agreement between () WEEMN = EERRN2018F6H25

Huizhou Yuefu and its shareholders signed on 25 June
2018 (the “Agreement”), an amount of RMB65,443,000,
representing the sum of the retained profits as at 31 May
2018 and the estimated unrealised gain arising from the
unsold inventories as at 31 May 2018, should be
distributed to the original shareholders at their original
equity interest in Huizhou Yuefu before the capital
injection. The balance is initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently stated at amortised cost. The balance is
unsecured and expected to be settled upon disposal of
the relevant inventories.

2018F F# « BWMIERBER AT

AZaTR) T & ek (&) - 20185
5A31H 2R & k20185F5H31H Z
REGENGHFAZRERRBEESTA
R #65,443,0007T FE IR 15+ & A R A I
RPN AR E R A R LE Bl A 1 E
K o BEBRVIFIRAFERR  EEZE
BRACAPIER - BEep WM AR
HATESLELEE-

«
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Notes to the Consohdated FlnanC|aI Statements (Continued)

ITEMBERERNFE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETAIN - AAREFITR)

26 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 26 REEHMBEMRRRNVFAER

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated (a) REZEHMBERRROEPHERES

statement of financial position represents:

CIT payable FERT T EMER
LAT payable FEA T Hu 3R E T

(b) Deferred tax assets recognised: (b) B
(i) Movement of each component of deferred (i)

tax assets/(liabilities)

The components of deferred tax assets/
(liabilities) recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the
movements during the year are as follows:

Temporary

difference

on

Unused revenue
tax losses  recognition
AEBARE BWAER
BB WNWERZE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETR

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR T

17,412 38,060
46,289 17,969
63,701 56,029

BRIAELERBEE:

EEHBREE (BE) AR
B85 #9 8 B

EWE&?’S%%#%E‘%WEEE
RELERBEE(BE) WA
PRER D R E BT

Revaluation
on Other
investment temporary
properties differences Total
Eft Hity
RENHE IRER @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTRT ARET:

Deferred tax arising from: EELHBER .

At 1 January 2017 R2017F1A1H 10,163 (4,581) (5,194) - 388
(Charged)/credited to (B E)/ AR

profit or loss (note 8(a)) (Fff #£8(a)) (8,966) 1,287 839 1,647 (5,193)
At 31 December 2017 Ro017412A318 1,197 (3,294) (4,355) 1647 (4,805)
At 1 January 2018 R2018F1A1H , (3,294) (4,355) / (4,805)
Credited/(charged) to HA/ Nk a)ER

profit or loss (note 8(a)) (Fff #£8(a)) / (26,129)

At 31 December 2018 #2018512A31H ; (29,423)
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26

NOte's to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continuea)
A B ERR W i)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 26 REEUBRRARNVAMEBHR (&)
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)
(b) Deferred tax assets recognised: (Continued) (b) ERBEEREEE . (&)
(i) Movement of each component of deferred (i) EBEZEFBELE (B6) 544
tax assets/(liabilities) (Continued) 25 0 B ()
Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of RE BRI R E R

(ii)

financial position:

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREFT

Representing: (-
Deferred tax assets EEBIREE 1,087 1,352
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIBEE (31,456) (6,157)
(30,369) (4,805)
Deferred tax liabilities not recognised (i) HABRYELZFHEE R
As at 31 December 2018, deferred tax 2018 12A31H * BEAA R
liabilities in respect of the dividend withholding B0 2 B Al 9 R s A Y AR
tax relating to the distributable profits of the BENMAELERIEA BT R
Company’s subsidiaries were not recognised TLAMER - A AR BIEGIZ
as the Company controls the dividend policy of LB QTR BEER - BIE
the subsidiaries. Based on the assessment & E B R2018F12A318 &
made by management as at 31 December HEEEE - NARIMTE A A AY
2018, it was determined that the distributable A9 s A EE R T ERA
profits of the Company’s subsidiaries would B AR mEEKEIMNERRAF]
not be distributed to the Hong Kong and Dk o AR A B A A A Al 4
overseas holding companies in the foreseeable DR S EEEHIWT -

future. The amounts of distributable profits of
the Company’s subsidiaries are set out below:

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREF T

Distributable profits earned & B Kf B 2 & %
by PRC subsidiaries on 20181 A1H sk 2 1& BREX
or after 1 January 2008 7 A £ 5K % A 184,556 230,778

2018FF i « BB R AR 209 «K—
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continuea)
IRE MM RMN T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BREAEETHN - AAREIITR)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(@) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Details of the
changes in the Company’s individual components of
equity between the beginning and the end of the
year are set out below:

Share

capital

R A&

Note RMB’000
M ARBTT

27 EXR - -HERKRE

(a)

Share
premium
R4 EE
RMB’000

ARBTT

BEARNI 225

REE R A R & AR D B B )
MR GEG  ENHRAN RS #
DEHR -FNEFHEAZHAR
AE R AR D N EEFIFE
FanR

Exchange Accumulated
reserves losses Total
EXfE X | &t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTRT ARETR

Balance at 1 January ~ R2017F181B W& &

2017 - - - (19 (19)
Changes in equity for 2017 MEZZF

2017
Loss for the year FRER - - - (738) (733)
Other comprehensive Hih 2 H &

income - - 25 - 25
Total comprehensive 2EKNELE

income - - 25 (733) (708)
Balance at 31 R2017£128318

December 2017 and R2018F1B1A W&t
1 January 2018

Changes in equity for 2018 HIEZE#

2018

Loss for the year FRER

Other comprehensive HipzElsE
income

Total comprehensive FARERE
income

Capitalisation of REEFERE
shareholders’ loans

Capitalisation issue ERILELT

Shares issued upon PO &R AR BEEFRETRG

Balance at 31 R20185F12831 B W& &
December 2018
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478,662

(20,828) (20,828)

(3,009) (3,009)

(3,009) (20,828) (23,837)

478,662

(4,954) -

186,945

660,653

188,596

(2,984) (21,580) 642,694




27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(b)

Share capital

The share capital in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements as at 1 January 2017 and 31
December 2017, 1 January 2018 represented the
aggregate amount of the paid-in capital of the
companies now comprising the Group after the
elimination of investments in subsidiaries. After the
Reorganisation, the share capital as at 31
December 2018 represented the share capital of the
Company. The authorised and issued share capital
of the Company are set out below:

iR B B %

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

27 BEX - RERRE (E)

(b) BZA&
AN £ B 201781 818 ~ 20174612
A318 Kk2018F1 A1 &R A B 5
KAMBRAEAEBEBEAET QA
LEHRABE(EMWBRAME R
AIM &) B4 % 20185F 124
SIBZBRAREKEARRA ZRA K
NAEERBBEITRAFHINAT

No. of shares Amount in
i == -}
HKD
BT
Authorised shares of the KATEERS :
Company:
Ordinary share of HKDO0.01 each BROOIEB Tz ZRAR
At 1 January 2017, 31 December M20175F1A1H -
2017 and 1 January 2018 2017 12A31H
&20184%1 A1H 1,000,000 10,000
Increase in authorised share capital & & i% A5 1 f1 1,999,000,000 19,990,000
At 31 December 2018 2018512 A31H 2,000,000,000 20,000,000

2018F F# « BWILERER AR
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A5 = W EE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREAEETHN - AAREIITR)
27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)
(b) Share capital (Continued)
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:

(b) BAE(E)

ERTRHEZEER -

27 BEX - RERERE (E)

No. of shares Amount in Amount in
R % & B8 © 8 8
HKD RMB
BT AR T
As at 1 January 2017, M2017F1RA18 »
31 December 2017 and 2017412 H31H
1 January 2018 F2018F1A1H 1 — —
Issuance of share I 10 31T 1 - —
Capitalisation of shareholders’ #% 3 & 3 & A1t
loans (note (i) (B 5EG)) 9,998 100 88
Capitalisation issue (note (i)) & ZA{b 877 (MFFE)) 562,490,000 5,624,900 4,953,849
Shares issued upon IPO %/ﬂﬂﬁ'ﬂ%%ﬁﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁ
(note (iii)) A& A7 (B = Giii) ) 187,500,000 1,875,000 1,651,313
As at 31 December 2018 7201812 A31H 750,000,000 7,500,000 6,605,250
Notes: B &

(i) Pursuant to a written resolution of the Company’s
sole shareholder passed on 26 November 2018, the
shareholders’ loans of HKD543,501,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB478,662,000) were capitalised
into 9,998 new shares of the Company.
Accordingly, the total number of shares of the
Company increased from 2 to 10,000 on 20
December 2018.
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R AE A A B ME— BR 3 7R 20184F 11
ACc6HBBHEEAER KR
& 543,501,000 JT (M & P 4
A R #478,662,0007T) # F & A

R R F]9,998 M #r AR 1D

e 1 2

AR R IRAD 4 R 2% 1 E=20184F
12 A20H #910,000% °



27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

Share capital (Continued)

Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(i)

D)

Pursuant to a written resolution of the Company’s
sole shareholder passed on 26 November 2018, the
directors of the Company authorised to allot and
issue a total of 562,490,000 shares, by way of
capitalising the share premium of HKD5,624,900
(equivalent to approximately RMB4,954,000). The
capitalisation issue was completed upon listing (i.e.
20 December 2018). Accordingly, the total number
of shares of the Company further increased to
562,500,000 on 20 December 2018.

On 20 December 2018, the Company completed its
IPO by issuing 187,500,000 ordinary shares with par
value of HKD 0.01 each at a price of HKD1.20 per
share. Since then, the Company’s shares have been
listed on the Stock Exchange.

The total gross proceeds from the IPO amounted to
approximately HKD225,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB198,160,000), among which
HKD1,875,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB1,651,000) was credited to share capital and
HKD223,125,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB196,509,000) was credited to share premium,
net of share issuance expenses of HKD10,859,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB9,564,000).

5 A B 75 3R B

FoE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRARTAN  LAREIITR)

27 BEX - RERRE (E)

(b) MA&(Z&E
ERTTRHUEZERKRE: (#)

BT - (48)

(i

(i)

2018F F# « BWILERER AR

R AR AN A B ME— R 3R 7R 20184F 11
AocHBBMEBMAZER AR
REEREUBRGEE
5,624,900 T (HHE RN AR
4,954,0007T) # 7 & A8 77 = B
B K #1742 51562,490,0000% F%
10 o BAR(LEITH £ (12018
F12R208) 7T - #MEARRF]
B 1 48 8 B 18 £2018F12 A20H
#9562,500,0000% °

K20185F12 200 » AN X A4 B
LA & BR1.2008 T B (B 18 & 1T
187,500,000/% & & [ f60.0174 7T
M E AR T A TR B R AR E
& o & - AR AR BB AP
L

BEALAHABEMSRELRE
4 /225,000,000 sT(#H & ©
4 A E #198,160,0005T) @ H
71,875,000 T (M & B 4 A
R #1,651,0007T) 57 A % & -
223,125,000 7t (HHE RO AR
#:196,509,0007T) 4 #1 & % 15 2%
1779 10,859,000/ 7t (48 & R 4
A R #9,564,00070) & 5t AR 5

«
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HBETHI

IAARKSIR)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)
Nature and purpose of reserves

(c)

—>> 214
—>>

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Statutory reserves

According to the PRC Company Law, the
Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to
transfer 10% of their profit after taxation, as
determined under the PRC accounting
regulations, to statutory surplus reserve until
the reserve balance reaches 50% of the
registered capital. The transfer to this reserve
must be made before distribution of a dividend
to shareholders.

Statutory surplus reserve can be used to
reduce previous years’ losses, if any, and may
be converted into paid-in capital in proportion
to the existing equity interest of investors.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Group transferred RMB2,107,000
(2017:RMB4,327,000) of the current year’s net
profit of the Group, as determined in
accordance with the PRC accounting rules and
regulations, to this reserve.

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the Company’s share
premium account are distributable to the
shareholders provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall
due in the course of business.

Exchange reserves

The exchange reserves comprise all foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of Hong
Kong and foreign operations to RMB. The
reserves are dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(u).
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27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(d)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the
basis of an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For
this purpose, adjusted net debt is defined as
interest-bearing loans and borrowings and less cash
and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of equity and the amounts due to
related parties (current portion).

ﬁAﬁ%ﬁ%W?%)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRARTAN  LAREIITR)

27 BEX - RERRE (E)

(d)

2018F F# « BWILERER AR

EXEHR
AEBEAEE2HEZBERNRE
AEBERBELE ERUERRK
RBEHERBRKFEBEZEER
BBAREKARGRE  #ER
P RIB AL N E i1 & R
& e

AEEREBNEREEERNERR
Rl MERE  NERSKRERDR
BT AT REFHBE 2 B = & B K7
RFERAPRSE R Z 4R RREZ
FEUS & AR BLEAM R E 1L
BERNEBIEHTE -

REBUKHEFAGEERLER
EREEREHEREB LM S -
KARFEABRTRTEBERRE
ERBEERREZEEY KRAEE
RNEFERT A e B N JE A A B
HREORBE D) ©

«

215 «K—



Notes to the Consohdated FlnanC|aI Statements (Cont/nued)

ITEMBERERNFE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HBETHI

AANREFIR)

27 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

Capital management (Continued)

(d)

(e)
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27 EX -RERRE(F)

(d EXER(Z)

The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at 31 A EER2018F 12 A31 H A 4E
December 2018 was as follows: FREBEARLEINHNAT
2018 2017
20184 20174
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B &E AR® T AR F T
Bank loans |ITE N 24 548,414 299,317
Less: Cash and cash BRERREEEYD

equivalents 22(a) (1,106,426) (94,172)

Adjusted net KARTF(Re) AE

(cash)/debt (558,012) 205,145
Total equity B 906,299 267,935
Add: Amounts due to N: e R

related parties (mEE 5 )

(current portion) 349,162 958,130
Adjusted capital RABEAR 1,255,461 1,226,065
Adjusted net debt-to- KHARFIEEEARLR N/A

capital ratio TEA 16.7%

Dividends

No dividends have been declared or paid by the
Company and its subsidiaries during the vyear.
respect of the deemed distribution to shareholders
by the subsidiary of the Group, please refer to note

25().
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency
risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk
is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit risks
arising from cash and cash equivalents and other
financial assets are limited because these financial
assets held by the Group are mainly deposited in
financial institutions such as commercial banks
which maintain sound reputation and financial
situation, for which the Group considers to have low
credit risk.

In respect of trade debtors, the Group’s exposure to
credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer rather than the
industry or country in which the customers locate or
operate and therefore significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers.
However, there are no significant concentrations of
credit risk within the Group during the year.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

—>> 218
—>>

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
debtors at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which
is calculated using a provision matrix that includes
the overdue status of each of the trade debtors. As
of 31 December 2018, no trade debtors were past
due (2017: nil). The Group normally receives full
payment from buyers before the hand-over of the
property. For mortgage sales with sales proceeds
not yet fully settled, the Group would not hand-over
the property to the customers unless it obtains
confirmation from the banks providing mortgage that
the respective mortgages have been approved. In
addition, the Group would not transfer titles of the
properties to the customers until full amount of sales
proceeds are received. Accordingly, the Group is of
the view that the expected irrecoverable trade
debtors were immaterial. Thus no bad debt provision
for trade debtors was recognised during the year.

In respect of other debtors and amounts due from
related parties, the Group has assessed that the
expected credit loss are not material under the 12
months expected losses method. Thus no bad debt
provision was recognised during the year.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the
Group as set out in note 30, the Group does not
provide any other guarantees which would expose
the Group to credit risk.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 28 sREABREERESMIAEAFE
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL (&
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and long terms.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on current rates at the end of
the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay.

For bank loans subject to repayment on demand
clause which can be exercised at the bank’s sole
discretion, the maturity analysis shows the cash
outflow based on expected repayment dates with
reference to the schedule of repayments set out in
the banking facilities letter and, separately, the
impact to the timing of the cash outflow if the
lenders were to invoke unconditional rights to call the
loans with immediate effect.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Carrying

amount

REE

RMB’000

AR®T R

At 31 December 2018 R2018%12831H

Bank loans RITER 548,414
Trade and other payables SR EMEMNFTIE
(exclude the financial (PEEVBER)

guarantee)
Amounts due to related parties

662,246
FE 1 B B 7‘5%15

(non-current portion) GERBEH 67,145
1,277,805

Adjustments to present cash flows EREFABJERMET

on bank loans based on ERHEENRER

lender’s right to demand

repayment
Financial guarantee issued: BB BER
Maximum amount guaranteed EmEREE M uEBO)

(note 30) 6,790
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(b) FREMERZE)

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

BRRERRER

More than
2 years
but

less than
5 years
MEALE
BRFEUR
RMB’000
AR¥T T

More than

1 year

but less
than 2 years
—FHE
BmENR
RMB’000
ARBTTT

Total
contractual
undiscounted
cash flow
ERRER
ReRBAE
RMB’000
AR®T T

Within 1 year
or on
demand
—FRAR
AREREE
RMB’000
ARET R

585,017 310,432 166,887 107,698

662,246 662,246

76,247 76,247

1,323,510 972,678 166,887 183,945

(14,933)

259,652 (166,887) (107,698)

1,308,577 1,232,330 76,247

437,401 376,167



28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
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28 TRIEAREEREMIAEQNFE

(#&)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) REBEER(E)
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BNREBRER
More than
Total More than 2 years
contractual ~ Within 1 year 1 year but
Carrying  undiscounted or on but less less than
amount cash flow demand  than 2 years 5 years
BHREH —ERH —FNE MEMN £
FHE ReRBLFE ZRERER EmMENA  ERENUR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETR ARBTR AR¥TT ARKT:R
At 31 December 2017 R2017F12/831H
Bank loans BITER 299,317 321,580 94,857 195,724 30,999
Trade and other payables BORAMENZIE 1,183,671 1,183,671 1,183,671 - -
1,482,988 1,505,251 1,278,528 195,724 30,999
Adjustments to present cash flows on  EREFAEREFHFET
bank loans based on lender’s right EFAREREER
to demand repayment (8,106) 218,617 (195,724) (30,999

1,497,145 1,497,145 -

(c)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from
bank loans and cash at bank issued at variable
rates that expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk. The Group does not use financial
derivatives to hedge against the interest rate risk.
The Group defines “net borrowings” as being
interest-bearing financial liabilities less interest-
bearing investments. The Group’s interest rate
profile as monitored by management is set out in (i)
below.

(c) == b
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)
(i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate
profile of the Group’s

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continuea)

interest-generating

(c) M=Ek(Z)
(i) FIEBL

financial assets and interest-bearing financial BENNEHR

liabilities at the end of reporting period:

Cash at bank

Pledged and restricted
deposits

Less: Bank loans

ROTRE

BEEARZRS
EX

B BITER

Total

pexid
St
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Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
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28 sRIEREERSTSMIAQNFE

==
(&

TRFAVNAKER RERE
ENBNEREENTEER

2018 2017
2018 20175
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
EBRA= ERAME
RMB’000
ARBT

RMB'000
ARBTT

902,386 0.35%

487,013 0.35%

110% and 130% of (548,414) 110% of
RMB Loan RMB Loan
Benchmark Rate or Benchmark
HIBOR plus 4% per Rate
annum AREBER
ARBER HEFR %
HERER* #110%
#9110% % 130%
FERRTEE
17 5 m4% i F 7 %

93,837

27,519

(299,317)

840,985

(177,961)




28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued)

(ii)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2018, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 30 basis points in
interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would have increased/decreased the
Group’s profit after tax and retained profits by
approximately RMB1,827,000 (2017:
decreased/increased by RMB400,000).

In respect of the net exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk arising from floating cash at
bank and bank loans held by the Group at the
end of the reporting period, the impact on the
Group’s profit after tax and total equity is
estimated as an annualised impact on interest
expense or income of such a change in
interest rates. The analysis is performed on a
same basis for 2017.

The sensitivity analysis above assumes that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the
end of the reporting period and had been
applied to all floating rate bank loans and cash
at bank, without taking into account the impact
of interest capitalisation.

(d) Currency risk
The Group is not exposed to significant foreign
currency risk since financial assets and liabilities
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries are
not significant.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e)

—>> 224
—>>

Fair values

Financial instruments measured at fair

value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of
the Group’s financial instruments measured at
the end of the reporting period on a recurring
basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique

as follows:

—  Level 1

valuations:

—  Level 2

valuations:

—  Level 3

valuations:

Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities
at the measurement date

Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs
which fail to meet Level 1, and
not wusing significant
unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs
for which market data are not
available

Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e) Fair values (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial instruments measured at fair
value (Continued)

As at 31 December 2017, the financial
instruments of the Group carried at fair value
represent the other financial assets of
RMB40,000,000. These instruments are
measured at the present value of the amount
expected to receive at such instruments’
maturities, considered the interest rate level at
that time. Their fair value measurements fall
into Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy
described above. The Group redeemed all of
the financial assets during the year ended 31
December 2018.

In 2018, there were no transfers among Level
1, Level 2 and Level 3 (2017: nil).

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
carried at other than fair value

The carrying amount of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair value as at 31
December 2018, except the amounts due to
related parties which are interest-free,
unsecured and repayable on demand. Given
these terms it is not meaningful to quantify
their fair value and therefore they are stated at
cost.
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29 COMMITMENTS 29 EiE

(@) Capital commitments
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December
2018 not provided for in the financial statements
were as follows:

(a) EBEARFEIE

RPN B 7 R 2k B 5 A920184F 12 A 31
B A HEARAEMDT :

2018
20185
RMB’000
ARBTR

Contracted for: SEIESE
Construction and development ZEEERA X
contracts

560,053

Commitments mainly related to development costs
for the Group’s properties under development.

(b) Operating lease commitment
At 31 December 2018, the total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases are payable as follows:

2017
20174
RMB’000
AREFT

780,090

EETERAEEERPYENE

FRAAGRE -

(b) HEHEEFRE

MR2018F12A31H » A& EH IR BT
AREEEHENRARRKERER

HAAREMT

2018
20184
RMB’000
AR¥T T

Within 1 year —F RN
After 1 year but within 5 years —F&EBRFNR

803
767

1,570

Significant leasing arrangements in respect of land
and buildings classified as being held under
operating leases are described in notes 12 and 17.
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30 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has
issued guarantees to banks to secure the mortgage
arrangements of certain property buyers. The outstanding
guarantees to the banks, amounted to RMB566,978,000
as at 31 December 2018 (2017: RMB376,279,000), will be
terminated upon the completion of transferring the legal
title of the properties to the property buyers. The
directors consider loss arising from these guarantees as a
result of default payment by customers to be immaterial,
as the banks have the rights to sell the property and
recover the outstanding loan balance from sale proceeds.

The Group has not recognised any deferred income in
respect of these guarantees as their fair values are
considered to be insignificant by the directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
provided guarantee to secure the bank loan borrowed by
a joint venture of the Group (see note 31(f)). The total
banking facility secured by this guarantee was
RMB1,450,000,000 (2017: nil) and the outstanding loan
balance was RMB360,000,000 as at 31 December 2018
(2017: nil). The bank loan is also jointly guaranteed by
another shareholder of the joint venture and secured by
the inventories of the joint venture. The directors consider
loss arising from this guarantee as a result of default
payment by the joint venture to be immaterial.

Deferred income in respect of the financial guarantee
issued is disclosed in note 25.
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31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
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TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the related party information disclosed
elsewhere, the Group entered into the following material

related party transactions.

(a)

—>> 228
—>>

Name and relationship with related parties (a)

Name of party

RS SR

onsolidated Financial Stat;

BB WmRNEE)

31 EXEBARS
E B AT FTIEE 2 BB A RN - A
EETIATERBH RS -

MEBLTEERELAFR

Relationship with the Group
HASENER

Wong Ting Chung T z 2
Wong Ting Kau T fE=2
Wong Wai Ling £ =¥
Wong Wai Yue T ##
Lau Ka Keung # 558

Lin Guoxian # B &

Wong Man Li & & F|

Liu Weito 211& 5
Fan Yuanxin 3 7T ¥
Wang Xiaoxia £ /N&8

Man Wah Investments Limited
(“Man Wah”) (note 1)

HEREAR LG ([HE])
(B7ET)

Brightwood Management Limited
(“Brightwood”) (note 1)

BREBERAR (8]
(B &E1)

Winnermax Management Limited
(“Winnermax Management”)

EBREEERAA(ERER])

Collective controlling shareholders of the Group

REEZ HREREKR

Collective controlling shareholders of the Group

REEHZ HRERERR

Collective controlling shareholders of the Group

RNEE 7 KRR

Collective controlling shareholders of the Group

REEZ HREREKR

Collective controlling shareholders of the Group

REER 2z HRERERR

Close family member of Wong Ting Chung

TRBZERREKXE

Controlling shareholder of Man Wah Investments Limited and
Brightwood Management Limited

HEREARAFINBERERFGR ARZERER

Minority shareholder in certain entities of the Group

REBETEENDEKRR

Close family member of Liu Weito

BRE 2O RRIEKE

Minority shareholder in certain entities of the Group

AEBETERNDEKR

Minority shareholder in certain entities of the Group

AEBETEBNOBER

Minority shareholder in certain entities of the Group

AEEETEEBNDHERRE

Entities controlled by Wong Ting Chung and his family

XIERMERKIEHNER
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31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

Name and relationship with related parties (a)

(Continued)

Name of party
B & B

CO

AR FEE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

31 EXBEBAIRS (&)

Relationship with the Group
HEAEENER

BT EERERERR(E)

Main Galaxy Development Limited
(“Main Galaxy”)
Main Galaxy Development Limited
([ Main Galaxy J)
Gold Concept Development Limited
(“Gold Concept”)
Gold Concept Development
Limited ([ Gold Concept |)
Asia Image (H.K.) Limited
(“Asia Image”)
BEGEBE)BRAR(RED
Henan Julongju Real Estate
Co., Ltd.
(“Henan Julongju”)
MEREEEEFAERAAN"
(DAmEeEED
Well Kong Investments Limited
(“Well Kong Investment”)
EAEREARARI(TEBRE]D
Well Kong (H.K.) Limited
(“Well Kong HK”)
BEEB)BRAF
(TEEEFE]D
Huizhou Well Kong Real Estate
Co., Ltd.
(*Huizhou Well Kong”)
BMNEBEEBRAF
(TEMEED

Entities controlled by Wong Ting Chung and his family

RIEBRMAERKENNER

Associate of the Group

N SE RN

Associate of the Group

A EE B B E N T

Associate of the Group

ZNE S 1) /N

Joint venture of the Group

rEBEERA
Joint venture of the Group

REEGERT

Joint venture of the Group

REBEGE QA

2018F F i « BWILERBRA
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HBETHI

IAARKSIR)

(Continued)

Name of party
BES AW

31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 31 ERBEBAXRS ()
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Name and relationship with related parties (a) BEBAEBREHBR(E)

Relationship with the Group
HASENER

Huizhou Kangcheng Property
Management Ltd. (“Huizhou
Kangcheng”) (note 2)

BNTERBEMEEERGRAA
(TN B L) (P 5E2)

Tianjin Kangcheng Property
Management Ltd.

(“Tianjin Kangcheng”)

RETERBMEEEBERAA
(TR

Jingjiazhuang (Huizhou) Health
Food Co., Ltd.("Jingjiazhuang
Health Food”)

YREEMNRERMER A A
(HRERERMR])

Huizhou Lixin Science and
technology Co., Ltd.
(“Huizhou Lixin”)

BINZEMEBER QA
(TEIMZED

Huizhou Yonglitian Real Estate Co.,

Ltd. (“Huizhou Yonglitian”)
BNKFREEZBRA
(MR AR

Entities controlled by Lin Guoxian and with significantly influence
by Liu Weito

XMNBEEEFLIABEREEATENNER

Entities controlled by senior management

XEREEBENNER

Entities with significant influence by Wong Ting Chung and his
family
TEBLRAZGREEATENNER

Entities controlled by Wong Ting Chung and his family

XERERNME

H

RIEEFWERS

Entities controlled by Wong Ting Chung and his family

XIERMERKEHNER
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31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

Name and relationship with related parties (a)

(Continued)

Name of party
BES AW

ﬁAﬁ%ﬁ%W?%)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

31 EXBEBAIRS (&)

BT EERERERR(E)

Relationship with the Group
HASENER

Huizhou Gangsheng Real Estate

Co., Ltd. (“Huizhou Gangsheng”)

BMEAEXERBERAA
(F=MET])

Wuhu Dexin Real Estate Co., Ltd.

(“Wuhu Dexin”)
HBEEERARAR
(r#wmEiED
Huizhou Nanxuan Weaving Co.,
Ltd. (“Huizhou Nanxuan”)
BMNEREARER QA
(B M EnElD)
Huizhou Nanguan Weaving
Co.,Ltd. (“Huizhou Nanguan”)

Entities controlled by Wong Ting Chung and his family

XEEBRERGENNER

Entities with significant influence by Wong Ting Chung and his
family

TEBEEZGHEBEATZENNER

Entities controlled by Wong Ting Chung and his family

XETEBEERKEGNER

Entities controlled by Wong Ting Chung and his family

BN EEEEER AT XEREBERERKZEGES
([mMmEE])
* These entities are PRC limited liability companies. The * ZEERBRTEBERECER
English translation of the company names is for NAENEBEREHRZE X %
reference only. The official names of the companies BB A

are in Chinese.

Note 1 Man Wah transferred its equity interest in China
Lands Investments Limited on 15 December
2017 to its wholly owned subsidiary,
Brightwood Management Limited.

Note 2

Lin Guoxian and Liu Weito disposed of their
equity interests in Huizhou Kangcheng
respectively on 7 May 2018 and 29 June
2018, and Huizhou Kangcheng ceased to be a

related party of the Group since then.

B E

M sE2

2018F F# « BWILERER AR

FEAMKEERD TM%
HETH2EWBARIBER
BERAF -

B R2017E12A158 BB H R
&

MBI E & BIEE 5 5IR20184F5
A7H K2018F6H29A8 ) & #
ERBEMNEBOIRE  HEE
MERT B ARER 2B -
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Notes to the Consohdated F|nanC|aI Statements (COnt/nued)

AP BERRKME®E)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HBETHI

EXBBEXRE (E)

b) HXrEEEBAENRES
AEEETZEEEBABNHFMET

2018
20185
RMB’000
AR® T

5,432
62

(c) BEBINIS

2018
20184
RMB’000
AR TR

AARBETIR)
31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 31

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Transactions with key management personnel
Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group is as follows:

Short-term employee benefits HEEERA
Retirement scheme contributions & f& 5t 2/ it 7%

(c) Transactions with related parties

Disposal of an investment HEREYSE (MEEG)
property (note (i)

Lease of properties (note (ii) wEMREE (BEE>)

Accommodation services B X 18 R (B E (i) )
received (note (iii)

Property management services CE&SWEEE RS
received (note (iv)) (BT 5 (Gv) )

Purchase of goods (note (v))

BEEDMEEWV)

1,335
132

(1,140)

(1,261)
(158)

—>> 232
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2017
20174
RMB’000
AREFT

2,576
28

2,604

2017
20174
RMB’000
ARET T

336

(777)

(1,602)
(152)




31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Transactions with related parties (Continued)

()

(i)

Disposal of an investment property

During the vyear, the Group disposed an
investment property to the following related
party with the consideration received as
follows:

31

e

i s Nété's' to the Cbﬁsolida_te _Fiﬁanoial StatémentS(Cont/nuecﬂ

AT BRERNE@E)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

EXBBEXRE (E

(c) BEBAINXS (&)
() HEREYF
FRAKERANAT
EREME  BHEK

R EE 5
ER N

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARETTT

Huizhou Nanguan* BEMEE

1,335

Lease of properties

During the vyear, the Group leased -certain
properties to the related parties with rental
income earned as follows:

(i) YFHEE

FRAKEABERSHES
TOERBESEADT

Huizhou Gangsheng BINE A
Huizhou Nanxuan* =M e e

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFIT
235
101
336
2018F F# « BWMIERBER AT

233 «K—
L——-



—>> 234

Notes to the Consolidated Financi

Attt

A ISR M )

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREAEETHN - AAREIITR)
31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(c) Transactions with related parties (Continued)
(iiil Accommodation services received

(iv)

(v)

2>

During the year, the Group paid the following
fees in relation to the accommodation services
provided by the following related parties:

al St'a'teme'nts (Continuea)

31

EXBBEXRE (E)

(c) HBHBINXS (&)

(i) EFEZFEBRE
FR - AEEDRATEEB S
RHETBERBINUATERS -

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR T

Huizhou Gangsheng* BB A
Wuhu Dexin #wINEE

1,140 763
- 14

7

Property management services received

During the year, the Group paid the following
fees in relation to the property management
services provided by the following related

party:

(iv EEZSYEEZERY

FA-ANEED B TR
RHMEEERBZNATE
-

2018 2017
20185 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET R ARBFTT

Huizhou Kangcheng N BE

1,261 1,602

Purchase of goods
During the year, the Group purchased goods
from the following related party:

v) EBEER
FR - AEER AT @SB

= .
BEEm:

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFT

Huizhou Jingjiazhuang* B SR FE

158 152
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31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Balances with related parties

(d)

Balances with related parties as at 31 December

2018 are detailed as follows:

Amounts due from related parties recorded in other
receivables and interests in associates and joint

ventures:

Non-trade in nature

= T

Notes to the Consolldated FlnanC|aI Statements (Cont/nued)

MEMBERRNFE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

31 EXBBAIRE (&

(d) EEFEES NG
MR20185F12 431 H £ B Bt 77 &Y 45 52
AR

FC 5 70 L A 7 LA R TR e TR Bk é..—i“ Gl

K& &R a2 7w e e U s 5 3K
1g

HEGME

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREFT

Henan Julongju®
Wong Man Li

Lau Ka Keung
Wong Ting Chung
Huizhou Kangcheng
Tianjin Kangcheng
Huizhou Lixin

Well Kong Investment
Huizhou Well Kong
Asia Image*

Main Galaxy

Gold Concept”
Huizhou Yonglitian
Fortunate Creation

R R
& HUR
K
TER

B B

RE W
BMAE
BEKRE
BMES
(e

Main Galaxy
Gold Concept?
B ACN]AR
&5 [

87,000 87,000
61,740
37,863
1,670
6,183
3,100
860
41,384
260
251

92

y

2

13

166,731 240,319

2018FF i « BB R AR 235 «K——
L——-



Notes to the Consohdated Financial Statements (COnt/nued)

ITEMBERERNFE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HBETHI

AANREFIR)

31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d)

(e)

—>> 236
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Balances with related parties (Continued)
Non-trade in nature (Continued)

Amounts due to related parties recorded in other
payables:

Non-trade in nature

31 EXBBAIRE (&

(d)

Wong Ting Chung FRERR
Wang Xiaoxia FE
Man Wah B
Brightwood* R

Liu Weito* 218 &5
Wong Ting Kau FRER
Wong Wai Ling TER
Wong Wai Yue F 1R
Lau Ka Keung L
Huizhou Kangcheng E-WDE=$1
Huizhou Gangsheng BMEF
Fan Yuanxin SB T
Winnermax Management 185 E 8

Bank loans guaranteed by related parties
As at 31 December 2018, the secured bank loan of
RMB96,316,000 was guaranteed by Wong Man Li.

As at 31 December 2017, the secured bank loans of
RMB299,317,000 were jointly guaranteed by Wong
Ting Chung and Lau Ka Keung.

Million Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018

(e)

BEBANERR(E)
HEZME(E)
ﬂﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁﬁ X IR O FE < A B 5
RIE
HEEME
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFT
34,915 512,075
32,230 20,000
- 213,389
223,678 —
109,806 114,364
9,807
4,000
11,500
157
2,234
8,000
15,600
47,004
416,307 958,130
BHITERNBRITER
H2018%F12H31H A R ¥

96,316,0007T A & K 17 85 77 B 3 A
HEHAER -

MN20175128318 A R
299,317,000t M B HIFIRITE F A
TR RIERE LR ER -



31 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

)

(9)

Guarantee issued to related party

As at 31 December 2018, the Group provided
guarantee to secure the loan borrowed by the
Group’s joint venture, Huizhou Well Kong. The total
banking facility granted to Huizhou Well Kong is
RMB1,450,000,000 and the outstanding bank loan
balance as at 31 December 2018 amounted to
RMB360,000,000 (2017: nil). Deferred income in
respect of the financial guarantee issued is disclosed
in note 25.

Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to

connected transactions

* These related party transactions constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
However those transactions are exempt from the
disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules as they are below the de minimis
threshold under Rule 14A.76(1).

# These financial assistance provided to or received
from related parties constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
However those transactions are exempt from the
disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules for the following reasons: (i) such
financial assistance is on normal commercial terms
or better, and/or (i) no security over our assets is
granted in respect of such financial assistance under
Rule 14A.90.

A 75 8 B

)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

31 EXBEBAIRS (&)

 EBLSER

2018F12A31H * AEEH A &
RABEMNEBEENEBERBER &
TEMNBENRITREBEAAR
#1,450,000,0007T ' 2018412 A 31
HOREZRITEREHABARE
360,000,0007T (20174 : ) - 5 3
B2 A9 B 75 4 AR A I ST U A PR BT

S5 -

BREAEXSHN ETRAERAM

(9)

2018F F# « BWILERER AR

ZEHEBM AR HE EMBEAE
YAEFTIEEMER SR ERE
RS R ARZERSHER
F14A.76(1) 5 R E B KPR 58 -
WMEREET ETRAE4AE
IR TERE ©

TR T AR T sk B R T IR A%
LHEBE ETRAIFE14AE
FiElER AT EBRERS
BEZEXFEHREET EMRA
FUAEMBEERT BAHOT
NZEMBEDIZ—BEEEKR
s B E M RET N RSl i
% Z B IR B IR ) S8 14A.901%
Frig Ry & EE I -

«
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continuea)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETAIN - AAREFITR)

32 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

I | P

D E B MR R K

2018

20185

Note RMB’000
B 5 ARBTR

Non-current assets kRBEE

Property, plant and equipment #12% - &= KR & 227

Investments in subsidiaries KRB RARMIKE 14 544,876
545,103

Current assets REBEE

Prepayments XN L)

Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEY 193,311
193,330

Current liabilities REBAE

Bank loan IRITER

Other payables H b & - 508

Amounts due to related parties & < 78 B 75 7k 18

Net current assets/ RBEE (86 FE
(liabilities)

97,591

NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) ¥ E (&) FE

642,694

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR#E

Share capital N
Reserves/(Accumulated losses) (25T E18)

27(b) 6,605
636,089

TOTAL EQUITY/(DEFICIT) R (B4 B

642,694

——>> 238  Milion Cities Holdings Limited * Annual Report 2018
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2017
20174
RMB’000
AREFT

708
19

727

(727)

(727)

(727)

(727)




33

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
The particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2018 are set out below:

33

iR B B %

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRARTAN  LAREIITR)

ETRMER A

H E2018F 12831 FEME LA T H

HBFIRMT

Proportion of ownership

interest
BERERLY
Date and place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and Held by Held by
Company name establishment paid-in capital the Company a subsidiary Principal activity
BT/ ERTR N W B2 A
DEER BYABREE BRERAFE =2 5E FEED
Million Cities Development Limited 4 August 2016 usD10 - 100%  Investment holding
The British Virgin
Islands (“BVI")
ERERERAA 201658 A4H 10%7T - 100% REZER
REERRHES
(RB#BRES])
Million Cities (Int’l) Limited 29 May 2007 HKD100 - 100%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
B (ER)BERAR 200754298 1008 7T - 100% REZRK
BE
Winnermax Holdings Limited 22 March 2006 usD10 - 100%  Investment holding
BVI
BERZERERAF 200643 5228 10T - 100% REER
EBARARES
China Field Investment Limited 17 January 2003 HKD100 - 100%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
EERERRAA 2003514178 1007 7T - 100% ®REZK
BB
Cheer Happy (H.K.) Limited 22 April 2005 HKD100 - 100%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
REFEE)BERAA 2005648228 1008 7T - 100% ®REZK
BE
China Lands Investments Limited 7 February 2011 HKD10,000 - 55%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
hEAMREBRDF 20112A7H 10,0007 7 - 56% BREAER
BE
Join Kong (H.K.) Limited 23 June 2010 HKD10,000 - 55%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
RE(BER)BERAA 201066238 10,000 7T - 55% REZR
B
Million Cities Construction (China) Co., Ltd. 15 December 2016 RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
PRC
BRR(hE)ERAF" 20165124158 AR #50,000,0007 - 100% ®REZK
5

2018F F# « BWILERER AR
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A1165

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETAIN - AAREFITR)

33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 33 FEMBAT (&)
Proportion of ownership
interest
BREREZLY
Date and place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued and Held by Held by
Company name establishment paid-in capital the Company a subsidiary Principal activity
EMAL/ BRTR N WEAR
NAER BIBSREEH BERAFE =2 5E IEEH
Huizhou Million Cities Enterprise 31 May 2018 RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Management Co., Ltd. PRC
BEMERCRERREBRAA) 2018554318 A #10,000,0007 - 100% ®EZR
i
Huizhou Yuefu Real Estate Co., Ltd. 29 April 2006 RMB38,000,000 4.99% 90.4%  Property
PRC development
BENTHERMEERD A 200644 529H AR %38,000,0007T 4.99% 904% NEEE
i
Huizhou China Field Real Estate 8 April 2003 HKD68,000,000 - 100%  Property
Development Co., Ltd. PRC development
EMEEEHEREARAR 200354 A8H 68,000,000/ 7. - 100% #MEZE
P
Huizhou Cheer Happy Real Estate 6 April 2006 USD12,000,000 - 100%  Property
Development Co., Ltd. PRC development
BEMRREHEREBERAA" 200654 A6H 12,000,000 ¢ - 100% MERERE
i
Huizhou Million Cities Real Estate 10 May 2001 RMB52,500,000 5% 49.5%  Property
Development Co., Ltd. PRC development
BNTEHEHEREBERAR 200154108 AR #52,500,0007T 5% 495% NEERE
i
Million Cities Jianji Real Estate (Tianjin) 18 August 2010 USD70,000,000 - 55%  Property
Co., Ltd. PRC development
BUREEX(RR)ARDA" 20104°8A18H 70,000,000 7T - 5% WMEEE
P
* These entities are PRC limited liability companies. The * ZEBRATHBRESEA NETE:S
English translation of the company names is for reference NEZEHRZE FXRAEE 7‘3‘% T o

only. The official names of the companies are in Chinese.

—>> 240 Million Cities Holdings Limited « Annual Report 2018
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35

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE
CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31 December 2018, the directors consider the
immediate parent of the Group to be Fortune Speed
Investments Limited which is incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands and ultimate controlling party of the Group
to be Happy Family Trust. Fortune Speed Investments
Limited does not produce financial statements available
for public use.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2018

Up to the date of issue of the financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new
standards and interpretations which are not yet effective
for the year ended 31 December 2018 and which have
not been adopted in the financial statements. The
amendments, new standards and interpretations comprise
of the following.

~ Notes to the Consolidated Financial

34

35

tatements (Continued)

MEMBERRMN FE)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BREBFTAIN - AAREFTR)

EERRRERT

2018F12AG31A  EERAAEEEE
ARAAREBHEBABRS MK
HAKEERAR  AEBMHRKIER
FABERETL HAKEER AR
ERETEARFEA T B®RE -

B 22018128310 L FEEH
fh5 {814 K 4 D 83T ~ 7T 2
RRENTEYE

BEMBRRTNEAY FESHMA
SEMMZIREET A R AR

1B & £2018%F12A31H It ¢ N
W NERMISRERRA - ZFE5]
SERRREAEANTSE-

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUT BBz &%
WEHEBER

HKFRS 16, Leases

(BB BHREEA)F16% HE

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Prepayment features with negative compensation
71 0 R A 55 18 B 1 BT AR X
Amendments to HKAS 19, Plan amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

(BAMBREERDEIRHE

R EERAFASRER] - i &EET AR AAE

HK(IFRIC) Interpretation 23, Uncertainty over /ncome tax treatments
FHEEZ THEE
Amendments to HKAS 28, Long-term interest in assoc/az‘es and joint ventures
BEA G ERNEBTNER]  RELZLAREERAN R #m
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or contribution of assets

ZE(BAREMBHRERBERZE )R EHE20%

between an investor and its associate or joint venture
(BT BHEER)SE105 R EEGTHEAF285 A E
RNE]EEERNE]Z FEE N EHKA
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle
(BEREY B WMELER)20155F £20175 B B F 8 BUE
HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts
(BEAMBRELEADETR RIS 4

Note 1: The effective date will be determined by HKICPA at

a future date.

K

Rl KREFHAHZ

1 January 2019
20191 A1 H
1 January 2019
2019F1 /518

1 January 2019
20191 A1H

1 January 2019
20191 A1 H
1 January 2019
2019F1 /518
note 1

(=2

1 January 2019

2019F1 /518

1 January 2021

20211 A1H

MzE1: ARAHBEATASHMASET
BIR R B B -

2018F F# « BWMIERBER AT
K
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*# 1170

el e

eV mERN T

NN

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(REBETAIN - AAREFITR)
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POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2018 (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments, new standards
and interpretations is expected to be in the period of
initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact of
the consolidated financial statements. In particular, details
of the expected impacts on the adoption of HKFRS 16
are discussed below:

HKFRS 16, Leases

As disclosed in note 2(i), currently the Group classifies
leases into finance leases and operating leases and
accounts for the lease arrangements differently,
depending on the classification of the lease. The Group
enters into some leases as the lessor and others as the
lessee.

HKFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on the
way that lessors account for their rights and obligations
under a lease. However, once HKFRS 16 is adopted,
lessees will no longer distinguish between finance leases
and operating leases. Instead, subject to practical
expedients, lessees will account for all leases in a similar
way to current finance lease accounting, i.e. at the
commencement date of the lease the lessee will
recognise and measure a lease liability at the present
value of the minimum future lease payments and will
recognise a corresponding “right-of-use” asset. After initial
recognition of this asset and liability, the lessee will
recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding
balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation of the
right-of-use asset, instead of the current policy of
recognising rental expenses incurred under operating
leases on a systematic basis over the lease term. As a
practical expedient, the lessee can elect not to apply this
accounting model to short-term leases (i.e. where the
lease term is 12 months or less) and to leases of low-
value assets, in which case the rental expenses would
continue to be recognised on a systematic basis over the
lease term.
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35 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,

NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2018 (Continued)

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting as
a lessee of leases for properties, which are currently
classified as operating leases. The application of the new
accounting model is expected to lead to an increase in
both assets and liabilities and to impact on the timing of
the expense recognition in the statement of profit or loss
over the period of the lease.

HKFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019. The Group plans to elect to use
the modified retrospective approach for the adoption of
HKFRS 16 and will recognise the cumulative effect of
initial application as an adjustment to the opening balance
of equity at 1 January 2019 and will not restate the
comparative information. At 31 December 2018, the
Group’s future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases amount to RMB1,570,000,
which is payable within four years after the reporting date.
The Group expects the amounts of new assets and
liabilities arising from operating lease commitments on
adoption of HKFRS 16 will not be material.
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Financial Summary
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RESULTS

Revenue WA

Cost of sales HEK AR
Gross profit EF

Profit before taxation BB AT % R
Income tax g%t

Profit attributable to equity shareholders 7 2 7] # 3% I& 5 FE 15 3%
of the Company

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets (RBEE
Current assets REBEE

Total assets HEE

Total equity B EE
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Current liabilities RBAE

Total liabilities SELE

Total equity and liabilities BxkaEEHE
Net current assets REBEERE
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Year ended 31 December
BZ12AMBLEE
2018 2017 2016 2015
20185 20174 20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB TR AREFT ARBFT ARBFT
567,827 973,093 894,784 58,482
(305,001) (767,680) (668,116) (42,881)
262,826 205,413 226,668 15,601
188,294 141,387 186,643 6,368
(110,475) (64,610) (55,676) (13,028)
33,375 38,592 68,007 418
EEREE
As at 31 December
®12A31AH

2018 2017 2016 2015
20185 20174 20164 20154
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETTT ARETT ARETT
247,978 223,848 63,040 51,289
3,532,245 1,660,542 1,964,364 1,800,409
3,780,223 1,884,390 2,027,404 1,851,698
906,299 267,935 144,149 55,395
102,709 6,157 4,950 4,322
2,771,215 1,610,298 1,878,305 1,791,981
2,873,924 1,616,455 1,883,255 1,796,303
3,780,223 1,884,390 2,027,404 1,851,698
761,030 50,244 86,059 8,428
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MILLION CITIES

http://www.millioncities.com.cn

Hong Kong Office HHBWEE China Office BIRWEE

Million Cities Holdings Limited (Hong Kong Office) Million Cities Holdings Limited (China Office)
BREREBNERER EREZERBEARER

Address 3k : Unit 2302, 23/F, New World Tower 1, Address 3t : Plant No.5, 8 Longhe East Road,

18 Queen's Road Central, Central, Hong Kong Shuikou Street Office, Huicheng District, Huizhou City, the PRC
EBPREFREP 18Rt R K E1E23#82302E PEEMNTEREKOHERSEENRESE (55HE)

Tel &5 : (852) 2689-1999 Tel EFE : (86) 752-331-6668

Fax X : (852) 2689-1882 Fax X : (86) 752-331-6777
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